# **University of Alberta**

The glutamate transporters' role in neuropathic pain and cognitive deficits in an animal model of multiple sclerosis

by

Camille Jo-Anne Olechowski

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Centre for Neuroscience

©Camille Jo-Anne Olechowski Fall, 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

## Abstract

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a chronic disease of the central nervous system characterized by demyelination, inflammation and axonal injury. Chronic pain and cognitive deficits affect a large percentage of MS patients. While a number of animal models are available to study the pathophysiology of MS, studies determining the profile of the above-mentioned symptoms associated with MS in these models are minimal. The purpose of this thesis was to characterize both behavioural and cellular changes in sensory and cognitive processes of the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mouse model of MS.

In chapter 2, I characterized the changes in pain sensitivity that arises in a chronic relapsing model of EAE. I found that female C57BL/6 mice immunized with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein ( $MOG_{35-55}$ ) develop a robust allodynia to both cold and tactile stimuli

In chapter 3, work was undertaken to determine the underlying mechanisms that generate neuropathic pain in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model. Additionally, I was interested in how MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice respond to a persistent noxious stimulus. Mice with EAE showed a significant decrease in elicited pain behaviours in response to subcutaneous injection of formalin. I demonstrated that these effects are mediated by decreased glutamate transporter expression associated with the disease.

My experiments in Chapter 4 addressed changes in cognitive ability across different severities of EAE to determine if altered pain sensitivity is also associated with behavioural signs indicative of cognitive impairment in this model. I also used the β-lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone, an agent know to increase glutamate transporter levels *in vivo* to determine if I could attenuate allodynia and NOR deficits by increasing glutamate transporter activity. Ceftriaxone prevented tactile hypersensitivity and normalized performance in the NOR assay in EAE mice

This work validates the use of the mouse MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model for studying sensory and cognitive changes in a laboratory setting. Furthermore, the results suggest that the glutamate transporter system may be in ideal target for treatment of these changes in patients suffering from similar sensory and cognitive deficits.

# Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my supervisor Dr. Bradley Kerr for all of his support and providing a productive and stimulating environment to work in over the years. Other members past and present of the Kerr lab who have supported me throughout the entire process especially Gustavo Tenario for all his help in the lab with figures for manuscripts, and his contribution to chapter's 3 and 4 in helping with the processing and quantifying of the western blots. Janet Truong for her contribution to chapter 2, helping with cell staining and counting. Ambica Parmar for her help with the westerns in chapter 3, along with Jared Leighton with his help in the cell staining and quantifying in chapter 3 also. The members of my supervising committee who have helped me throughout the entire process. Members of the Power lab who helped with the animal model (Kris and Farshid), along with Shaona and Rakesh who taught me about PCRs. Kam Dhami for his help with the brain tissue westerns in chapter 4. Along with Dr. Sauve's contribution to the supplementary data and figures in chapter 4. My family and friends for their continual support especially Trevor Hamilton for his invaluable mentorship and Diane Turner and Chad Irwin for their constant support. Finally I would like to thank the Centre for Neuroscience, the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada and Alberta Innovates Health Solutions for their funding support throughout my thesis work.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# Chapter 1

# 1.0 General Introduction

1.1 Multiple Sclerosis	1
1.1.1T cells in Multiple Sclerosis	2
1.1.1.1 CD <sup>4+</sup> T cells in MS	
1.1.1.2 CD8 T cells in MS	
1.1.2 The Blood Brain Barrier	4
1.1.3 Cytokines and Chemokines in Multiple Sclerosis	4
1.1.4 Reactive oxygen species (ROS) in Multiple Sclerosis	5
1.1.5 Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs) in Multiple Sclerosis	5
1.1.6 IL-6	6
1.1.7 TNF- α	7
1.1.8 IL-1ß	8
1.1.9 MCP-1/CCL2	8
1.1.10 Axon Pathology	
1.2 Animal Models of Multiple Sclerosis	10
1.2.1 Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model	10
1.2.2 Theiler's Murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) model	11
1.2.3 Toxin induced demyelination models	11
1.3 Cognitive deficits and Multiple Sclerosis	12
1.4 Pain and Multiple Sclerosis	13
1.4.1 Central neuropathic pain in MS	13
	15
1.5 Neuropathic Pain general mechanisms	14
1.5.1 NMDA receptor	
1.5.2 MGluR	
1.5.3 Glial cells and neuropathic pain	17
1.5.4 Cytokines and Chemokines in neuropathic pain	
1.5.4.1 IL-1ß	
1.5.4.2 IL-6	19
1.5.4.3 TNF- α	19
1.5.4.4 MCP-1/CCL2	
1.5.5 Wallerian degeneration	
1.6 Glutamate transporters	
1.6.1 Biophysical properties of glutamate transporters	
1.6.2 Glutamate transporters and pain signaling	

1.6.3 "reverse transport" and pain sensitivity	26
1.6.4 Glutamate transporters and Multiple Sclerosis	26

1.7 Purpose	28
1.8 Figures	29
1.9 References	30

# Chapter 2

Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronic-relapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

2.0 Introduction
2.1 Methods
2.1.1 Induction of EAE512.1.2 Behavioural testing522.1.3 Immunohistochemistry542.1.4 Statistical Analysis55
2.2 Results
2.2.1 Disease progression and neurobehavioural deficits in the MOG <sub>35-55</sub> model55 2.2.2 No change in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE model
2.3 Discussion
2.4 Conclusions
2.5 Figures
2.6 References77
Chapter 3

A diminished response to formalin stimulation reveals a role for the glutamate transporters in the altered pain sensitivity of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

3.0 Introduction	84
3.1 Methods	86
3.1.1 Induction of EAE	
3.1.2 EAE Assessment	
3.1.3 Formalin test	
3.1.4 Drug treatments	
3.1.5 Immunohistochemistry	
3.1.5 Western Blots	
3.1.6 Statistical analysis	
3.2 Results	90
3.2.1 Diminished pain behaviours in response to formalin stimulation in	
EAE mice	91
3.2.2 Diminished glutamate transporter expression in EAE mice	91
3.2.3 Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits in spinal cor	
EAE mice	
3.2.4 Increased cellular activation in the spinal cords of EAE mice	92
3.2.5 Cellular activation in response to formalin stimulation	93
3.2.6 Decreased phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits in the spina	l cord of
EAE mice in response to formalin stimulation	93
3.2.7 Normalization of formalin responses in EAE mice	94
3.3 Discussion	95
3.4 Conclusions	
3.5 Figures	
3.6 References	110
Chapter 4	
Changes in pain sensitivity and cognitive dysfunction are independent of c severity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)	lisease
4.0 Introduction	117
4.1 Methods	120
4.1.1 Induction of EAE	

4.1.2 EAE assessment
4.1.3 Behavioural Testing121
4.1.4 Ceftriaxone treatment
4.1.5 RT-PCR
4.1.6 Western Blots
4.1.7 Statistical Analysis125
4.2 Results. 125   4.2.1 Changes in pain sensitivity in EAE mice are independent of disease severity. 125   4.2.2 Impaired novel object recognition in EAE mice. 126   4.2.3 Decreases in the general activity/attention score at disease onset in EAE mice. 128   4.2.4 IL-6 and EAAT-2 mRNA are upregulated in all cohorts of EAE. 129   4.2.5 Diminished glutamte transporter expression in the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset. 129   4.2.6 Ceftriaxone attenuates tactile hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits in EAE. 130   4.2.7 Ceftriaxone treatment increase EAAT-2 expression and reduces NMDA phosphorylation in the spinal cord of EAE mice. 132
4.3 Discussion
4.4 Figures138
4.5 References148
Chapter 5
5.0 General Discussion154
5.1 Future Directions155
5.2 References162
Appendix165
(Published Papers)

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1 Representation of the immune response in Multiple Sclerosis	29
2.1 Disease progression in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	69
2.2 Sensitivity to noxious heat in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	70
2.3 Sensitivity to innocuous cold in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	71
2.4 Sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	72
2.5 Expression of sensory neuropeptides in the superficial dorsal horn in	
MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	.73
2.6 T cell expression in the superficial dorsal horn in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	.74
2.7 Astrocyte reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE	75
2.8 Microglia/macrophage reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn in $MOG_{35-55}$	
EAE	76
3.1 Responses to formalin injection in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice	.102
3.2 Spinal EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 expression in MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice	.103
3.3 Phosphorylation of NR1 subunits in the spinal cord of MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice	104
3.4 FOS expression in the spinal dorsal horn of MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice	.105
3.5 FOS expression in dorsal horn of MOG <sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice after formalin	106
3.6 NR1 subunit phosphorylation after formalin injection	107
3.7 Responses to formalin injection in EAE mice after treatment with LY-341495	5 or
MS-153	.108
4.1 The changes in pain sensitivity in EAE mice at disease onset are independent	t of
disease severity	139
4.2 Impairment in the novel object recognition test in EAE mice	140

4.3 Reduced activity/attention scores in EAE mice141
4.4 IL-6 and EAAT-2 gene expression is increased in all cohorts of EAE mice at
disease onset142
4.5 Decreased expression of the glutamate transporter EAAT-2 in spinal cords of
EAE mice143
4.6 Ceftriaxone prevents tactile allodynia in EAE mice144
4.7 Ceftriaxone restores novel object recognition in EAE mice145
4.8 Ceftriaxone does not affect activity/attention scores or gross locomotor ability at
disease onset146
4.9 Ceftriaxone increases the level of EAAT-2 and reduces phosphorylation of NR1
serine 896 in EAE mice spinal cords147

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

**AMPA** α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor **ANOVA** one way analysis of variance **BBB** blood brain barrier **c** complementary **Ca** calcium CAMs cell adhesion molecules **CCL** Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand **CD** cluster of differentiation **CFA** complete freund's adjuvant **CGRP** calcitonin gene-related peptide **CNP** central neuropathic pain **CNS** central Nervous System DHK dihydrokainic acid **DNA** deoxyribonucleic acid **DRG** dorsal root ganglion EAAT Excitatory amino-acid transporter **EAE** experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis **EC** endothelial Cell **ERK** extracellular signal-regulated kinase **FOS** c-FOS protein **GAPDH** glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase **GFAP** glial fibrillary acidic protein **IFN** interferon **IL** interleukin **IP** intraperitoneal K<sup>+</sup> potassium **KA** kainate **LPS** lipopolysaccharide m messenger MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase **MBP** myelin basic protein **MCP** moncyte chemotactic **Mg<sup>2+</sup>** magnesium **mGluR** metabotropic glutamate receptors **MMP** matrix metalloproteinases **MOG**<sub>35-55</sub> Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein **MRI** magnetic resonance imaging **MS** Multiple Sclerosis MS-153 [R]-[-]-5-methyl-1-nicotinoyl-2-pyrazoline Na<sup>2+</sup> sodium NMDA N -Methyl- D -aspartic acid receptor

**NOR** novel object recognition **p** phosphorylation **PBMC** peripheral blood mononuclear cell **PCR** polymerase chain reaction **PK** protein kinase **PLP** proteolipid protein **PNS** peripheral nervous system **RM** repeated measures **RNA** ribonucleic acid **ROS** reactive oxygen species **rpm** rotations per minute **STC** spinothalamic tract cells **TBOA** DL-threo-beta-Benzyloxyaspartate **TMEV** Theiler's Murine Encephalomyelitis Virus **TNF** tumour necrosis factor **WD** Wallerian degeneration

# CHAPTER 1 General Introduction

# **1.1 Multiple Sclerosis**

Jean-Martin Charcot first described Multiple Sclerosis (MS) in 1868 and presently it affects approximately 55,000 -75,000 Canadians(Compston and Coles, 2008, Girouard and Soucy, 2011). Three times as many women are affected as men, and MS typically presents in adults 20 to 45 years of age, making it one of the most common neurological disorders to affect young adults(Sospedra and Martin, 2005, Greer and McCombe, 2011). Approximately 50% of patients will require help walking within 15 years after the onset of the disease(Sospedra and Martin, 2005). The course of MS is highly variable and unpredictable across patients. The cause of MS is unknown, although it appears to involve a combination of both genetic factors (susceptibility) and non-genetic triggers (environmental factors, virus exposure, metabolism)(Sadovnick et al., 1996, Granieri and Casetta, 1997, Sotgiu et al., 2004, Ascherio et al., 2010). Although the clinical manifestation of the disease is different between patients, the majority of patients initially suffer from a relapsing-remitting disease course. The relapsing-remitting course is defined by periods of new symptoms or signs, followed by a symptom/sign reduction or remission. This first relapsing-remitting phase eventually develops into a secondary progressive phase, although 10% of MS patients develop initially with a primary progressive form(Sospedra and Martin, 2005). Presently, there is no therapy that cures MS. MS is a disorder of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by multifocal inflammation, demyelination, reactive gliosis and neurodegeneration(Bar-Or, 2008). The inflammatory process is characterized by accumulation of T cells initiating an

inflammatory response directed against myelin and other components of the CNS, resulting in CNS demyelination(Sospedra and Martin, 2005, Bar-Or, 2008, Racke, 2009). Areas of demyelination are described as lesions. An 'active' lesion is when there is a presence of myelin sheaths in the process of dissolution and degradation of products of myelin within the macrophages in the tissue. There are two types of active lesions, an acute plaque where the entire lesion is demyelinated simultaneously and chronic active lesions where the on going demyelization is restricted to a zone at the edge of the lesion(Compston and Coles, 2008). Exacerbations of MS are thought to be related to episodes of inflammation, while the formation of a glial scar by astrocytes or gliosis and axonal loss attributed to neurodegeneration are believed to result in the progression of disability.

#### **1.1.1 T-cells in Multiple Sclerosis**

Healthy individuals have myelin-reactive T cells, although they do not characteristically become active and migrate into the CNS, establishing an inflammatory response. Patients with MS however, do have myelin-specific T cells that are activated. The activated T cells in MS patients are more likely to be of the Th1 phenotype(Frohman et al., 2006). Th1 cells produce interferon (IFN)-gamma, interleukin (IL)-12 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α cytokines and evoke cellmediated immunity and phagocyte-dependent inflammation. In contrast, Th2 cell polarization is characterized by the production of IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, and IL-13. This profile of cytokine production evokes strong antibody responses and eosinophil accumulation, furthermore Th2 cells inhibit several functions of phagocytic cells(Romagnani, 2000). Different subsets of T cells have been found to

play various roles in the pathogenesis of MS. Evidence for this initially came from similarities found between MS and its animal model EAE (see section 1.2) (Frohman et al., 2006, Johnson et al., 2007). EAE can be induced using Th1 CD4+ T cells(Johnson et al., 2007).

#### 1.1.1.1 CD4+ T cells in Multiple Sclerosis

CD4+T cells are divided into distinct subsets including Th1 or Th2 cells and Th17 cells which produce IL-17A, IL-7F, IL-21 and IL-22. Regulatory T cells are another subset which are Foxp3 positive and produce IL-10(Romagnani, 2000). Further evidence linking Th1 CD4+ T cells in the pathogenesis of MS was that increased levels of IL-12 and IFN-y were found in the CNS of MS patients(Balashov et al., 1997). Although, this role was questioned when it was observed that mice lacking IL-12 and IFN-y signaling were still susceptible to EAE(Yeh et al., 2011). Recent studies have now established an important role for Th17 cells in mediating disease induction. IL-17 producing CD4+T cells are associated with the development of disease and mice lacking factors involved in Th17 differentiation e.g. IL-6 are resistant to EAE. However, neutralization of the IL-17A receptor did not prevent EAE completely, which suggests that other molecules contribute to disease pathogenesis(Komiyama et al., 2006).

#### 1.1.1.2 CD8 T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis

Another immune cell population that has been implicated to have a role in MS are CD8+ T cells. They are found to be prominent in the inflammatory infiltrate in MS lesions and have been reported to recognize myelin antigens in MS patients, as well as playing a role in the breakdown of the blood brain barrier (BBB)(Johnson et al.,

2007, McFarland and Martin, 2007). B cells may also play a role in MS as it has been suggested that they may secrete antibodies that recognize and play a role in myelin breakdown(Nikbin et al., 2007). It is evident that different cells of the immune system play a major role in the pathogenesis of MS, although presently no individual cell population has been observed as the key factor in development of MS.

### **1.1.2 The Blood Brain Barrier (BBB)**

The entrance of activated immune cells from the periphery into the CNS in MS is associated with disruption of the BBB(Engelhardt, 2006). The BBB acts as an initial line of defense and it is formed by astrocytic end-feet, basal membranes and endothelial tight junctions providing a semi-permeable barrier to the CNS(Engelhardt and Ransohoff, 2005). In healthy individuals the BBB prevents the entrance of immune cells from the periphery into the CNS. In inflammatory states such as MS the BBB becomes more permissive to entering T lymphocytes. It is not clear if disruption of the BBB comes before immune cell infiltration or is a consequence of perivascular leukocyte accumulation(Engelhardt, 2006). In MS, immune cells have been shown to express inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) which have all been associated with increasing their ability to influence the integrity of the BBB and gain access into the CNS either directly or indirectly(Larochelle et al., 2011).

## 1.1.3 Cytokines and chemokines in Multiple Sclerosis

Cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , are elevated in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) as well as in serum of MS patients and levels of TNF- $\alpha$  have been shown to correlate with disease activity(Navikas et al., 1996, Ozenci et al., 2000).

Endothelial cells (EC) of the BBB express receptors for both of these cytokines and increases in TNF- $\alpha$  levels have been shown to increase the expression of the IFN- $\gamma_{-}$  receptor in EC-BBB cells(Kallmann et al., 2002). These two cytokines modulate the expression of different cytokines, chemokines and cell adhesion molecules (CAMs). BBB-EC's influence the expression of different chemokines such as MCP1/CCL2 and CXCL10. These chemokines promote adhesion of leukocytes to ECs and migration of leukocytes across the BBB. These chemokines play a direct role in the increase of immune cell infiltration into the CNS in MS(Chui and Dorovini-Zis, 2010). In MS they are produced by activated microglia and macrophages during myelin phagocytosis and development of demyelinating lesions(van der Goes et al., 1998).

#### 1.1.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in Multiple Sclerosis

In MS patients there is a shift in the balance of ROS products, such as  $H_2O_2$ ,  $O_2$ - over antioxidants(Greco et al., 1999). High levels of free radicals have been shown to damage brain EC cells disrupting the junctional proteins, thus affecting BBB permeability(Van der Goes et al., 2001). Increased ROS production is also related to an increased inflammatory response and increase in TNF- $\alpha$  expression(Larochelle et al., 2011). The role of ROS levels has been further supported by experiments using antioxidant therapies that have resulted in a decrease of monocyte migration across BBB-ECs and suppression of clinical symptoms of EAE(Hendriks et al., 2004).

## 1.1.5 Matrix Metalloproteinase's (MMPs) in Multiple Sclerosis

MMPs are involved in cell migration, cytotoxicity, and inflammation. They can be secreted by activated T cells and macrophages(Parks et al., 2004). MMPs can also be secreted in response to inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-α. Levels of different

MMPs levels are increased in the serum of MS patients. In the EAE model, expression of active MMPs by T cells, monocytes and dendritic cells are required for their migration across the BBB into the CNS(Larochelle et al., 2011). MMPs have also been shown to contribute to BBB disruption by degradation of the junctional complex proteins(Rosenberg and Yang, 2007).

Once access is gained across the BBB by immune cells as a result of the above-mentioned mechanisms, CNS inflammation is promoted which favors further leukocyte infiltration. The entry of pro-inflammatory leukocytes into the CNS can trigger the events leading to neuroinflammation and BBB disruption(Larochelle et al., 2011).

As previously touched upon, cytokines and chemokines play an important role in the pathogenesis of MS, in the on-going recruitment of activated immune cells into the CNS and the disruption of the BBB. In MS there is a parallel upregulation of different pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, TNF and IL-1ß (Martins et al., 2011), there is also upregulation of the chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2)(Conductier et al., 2010).

## 1.1.6 IL-6

One of the roles of IL-6 is to promote a proinflammatory milieu by inducing Th17 cell differentiation. IL-6 has also been found to have a role in promoting the maintenance of IL-17 secreting T lymphocytes in inflamed tissues(Kolls and Linden, 2004). In acute and chronic active plaques from the brains of MS patients IL-6 is present. The IL-6 found in these samples was largely associated with resident cells in the CNS at these sites of ongoing demyelination and immune activation

suggesting a major role for IL-6 in the pathogenesis of MS(Maimone et al., 1997). In EAE models where IL-6 was blocked, the development of EAE was suppressed(Samoilova et al., 1998). It is postulated that by blocking IL-6 and preventing the development of Th17 and Th1 cells there is a decreased infiltration of T cells into the CNS, explaining the suppression of EAE(Samoilova et al., 1998).

## $1.1.7 \text{ TNF-}\alpha$

TNF- $\alpha$  has been observed to exert multiple effects including roles in immunity, inflammation, and control of cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis(SY Lim. 2010). Autopsies of MS patients have found high levels of TNF- $\alpha$  at active MS lesion sites(Selmaj et al., 1991). In the CSF of MS patients increased levels of TNF-α were found to correlate with disease severity and rate of neurological deterioration(Sharief and Hentges, 1991). In MS patients, there are normal serum levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , suggesting that it, like IL-6 is produced by cells intrinsic to the CNS(Selmaj et al., 1991). In animals treated with TNF antibodies, the development of EAE was prevented and the protective effect was observed for several months after the initial suppression treatment (Ruddle et al., 1990). In mice deficient of TNF- $\alpha$ , the onset of clinical disease was found to be significantly delayed, however after disease onset, the progression and severity of the disease was not different from the wild type EAE mice(Probert et al., 1995). This suggests a role for TNF- $\alpha$  in the initiation of EAE as opposed to involvement in disease progression or from recovery of the acute clinical disease. However, treatments in MS patients that involved neutralizing TNF- $\alpha$  have not been successful, and resulted in an increase in the disease severity(Group, 1999). It has been proposed that more selective agents,

perhaps specific to different TNF- $\alpha$  receptors are required to see the benefits of targeting TNF- $\alpha$  as a treatment strategy in MS.

#### 1.1.8 IL-1ß

IL-1ß is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that like IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  exerts pleiotropic effects. In MS, IL-1ß is expressed by microglial cells and infiltrating monocyte/macrophages in acute lesions and in the white matter(Carpintero and Burger, 2011) Rats treated with an IL-1ß receptor blocker during induction of EAE, developed milder disease severity profiles(Burger et al., 2009). Mice that are IL-1  $\alpha$ /ß deficient have great resistance to EAE and also have a significant reduction in the clinical disease severity if EAE is induced(Dinarello, 2011). This evidence suggests an important role for IL-1ß in MS pathogenesis.

#### 1.1.9 MCP-1/CCL2

Elevated expression of MCP-1/CCL2 has been found in acute and chronic MS plaques(Conductier et al., 2010). In several EAE models it has been found that the animals over express MCP-1/CCL2, with levels increasing just prior to symptom onset and peaking at the height of clinical disease stages(Proudfoot et al., 2008). Furthermore, mice that are lacking the MCP-1/CCL2 receptor, CCR2 do not develop clinical signs of EAE. These mice had an absence of CNS inflammation and other chemokine and proinflammatory cytokine expression(Huang et al., 2001). This suggests that the MCP-1/CCR2 receptor interaction is needed to produce and active lesion, which is characterized by production of pro-inflammatory chemokines that in turn amplify the local inflammatory response.

A large battery of cytokines and chemokines result in the immune-mediated inflammation that is witnessed in MS. Although many different cytokines and chemokines including the above mentioned have been described in lesions in MS and have been found to be increased in different animal models of MS, the exact pattern of cytokine expression in MS is still elusive. See figure 1.1 for a representation of the immune response in MS.

#### 1.1.10 Axon Pathology

Along with inflammatory demyelination in MS, degeneration of demyelinated CNS axons is now considered a major hallmark of the disease. Axonal degeneration has been established as an important component for disease progression(Compston and Coles, 2008, Stys, 2010). Loss of axonal integrity in MS brains has been correlated with disease severity(Tourbah et al., 1999). Axonal loss in MS is not restricted to areas of inflammation. It is unclear if axonal damage is secondary to demyelination or if axons are degenerated by the same degenerative mechanism that is affecting the myelin(Stys, 2010). Axonal damage has also been suggested to result from a secondary phenomenon, such as a result of increased excitotoxicity from increased glutamate levels observed in MS(Pampliega et al., 2011).

Recently it has been proposed that the neurodegeneration associated with MS may be the initiating factor in the disease, as opposed to the long held belief that the degeneration observed in MS is a result of the initial neuroinflammation component(Stys, 2010). Although it is not clear which, if any of these mechanisms initiate the disease, it is accepted that both neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration contribute greatly to the pathogenesis of MS.

# **1.2 Animal Models of MS**

#### **1.2.1 Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis**

The EAE animal model of MS has been in use for over 50 years. It can be induced in several different species either by direct immunization which is referred to as active transfer or passive transfer of T cells specific for selective autoantigens(Hart et al., 2011). The most commonly used antigens are made from small fragments of myelin peptides such as myelin basic protein 84-104 (MBP84-104); proteolipid protein 139-151 (PLP139-151), or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55 (MOG35-55) (Mix et al., 2008, Miller et al., 2010, Hart et al., 2011). In addition to induction using autoantigens, pertussis toxin is also often injected to create holes in the BBB and result in an increased inflammatory response(Mix et al., 2008). The disease onset in EAE occurs from 5-14 days post injection, and follows an initial disease profile similar to MS(Mix et al., 2008). EAE models share many of the same pathological features as MS, including widespread CNS inflammation, demyelination and locomotor impairments(Hart et al., 2011). The severity of these pathologies can vary depending on the type of autoantigen used, how EAE is induced, or the genetic background of the animal used (Lassmann, 2010). EAE can be induced to mimic both a relapsing-remitting MS and chronic MS phenotype(Olechowski et al., 2009). EAE animals that are used to generate a relapsing-remitting disease course show intermittent periods of improved clinical symptoms throughout the disease course. Whereas animals induced with a chronic EAE phenotype, do not have these periods

of symptom recovery and progress in severity over the disease course(Olechowski et al., 2009).

#### 1.2.2 Theiler's Murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) model

Another common animal model used to study multiple sclerosis is the TMEV model, where susceptible rodent strains develop a demyelinating disease as a result of intracerebral infection with TMEV that is chronic, and consistent with MS is characterized histologically with immune cell infiltrates into the CNS(Tsunoda and Fujinami, 2010). Unlike EAE the TMEV model always mimics a chronic-progressive disease course that lasts the entire lifespan of susceptible mice. Because of this, it has been used to study the role of axonal injury, disability independent of demyelination, and the significance of remyelination(Fuller et al., 2004). TMEV has also been found to mimic several MRI findings of the human disease(Denic et al., 2011).

## **1.2.3 Toxin Induced Demyelination Models**

The exposure to different oligodendrocyte toxins including cuprizone or direct injection of ethidium bromide or lysolecithin into the CNS has been shown to produce demyelination(Rodriguez, 2007, Acs and Kalman, 2012). These models are utilized to study the mechanisms of focal demyelination and remyelination, as they do not attempt to mimic MS as a disease.

As of yet there is no single animal model that mimics human MS, although the available animal models do represent selective aspects of the human disease and can be used to compliment each other. The appropriate use of the animal models of MS depends on the specific research question one has.

# **1.3 Cognitive Deficits and Multiple Sclerosis**

Impairments in cognitive functioning are now recognized as being highly prevalent in the MS population although they have not been well studied until recently. Specifically, MS patients seem to have impairment with memory, speed processing, executive function, attention and concentration domains(Guimaraes and Sa, 2012). Thirty years ago, estimates of the prevalence of cognitive impairments in the MS population was reported as 3 %. Currently, estimate of prevalence of these symptoms range from 43-72% (Ferreira, 2010). Cognitive deficits can appear early and late in the disease course, although they tend to increase in severity as disease severity increases (Huijbregts et al., 2004). It has been established by different groups that impairments in processing speed and memory are often present in very early stages of MS(Schulz et al., 2006, Simioni et al., 2007, Guimaraes and Sa, 2012). The presence of cognitive deficits has been associated with a decreased quality of life index(Cutajar et al., 2000, Baumstarck-Barrau et al., 2011). Interestingly, in MS patients with poorer performances on cognitive tasks there is a correlation with an increase in IL-6 production by PBMCs, suggesting that this cytokine may play a potential role in the cognitive impairments seen in MS(Patanella et al., 2010). Despite the identification of different cognitive impairments in MS, and the implicated roles of different cytokines the underlying mechanisms are not well studied or understood.

# **1.4 Pain and Multiple Sclerosis**

In clinical populations there is a strong association between chronic pain and cognitive dysfunction. Pain is now accepted as a common symptom among MS patients, affecting about one in five patients at disease onset, and as many as half of patients at any given point in their disease(Svendsen et al., 2003, Svendsen et al., 2005). Similar to cognitive impairments, pain in MS patients is associated with a significantly decreased health related quality of life index compared to the general population; the major impairments include decreased physical and emotional functioning(Khan and Pallant, 2007). Several different types of pain are associated with MS including continuous central neuropathic pain, intermittent central neuropathic pain, musculoskeletal pain, and mixed neuropathic and nonneuropathic pain(O'Connor et al., 2008). Men and women who have MS do not appear to differ in their susceptibility to pain symptoms, although it has been suggested that woman have a greater severity of pain(Osterberg et al., 2005). It has also been suggested that pain symptoms increase as the disease severity increases(O'Connor et al., 2008).

## 1.4.1 Central Neuropathic pain in MS

Central neuropathic pain, which results from central nervous system lesions, is thought to affect about 30% of patients suffering from pain in MS(Osterberg et al., 2005). Central neuropathic pain is defined as pain in a neurologic distribution with altered sensation and no history or clinical evidence of peripheral neuropathy(Osterberg et al., 2005). In one study, one-third of patients with central

neuropathic pain have two or more central neuropathic pain types and locations. In most patients with neuropathic pain, pain affected the lower extremities(Nick et al., 2012). Patients with central neuropathic pain commonly have abnormal sensory exams; including lowered pain pressure thresholds when compared to control patients who did not suffer from MS related pain(Osterberg et al., 2005, Svendsen et al., 2005). Other studies have found that MS patients also present with symptoms of both cold and mechanical allodynia(Osterberg et al., 2005). Although central neuropathic pain affects such a substantial amount of MS patients its pathophysiology is not well understood and because of this there are no specific treatments. Given the high prevalence of pain in MS patients additional studies are needed to determine not only the natural history, but also additionally the mechanisms that underlie pain in MS.

# **1.5 Neuropathic Pain general mechanisms**

Neuropathic pain is thought to arise due to changes in neural processes in the CNS(Woolf and Salter, 2000). These changes are observed experimentally as increases in the activity of neurons involved in pain transmission in the spinal cord. The changes in the excitability and activity of spinal neurons is referred to as central sensitization(Woolf and Thompson, 1991). Central sensitization is believed to be a primary mechanism of neuropathic pain in MS patients(Svendsen et al., 2005). Central sensitization is critically dependent on alterations in glutaminergic signaling(Coderre, 1992, Chizh and Headley, 2005, Bleakman et al., 2006). The

activation of glutamate receptors has been strongly implicated in the generation of central sensitization(Coderre, 1993). These include the iontropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs); N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), 1-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4isoaxolepropionic acid (AMPA) and kainate (KA)(Dickenson and Sullivan, 1987, Yoshimura and Jessell, 1990, Woolf and Thompson, 1991).

#### **1.5.1 NMDA receptor**

The NMDA receptor has been a focus of neuropathic pain research for decades due to its physiological role in pain processing (Woolf and Thompson, 1991). In mammalian cells it is composed of two different subunits NR1 and NR2. Two of each subunit make up its hetero tetramer structure(Dingledine et al., 1999). The NMDA receptor acts as a non-specific cation channel, allowing the passage of Ca2+ and Na+ into the cell and K+ out. In order for the NMDA receptor to be activated, it has to be bound to glutamate and the Mg<sup>2+</sup> block has to be removed with depolarization of the cell. Because of the gating properties of the Mg<sup>2+</sup> block, most NMDA receptors are not active under normal conditions(Paoletti and Neyton, 2007). However, sustained noxious stimuli that are associated with tissue damage in neuropathic pain and subsequent postsynaptic depolarization can disrupt this Mg<sup>2+</sup> block and activate the NMDA receptors. This allows an influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup> which could lead to the phosphorlyation of the NMDA receptor, prolonging the excitability of spinal cord neurons(Woolf and Thompson, 1991). Spinal cord administration of an NMDA receptor antagonist has been shown attenuate hyperalgesia and allodynic pain behaviours(Ma et al., 1998). It has also been shown at a cellular level, that an antagonist to the NMDA receptor can prevent central sensitization of spinothalamic

tract cells (STC)(Randic et al., 1990, Dougherty and Willis, 1991).

Central sensitization of STCs also has found to be dependent on the activation of several different protein kinases, including PKC and PKA. PKC and PKA *in vitro* have both been shown to produce long-lasting increases in excitatory responses in dorsal horn neurons(Chen and Huang, 1991, Lin et al., 1996, Sluka et al., 1997). In slice preparations of neurons after PKC injection, it has been found that responses to NMDA are enhanced(Chen and Huang, 1991). This change in NMDA receptor function and the consequent response can be explained by an increased in the probability of channel openings and a decrease in the Mg<sup>2+</sup> block of the NMDA receptor channels(Hatt, 1999). One mechanism that can be attributed to this change in NMDA receptor function is the phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor. PKC has been shown to phosphorylate Ser-890, 896 specific sites of the NR1 subunit and PKA at the Ser-897 site(Tingley et al., 1997). Increases in phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit have been shown to contribute directly to the development of central sensitization of STCs.

## 1.5.2 Metabrotropic G-protein coupled glutamate receptors

A family of metabrotropic G-protein coupled glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are also implicated in this process. Receptor antagonists for both types of receptors have been utilized experimentally to determine their efficacy for treating neuropathic pain(Young et al., 1995). Antagonism of ionotropic GluRs and mGluRs can alter neuropathic pain behaviours in animal models of peripheral nerve or spinal cord injury(Bennett et al., 2000, Mills et al., 2002, Gwak et al., 2007). However, the utilization of these agents in humans is limited, since antagonism of these receptors

is associated with a number of unwanted side effects such as, ataxia, hallucinations and sedation(Fundytus, 2001, Brown and Krupp, 2006).

#### 1.5.3 Glial cells and neuropathic pain

It has now been established that glial cells, specifically astrocytes and microglia play an important role in the development and maintenance of neuropathic pain(Milligan and Watkins, 2009). Astrocytes and microglia are able to modulate neuronal synaptic function and excitability, allowing them to play various roles in pain facilitation(Halassa et al., 2007, Pocock and Kettenmann, 2007). Glial activation in the spinal cord underlies many different pain syndromes from various causes including, peripheral nerve inflammation, diabetic neuropathy and spinal cord trauma and inflammation(Jha et al., 2012). Activated glia cells release proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1ß, IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  that can lead to neuropathic pain states. IL-1ß and TNF- $\alpha$  released from activated astrocytes increase the conductivity and amount of NMDA receptors on the surface of spinal cord neurons, which in turn increases neuronal excitability(Milligan and Watkins, 2009). IL-ß, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 have also been shown to play a direct role in mediating spinal cord dorsal horn central sensitization (Kress, 2010). Drugs that inhibit both astrocyte and microglial function, have been shown to attenuate the induction and maintenance of allodynia and hyperalgesia in pathological pain models(Wieseler-Frank et al., 2004). These findings suggest that early microglial activation and the persistent activation of astrocytes following microglial activation contribute both to the induction and maintenance of neuropathic pain.

When microglia are activated they undergo a morphological change from a ramified shape to an amoeboid shape and undergo an increase in proliferation. Using microglia activation markers such as OX-42 it has been established that microglia activation precedes astrocyte activation in pathological pain conditions such as nerve injury and peripheral inflammation(Schomberg and Olson, 2012). As the initial microglia activation starts to decrease, astrocytic activation is present and neuropathic pain behaviours are still observed (Milligan and Watkins, 2009). In a spinal nerve ligation model of neuropathic pain, this temporal pattern was confirmed. Activation of both mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) signaling proteins occurred in microglia first, with activation of these factors in astrocytes after(Colburn et al., 1999). Inhibition of microglia activation with the drug minocycline, a tetracycline antibiotic has been shown to prevent the induction of pathological pain. When minocycline is administered when hyperalgesia and allodynia is present following nerve injury or inflammation, it does not typically reverse these symptoms(Raghavendra et al., 2003).

## 1.5.4 Cytokines and Chemokines in Neuropathic pain

The release of proinflammatory cytokines from activated glia cells as previously mentioned play an important role in the induction and continued maintenance of neuropathic pain conditions. Blocking proinflammatory cytokines or administration of anti-inflammatory cytokines in different neuropathic pain animal models has been shown to reduce neuropathic hyperalgesia(Sommer and Kress, 2004). *1.5.4.1 IL-1ß* 

IL-1ß is produced and secreted in many different pathological conditions that are associated with neuropathic pain(Watkins and Maier, 1999). Direct injection of IL-1ß into the spinal cord of rats, has been shown to lower mechanical nociceptive thresholds and results in hyperalgesia. Antagonism of the IL-1 receptor has been shown to reduce pain behavaiours in mice with experimental neuropathy(Cunha et al., 2000). IL-1ß sensitization can be reduced by antagonizing PKC, suggesting that IL-1ß may play an indirect role in the increased phosphorylation of dorsal horn neurons through increased activation of the NMDA receptor(Sommer and Kress, 2004).

## 1.5.4.2 IL-6

Similar to IL-1ß, IL-6 is upregulated in different pathological states associated with neuropathic pain. Significant increases in IL-6 serum levels have been detected in patients with neuropathies, burn injury, autoimmune and chronic inflammatory conditions(Sommer, 2001). Hypersensitivity to touch is common and similar in all these conditions at the site of affected tissue(Sommer and Kress, 2004). Injection of IL-6, either intraplantar or intrathecally induces hyperalgesia and allodynia in rats(De Jongh et al., 2003). In IL-6 knockout mice there is a reduction in nerve injury related hyperalgesia(Ramer et al., 1998, Murphy et al., 1999). Also neutralization of IL-6 has been shown to inhibit lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced hyperalgesia(De Jongh et al., 2003).

#### 1.5.4.3 TNF- α

TNF- $\alpha$ , plays a major role in the initiating cascade of activation of other cytokines, including IL-1ß and IL-6 and growth factors in the inflammatory response. Different

groups have correlated increased tissue levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and pain in a number of diseases associated with neuropathic pain(Sommer and Kress, 2004). Similar to IL-1ß and IL-6, direct injection of TNF- $\alpha$  into rats has been shown to induce mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia(Schafers et al., 2003). In the rat sural nerve specifically, it was shown that injected TNF- $\alpha$  lowers the mechanical activation thresholds of C nociceptors. Blocking TNF- $\alpha$  reduces hyperalgesia in both rat and mouse models of painful neuropathy(Sommer and Kress, 2004). Injured neurons have also been shown to be more susceptible to the effects of TNF- $\alpha$ . In rat DRG that was previously ligated, less TNF- $\alpha$  was needed to induce allodynia, and this allodynia was induced significantly faster then with an uninjured DRG(Schafers et al., 2003).

#### 1.5.4.4 MCP-1/CCL2

Similar to the role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in neuropathic pain conditions, the chemokine MCP-1/CCL2 is upregulated in different neuropathic pain conditions and has also been shown to play an important role(Thacker et al., 2009). Administration of MCP-1/CCL2 directly into the spinal cord results in the development of pain behaviours. MCP-1/CCL2 has also been shown to influence sensory neurons directly and play an important role in pain regulation. MCP-1/CCL2 and its receptor are both increased in DRG neurons following nerve injury(Sun et al., 2006). This increase in MCP-1/CCL2 has been associated with an increase in the activation of spinal microglial cells, suggesting its role in the initiation of the neuropathic pain process(Hingtgen, 2006, Thacker et al., 2009). Activation astrocytes have also been shown to release MCP-1/CCL2, maintaining the neuropathic pain environment(DeLeo et al., 2004).

Proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines have been shown to contribute to neuropathic pain states, although the exact relationship between the chemokinecytokine network and neuropathic pain such as the regulation of these processes still needs to be established.

#### **1.5.5 Wallarian degeneration**

Many neuropathic states are associated with Wallarian degeneration (WD) and demyelination in the periphery(Ramer et al., 1997). WD occurs when the nerve fibre's connectivity is disrupted. This can occur as a result of traumatic, toxic, ischemic or metabolic events. Axonal injury stimulates a series of events that include, breakdown of the BBB and blood nerve barrier, proliferation of Schwann cells, macrophage activation, and elevations of cytokine production(Ramer et al., 1997, Gaudet et al., 2011). These changes are meant to stimulate new regrowth of the axon and support axonal regeneration, these changes are also involved in the induction and maintenance of neuropathic pain states at the same time(Dubovy, 2011).

Following nerve damage, the process of WD begins with degradation of the axoplasm and axolemma, as well as the myelin sheath distal to the site of nerve lesion. As a result of this degradation, macrophages are recruited to clean up the debris. The clearance of the myelin sheath is important, because of the presence of axon growth inhibitors in peripheral nerve myelin(Perry and Brown, 1992). Schwann cells play a role in recruiting macrophages to clean up myelin debris by

releasing inflammatory mediators to recruit more macrophages to the injury site (Shamash et al., 2002). These same inflammatory mediators may also work to sensitize rescued or regenerated neurons. This inflammatory reaction during WD could explain the neuropathic pain induction that happens simultaneously. It is also established that injured afferent axons produce abnormal spontaneous discharges that can also favour neuropathic pain conditions. Nerve injury also has been shown to cause molecular changes in the dorsal root ganglion (DRG), which can result in a change in expression of different cytokine or chemokine concentrations(Dubovy, 2011). WD may therefore be responsible for signaling alterations of different inflammatory markers in the DRG. Although most of this work on WD and demyelination and their contribution to neuropathic pain states has been done in the PNS, it is still a question as to whether the same mechanism of neuropathic pain generation is conserved in the CNS. This may be the case in disorders where demyelination and axonal degeneration are significant pathological features such as MS.

# **1.6 Glutamate Transporters**

The activation of glutamate receptors is dependent on the amount of extracellular glutamate available at the synapse(Danbolt, 2001). The levels of extracellular glutamate that can be utilized are regulated by a class of Na+-dependent glutamate transporters that have been found to be expressed in both neurons and glial cells. To date, five excitatory amino acid transporters (EAATs) have been cloned as with

their human homologues; EAAT-1 (also known as GLAST), EAAT-2 (GLT-1), EAAT-3 (EAAC-1), EAAT-4 and EAAT-5. EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 are predominantly localized in glial cells, whereas EAAT-3 is primarily expressed in neurons(Danbolt, 2001).

#### **1.6.1 Biophysical properties of Glutamate Transporters**

The glutamate transporters crystal structure appears as homomers that are made up of 3 different subunits(Jiang and Amara, 2011). These transporters use free energy stored in ion/solute gradients to drive substrate movement. The transport cycle includes co-transport of one glutamate with 3 sodium ions and 1 proton into the cytoplasm and counter transport of 1 potassium ion(Danbolt, 2001, Maragakis et al., 2004, Tzingounis and Wadiche, 2007). This process generates a net influx of two positive charges for each transport cycle, creating a large gradient of glutamate across the cell membrane. This transporter cycle allows for an outward and inward conformation of the transporter. The outward conformation is when the glutamatebinding site is exposed to the extracellular environment, the inward conformation is when this site is exposed to the cytoplasm. Binding of potassium to the inward conformation triggers a change in conformation back to the outside. This change of conformation is what allows for the accumulation of glutamate against a concentration gradient(Tzingounis and Wadiche, 2007).

Manipulation of the glutamate transporter system has contributed greatly to our understanding of the role that the transporters play in the CNS. Inhibiting the glutamate transporter system results in an increase of glutamate-mediated injury as a result of the increase of glutamate concentration at the synapse. Different analogs of DL-threo-Bbenzyloxyaspartate (TBOA) have be used as transporter blockers.
Using rat hippocampal slices it was found that blocking transporter function resulted in an increase time for the removal of glutamate at the synapse(Tzingounis and Wadiche, 2007). Prolonged application of TBOA to the slices resulted in spontaneous epileptic discharges that confirmed the critical role of glutamate uptake in maintaining glutamate homeostasis(Campbell and Hablitz, 2004). A problem that is encountered using TBOA analogues is the inability for them to be specific to certain transporter subtypes(Shimamoto et al., 1998).

Conversely, increasing the expression or activity of glutamate transporters has been shown to be successful in removing glutamate from the synapse, especially when there has been an insult to the CNS and normal glutaminergic clearance has been compromised. Drugs that promote glutamate transporter activity work either to increase the catalytic activity of the transporter or to increase levels of transporter protein expression. ß-lactam antibiotics are able to increase the expression of the EAAT-2 glutamate transporter by as much as a 6 fold increase(Rothstein et al., 2005). Of the different ß-lactam antibiotics that have been tested, ceftriaxone was found to be the most beneficial in increasing EAAT-2 protein levels and was found *in vitro* to have neuroprotective properties(Rothstein et al., 2005). Compared to drugs that target other components of glutaminergic transmission such as drugs that target the different glutamate receptors, drugs targeting specific glutamate transporters are lacking. Because of this, the role of glutamate transporters under normal and pathological conditions is still not fully understood.

#### 1.6.2 Glutamate transporters and pain signaling

In the spinal cord, EAAT-1, EAAT-2 and EAAT-3 are concentrated in the superficial layers of the dorsal horn, which is the site in which pain processing is initiated in the CNS(Vera-Portocarrero et al., 2002, Sung et al., 2003). This pattern of localization implies that transporters may play a role in the regulation of pain processing. Changes in the expression and activity of glutamate transporters in the spinal cord has significant impact on sensory transmission in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord(Liaw et al., 2005, Tao et al., 2005). Intrathecal administration of the transporter blockers (TBOA) or dihydrokainate (DHK) to normal rats leads to spontaneous pain behaviours and an increased sensitivity to both thermal and mechanical stimuli(Liaw et al., 2005).

Glutamate transporters have also been implicated in neuropathic pain models. A decrease in transporter expression was found in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord in a model of peripheral nerve injury. Peripheral nerve injury was also found to significantly reduce the uptake of spinal glutamate post operatively. A study using spinal nerve ligation found that this decrease in glutamate uptake was still present in the superficial dorsal horn as late as 6 weeks after the initial injury(Sung et al., 2003).

A physiological consequence of decreased glutamate transporter expression would be an elevation in ambient glutamate levels at the synapse. Loss of these transporters could also lead to "spillover" of glutamate into nearby or adjacent synapses and the activation of distant cells. This would result in greater excitotoxicity and increases in the activation of glutamate receptors, a primary mechanism of central sensitization.

#### 1.6.3 "Reverse transport" and pain sensitivity

With certain experimental conditions, the down regulation of glutamate transporter expression has the opposite effects as what is described above. The transporter inhibitor trans-pyrrolidine-2,4-dicarboxylic acid or the selective knock down of EAAT-1 or EAAT-2 with antisense oligonucleotides were found to decrease pain behaviours that were evoked using zymosan induced inflammation or in response to intraplantar formalin administration(Niederberger et al., 2003, Niederberger et al., 2006). The mechanisms behind the analgesic effects in response to transporter blockade remain unknown. It has been postulated that the diminished pain behaviours in the above conditions may be through a blockade of "reverse transport" by the glutamate transporters themselves. The mechanism by which glutamate transporters exert their actions is dependent on membrane potential and specific transmembrane ion gradients. With pathological conditions, metabolic insults can result in a disruption of intracellular energy stores and perturbation of ionic gradients in a way that the transporters, instead of removing extracellular glutamate, begin to "reverse transport" and actually release glutamate into the extracellular space(Rossi et al., 2000). This phenomenon has been documented in cases of brain ischemia and in the acute phase after spinal cord injury. (Rossi et al., 2000, Vera-Portocarrero et al., 2002)

#### 1.6.4 Glutamate transporters and Multiple Sclerosis

Decreased expression of glutamate transporters has been observed in post mortem samples from patients with MS and with rats and mice with EAE(Ohgoh et al., 2002, Vercellino et al., 2007, Pampliega et al., 2008, Olechowski et al., 2009). A decrease in

glutamate transporter expression, and therefore an increase is overall glutamate in MS is consistent with the finding of that levels of glutamate are increased in the CSF of patients with MS. This decrease in glutamate transporter expression is thought to be a result in part, by the initial accumulation of proinflammatory cytokines in the first stages of the disease onset. The inflammatory insults that are considered hallmarks of MS and EAE have been shown to be associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, energy failure and altered ion exchange mechanisms (Friese et al., 2007). These metabolic insults may trigger a similar reverse transporter function in cases of MS and EAE that would lead to an overall increase in the levels of extracellular glutamate, therefore resulting in increased receptor activation, sensitization and consequently, abnormal pain sensitivity.

### **1.7 Purpose**

The purpose of this thesis was to characterize changes in pain and cognitive behaviours in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mouse model of MS. To determine potential mechanisms behind these changes and to normalize these changes with pharmacological treatment.

**Hypothesis 1:** MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice display neuropathic pain behaviours at different points of the disease course.

**Hypothesis 2:** Glutamate transporters play a role in the dsyregulation of pain behaviours in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice.

**Hypothesis 3:** MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice display cognitive deficits early on in the disease course.

**Hypothesis 4:** The severity of the EAE disease course does not affect the appearance and degree of neuropathic pain behaviours and cognitive deficits at disease onset.

**Hypothesis 5:** Increasing the activity of glutamate transporters in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice will normalize the changes in pain behaviours and recover the loss of cognitive function in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice.

## **1.8 Figures**



Figure 1.1

Representation of the immune response in Multiple Sclerosis, modified version of adapted figure from Delbue et al 2012.

### **1.9 References**

- Acs P, Kalman B (2012) Pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: what can we learn from the cuprizone model. Methods Mol Biol 900:403-431.
- Ascherio A, Munger KL, Simon KC (2010) Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol 9:599-612.
- Balashov KE, Smith DR, Khoury SJ, Hafler DA, Weiner HL (1997) Increased interleukin 12 production in progressive multiple sclerosis: induction by activated CD4+ T cells via CD40 ligand. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:599-603.

Bar-Or A (2008) The immunology of multiple sclerosis. Semin Neurol 28:29-45.

- Baumstarck-Barrau K, Simeoni MC, Reuter F, Klemina I, Aghababian V, Pelletier J, Auquier P (2011) Cognitive function and quality of life in multiple sclerosis patients: a cross-sectional study. BMC Neurol 11:17.
- Bennett AD, Everhart AW, Hulsebosch CE (2000) Intrathecal administration of an NMDA or a non-NMDA receptor antagonist reduces mechanical but not thermal allodynia in a rodent model of chronic central pain after spinal cord injury. Brain Res 859:72-82.
- Bleakman D, Alt A, Nisenbaum ES (2006) Glutamate receptors and pain. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17:592-604.
- Brown DG, Krupp JJ (2006) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) antagonists as potential pain therapeutics. Curr Top Med Chem 6:749-770.
- Burger D, Molnarfi N, Weber MS, Brandt KJ, Benkhoucha M, Gruaz L, Chofflon M, Zamvil SS, Lalive PH (2009) Glatiramer acetate increases IL-1 receptor

antagonist but decreases T cell-induced IL-1beta in human monocytes and multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4355-4359.

- Campbell SL, Hablitz JJ (2004) Glutamate transporters regulate excitability in local networks in rat neocortex. Neuroscience 127:625-635.
- Carpintero R, Burger D (2011) IFNbeta and glatiramer acetate trigger different signaling pathways to regulate the IL-1 system in multiple sclerosis. Commun Integr Biol 4:112-114.
- Chen L, Huang LY (1991) Sustained potentiation of NMDA receptor-mediated glutamate responses through activation of protein kinase C by a mu opioid. Neuron 7:319-326.
- Chizh BA, Headley PM (2005) NMDA antagonists and neuropathic pain--multiple drug targets and multiple uses. Curr Pharm Des 11:2977-2994.
- Chui R, Dorovini-Zis K (2010) Regulation of CCL2 and CCL3 expression in human brain endothelial cells by cytokines and lipopolysaccharide. J Neuroinflammation 7:1.
- Coderre TJ (1992) Contribution of protein kinase C to central sensitization and persistent pain following tissue injury. Neurosci Lett 140:181-184.
- Coderre TJ (1993) The role of excitatory amino acid receptors and intracellular messengers in persistent nociception after tissue injury in rats. Mol Neurobiol 7:229-246.
- Colburn RW, Rickman AJ, DeLeo JA (1999) The effect of site and type of nerve injury on spinal glial activation and neuropathic pain behavior. Exp Neurol 157:289-304.

Compston A, Coles A (2008) Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 372:1502-1517.

- Conductier G, Blondeau N, Guyon A, Nahon JL, Rovere C (2010) The role of monocyte chemoattractant protein MCP1/CCL2 in neuroinflammatory diseases. J Neuroimmunol.
- Cunha JM, Cunha FQ, Poole S, Ferreira SH (2000) Cytokine-mediated inflammatory hyperalgesia limited by interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Br J Pharmacol 130:1418-1424.
- Cutajar R, Ferriani E, Scandellari C, Sabattini L, Trocino C, Marchello LP, Stecchi S (2000) Cognitive function and quality of life in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurovirol 6 Suppl 2:S186-190.

Danbolt NC (2001) Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 65:1-105.

- De Jongh RF, Vissers KC, Meert TF, Booij LH, De Deyne CS, Heylen RJ (2003) The role of interleukin-6 in nociception and pain. Anesth Analg 96:1096-1103, table of contents.
- Delbue S, Carluccio S, Ferrante P (2012) The Long and Evolving Relationship Between Viruses and Multiple Sclerosis. Future Virology 9:871-883.
- DeLeo JA, Tanga FY, Tawfik VL (2004) Neuroimmune activation and neuroinflammation in chronic pain and opioid tolerance/hyperalgesia. Neuroscientist 10:40-52.
- Denic A, Johnson AJ, Bieber AJ, Warrington AE, Rodriguez M, Pirko I (2011) The relevance of animal models in multiple sclerosis research. Pathophysiology 18:21-29.

- Dickenson AH, Sullivan AF (1987) Evidence for a role of the NMDA receptor in the frequency dependent potentiation of deep rat dorsal horn nociceptive neurones following C fibre stimulation. Neuropharmacology 26:1235-1238.
- Dinarello CA (2011) Interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis and treatment of inflammatory diseases. Blood 117:3720-3732.
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF (1999) The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev 51:7-61.
- Dougherty PM, Willis WD (1991) Enhancement of spinothalamic neuron responses to chemical and mechanical stimuli following combined micro-iontophoretic application of N-methyl-D-aspartic acid and substance P. Pain 47:85-93.
- Dubovy P (2011) Wallerian degeneration and peripheral nerve conditions for both axonal regeneration and neuropathic pain induction. Ann Anat 193:267-275.
- Engelhardt B (2006) Molecular mechanisms involved in T cell migration across the blood-brain barrier. J Neural Transm 113:477-485.
- Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM (2005) The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. Trends Immunol 26:485-495.
- Ferreira ML (2010) Cognitive deficits in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 68:632-641.
- Friese MA, Craner MJ, Etzensperger R, Vergo S, Wemmie JA, Welsh MJ, Vincent A,
  Fugger L (2007) Acid-sensing ion channel-1 contributes to axonal
  degeneration in autoimmune inflammation of the central nervous system.
  Nature medicine 13:1483-1489.

- Frohman EM, Racke MK, Raine CS (2006) Multiple sclerosis--the plaque and its pathogenesis. The New England journal of medicine 354:942-955.
- Fuller KG, Olson JK, Howard LM, Croxford JL, Miller SD (2004) Mouse models of multiple sclerosis: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and Theiler's virus-induced demyelinating disease. Methods Mol Med 102:339-361.
- Fundytus ME (2001) Glutamate receptors and nociception: implications for the drug treatment of pain. CNS Drugs 15:29-58.
- Gaudet AD, Popovich PG, Ramer MS (2011) Wallerian degeneration: gaining perspective on inflammatory events after peripheral nerve injury. J Neuroinflammation 8:110.
- Girouard N, Soucy N (2011) Patient considerations in the management of multiple sclerosis: development and clinical utility of oral agents. Patient Prefer Adherence 5:101-108.
- Granieri E, Casetta I (1997) Selected reviews common childhood and adolescent infections and multiple sclerosis. Neurology 49:S42-54.
- Greco A, Minghetti L, Sette G, Fieschi C, Levi G (1999) Cerebrospinal fluid isoprostane shows oxidative stress in patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurology 53:1876-1879.

Greer JM, McCombe PA (2011) Role of gender in multiple sclerosis: clinical effects and potential molecular mechanisms. J Neuroimmunol 234:7-18.

Group TLMSSGaTUoBCMMA (1999) TNF neutralization in MS: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter study. . Neurology 53:457-465.

- Guimaraes J, Sa MJ (2012) Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. Front Neurol 3:74.
- Gwak YS, Kang J, Leem JW, Hulsebosch CE (2007) Spinal AMPA receptor inhibition attenuates mechanical allodynia and neuronal hyperexcitability following spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurosci Res 85:2352-2359.
- Halassa MM, Fellin T, Haydon PG (2007) The tripartite synapse: roles for gliotransmission in health and disease. Trends Mol Med 13:54-63.
- Hart BA, Gran B, Weissert R (2011) EAE: imperfect but useful models of multiple sclerosis. Trends Mol Med.
- Hatt H (1999) Modification of glutamate receptor channels: molecular mechanisms and functional consequences. Naturwissenschaften 86:177-186.
- Hendriks JJ, Alblas J, van der Pol SM, van Tol EA, Dijkstra CD, de Vries HE (2004) Flavonoids influence monocytic GTPase activity and are protective in experimental allergic encephalitis. J Exp Med 200:1667-1672.
- Hingtgen CM (2006) A new "kine" of pain: MCP-1 and sensory neuron excitability.
   Focus on "MCP-1 enhances excitability of nociceptive neurons in chronically compressed dorsal root ganglia". J Neurophysiol 96:2171-2172.
- Huang DR, Wang J, Kivisakk P, Rollins BJ, Ransohoff RM (2001) Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in mice leads to decreased local macrophage recruitment and antigen-specific T helper cell type 1 immune response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 193:713-726.

- Huijbregts SC, Kalkers NF, de Sonneville LM, de Groot V, Reuling IE, Polman CH
   (2004) Differences in cognitive impairment of relapsing remitting,
   secondary, and primary progressive MS. Neurology 63:335-339.
- Jha MK, Jeon S, Suk K (2012) Glia as a Link between Neuroinflammation and Neuropathic Pain. Immune Netw 12:41-47.
- Jiang J, Amara SG (2011) New views of glutamate transporter structure and function: advances and challenges. Neuropharmacology 60:172-181.
- Johnson AJ, Suidan GL, McDole J, Pirko I (2007) The CD8 T cell in multiple sclerosis: suppressor cell or mediator of neuropathology? International review of neurobiology 79:73-97.
- Kallmann BA, Wagner S, Hummel V, Buttmann M, Bayas A, Tonn JC, Rieckmann P (2002) Characteristic gene expression profile of primary human cerebral endothelial cells. Faseb J 16:589-591.
- Khan F, Pallant J (2007) Chronic pain in multiple sclerosis: prevalence, characteristics, and impact on quality of life in an Australian community cohort. J Pain 8:614-623.
- Kolls JK, Linden A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21:467-476.
- Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2006) IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 177:566-573.
- Kress M (2010) Nociceptor Sensitization by Proinflammatory Cytokines And Chemokines. The open Pain journal 97-107.

- Larochelle C, Alvarez JI, Prat A (2011) How do immune cells overcome the bloodbrain barrier in multiple sclerosis? FEBS Lett 585:3770-3780.
- Lassmann H (2010) Axonal and neuronal pathology in multiple sclerosis: what have we learnt from animal models. Exp Neurol 225:2-8.
- Liaw WJ, Stephens RL, Jr., Binns BC, Chu Y, Sepkuty JP, Johns RA, Rothstein JD, Tao YX (2005) Spinal glutamate uptake is critical for maintaining normal sensory transmission in rat spinal cord. Pain 115:60-70.
- Lin Q, Peng YB, Willis WD (1996) Possible role of protein kinase C in the sensitization of primate spinothalamic tract neurons. J Neurosci 16:3026-3034.
- Ma QP, Allchorne AJ, Woolf CJ (1998) Morphine, the NMDA receptor antagonist MK801 and the tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonist RP67580 attenuate the development of inflammation-induced progressive tactile hypersensitivity. Pain 77:49-57.
- Maimone D, Guazzi GC, Annunziata P (1997) IL-6 detection in multiple sclerosis brain. Journal of the neurological sciences 146:59-65.
- Maragakis NJ, Dietrich J, Wong V, Xue H, Mayer-Proschel M, Rao MS, Rothstein JD (2004) Glutamate transporter expression and function in human glial progenitors. Glia 45:133-143.
- Martins TB, Rose JW, Jaskowski TD, Wilson AR, Husebye D, Seraj HS, Hill HR (2011) Analysis of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine serum concentrations in patients with multiple sclerosis by using a multiplexed immunoassay. Am J Clin Pathol 136:696-704.

- McFarland HF, Martin R (2007) Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. Nature immunology 8:913-919.
- Miller SD, Karpus WJ, Davidson TS (2010) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse. Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 15:Unit 15 11.
- Milligan ED, Watkins LR (2009) Pathological and protective roles of glia in chronic pain. Nature reviews Neuroscience 10:23-36.
- Mills CD, Johnson KM, Hulsebosch CE (2002) Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in spinal cord injury: roles in neuroprotection and the development of chronic central pain. J Neurotrauma 19:23-42.
- Mix E, Meyer-Rienecker H, Zettl UK (2008) Animal models of multiple sclerosis for the development and validation of novel therapies - potential and limitations. J Neurol 255 Suppl 6:7-14.
- Murphy PG, Ramer MS, Borthwick L, Gauldie J, Richardson PM, Bisby MA (1999) Endogenous interleukin-6 contributes to hypersensitivity to cutaneous stimuli and changes in neuropeptides associated with chronic nerve constriction in mice. Eur J Neurosci 11:2243-2253.
- Navikas V, He B, Link J, Haglund M, Soderstrom M, Fredrikson S, Ljungdahl A, Hojeberg J, Qiao J, Olsson T, Link H (1996) Augmented expression of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and lymphotoxin in mononuclear cells in multiple sclerosis and optic neuritis. Brain : a journal of neurology 119 (Pt 1):213-223.

- Nick ST, Roberts C, Billiodeaux S, Davis DE, Zamanifekri B, Sahraian MA, Alekseeva N, Munjampalli S, Roberts J, Minagar A (2012) Multiple sclerosis and pain. Neurol Res.
- Niederberger E, Schmidtko A, Coste O, Marian C, Ehnert C, Geisslinger G (2006) The glutamate transporter GLAST is involved in spinal nociceptive processing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 346:393-399.
- Niederberger E, Schmidtko A, Rothstein JD, Geisslinger G, Tegeder I (2003) Modulation of spinal nociceptive processing through the glutamate transporter GLT-1. Neuroscience 116:81-87.
- Nikbin B, Bonab MM, Khosravi F, Talebian F (2007) Role of B cells in pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. International review of neurobiology 79:13-42.
- O'Connor AB, Schwid SR, Herrmann DN, Markman JD, Dworkin RH (2008) Pain associated with multiple sclerosis: systematic review and proposed classification. Pain 137:96-111.
- Ohgoh M, Hanada T, Smith T, Hashimoto T, Ueno M, Yamanishi Y, Watanabe M, Nishizawa Y (2002) Altered expression of glutamate transporters in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 125:170-178.
- Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ (2009) Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 141:156-164.
- Osterberg A, Boivie J, Thuomas KA (2005) Central pain in multiple sclerosis-prevalence and clinical characteristics. Eur J Pain 9:531-542.

- Ozenci V, Kouwenhoven M, Huang YM, Kivisakk P, Link H (2000) Multiple sclerosis is associated with an imbalance between tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNFalpha)- and IL-10-secreting blood cells that is corrected by interferon-beta (IFN-beta) treatment. Clinical and experimental immunology 120:147-153.
- Pampliega O, Domercq M, Soria FN, Villoslada P, Rodriguez-Antiguedad A, Matute C (2011) Increased expression of cystine/glutamate antiporter in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroinflammation 8:63.
- Pampliega O, Domercq M, Villoslada P, Sepulcre J, Rodriguez-Antiguedad A, Matute C (2008) Association of an EAAT2 polymorphism with higher glutamate concentration in relapsing multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 195:194-198.
- Paoletti P, Neyton J (2007) NMDA receptor subunits: function and pharmacology. Curr Opin Pharmacol 7:39-47.
- Parks WC, Wilson CL, Lopez-Boado YS (2004) Matrix metalloproteinases as modulators of inflammation and innate immunity. Nature reviews Immunology 4:617-629.
- Patanella AK, Zinno M, Quaranta D, Nociti V, Frisullo G, Gainotti G, Tonali PA, Batocchi AP, Marra C (2010) Correlations between peripheral blood mononuclear cell production of BDNF, TNF-alpha, IL-6, IL-10 and cognitive performances in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurosci Res 88:1106-1112.
- Perry VH, Brown MC (1992) Role of macrophages in peripheral nerve degeneration and repair. Bioessays 14:401-406.
- Pocock JM, Kettenmann H (2007) Neurotransmitter receptors on microglia. Trends in neurosciences 30:527-535.

Probert L, Akassoglou K, Pasparakis M, Kontogeorgos G, Kollias G (1995) Spontaneous inflammatory demyelinating disease in transgenic mice showing central nervous system-specific expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11294-11298.

- Proudfoot AE, de Souza AL, Muzio V (2008) The use of chemokine antagonists in EAE models. J Neuroimmunol 198:27-30.
- Racke MK (2009) Immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Ann Indian Acad Neurol 12:215-220.
- Raghavendra V, Tanga F, DeLeo JA (2003) Inhibition of microglial activation attenuates the development but not existing hypersensitivity in a rat model of neuropathy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306:624-630.
- Ramer MS, French GD, Bisby MA (1997) Wallerian degeneration is required for both neuropathic pain and sympathetic sprouting into the DRG. Pain 72:71-78.
- Ramer MS, Murphy PG, Richardson PM, Bisby MA (1998) Spinal nerve lesioninduced mechanoallodynia and adrenergic sprouting in sensory ganglia are attenuated in interleukin-6 knockout mice. Pain 78:115-121.
- Randic M, Hecimovic H, Ryu PD (1990) Substance P modulates glutamate-induced currents in acutely isolated rat spinal dorsal horn neurones. Neurosci Lett 117:74-80.
- Rodriguez M (2007) Effectors of demyelination and remyelination in the CNS: implications for multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathol 17:219-229.
- Romagnani S (2000) T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 85:9-18; quiz 18, 21.

- Rosenberg GA, Yang Y (2007) Vasogenic edema due to tight junction disruption by matrix metalloproteinases in cerebral ischemia. Neurosurg Focus 22:E4.
- Rossi DJ, Oshima T, Attwell D (2000) Glutamate release in severe brain ischaemia is mainly by reversed uptake. Nature 403:316-321.
- Rothstein JD, Patel S, Regan MR, Haenggeli C, Huang YH, Bergles DE, Jin L, Dykes
  Hoberg M, Vidensky S, Chung DS, Toan SV, Bruijn LI, Su ZZ, Gupta P, Fisher PB
  (2005) Beta-lactam antibiotics offer neuroprotection by increasing glutamate
  transporter expression. Nature 433:73-77.
- Ruddle NH, Bergman CM, McGrath KM, Lingenheld EG, Grunnet ML, Padula SJ, Clark RB (1990) An antibody to lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor prevents transfer of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 172:1193-1200.
- Sadovnick AD, Ebers GC, Dyment DA, Risch NJ (1996) Evidence for genetic basis of multiple sclerosis. The Canadian Collaborative Study Group. Lancet 347:1728-1730.
- Samoilova EB, Horton JL, Hilliard B, Liu TS, Chen Y (1998) IL-6-deficient mice are resistant to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: roles of IL-6 in the activation and differentiation of autoreactive T cells. J Immunol 161:6480-6486.
- Schafers M, Lee DH, Brors D, Yaksh TL, Sorkin LS (2003) Increased sensitivity of injured and adjacent uninjured rat primary sensory neurons to exogenous tumor necrosis factor-alpha after spinal nerve ligation. J Neurosci 23:3028-3038.

- Schomberg D, Olson JK (2012) Immune responses of microglia in the spinal cord: contribution to pain states. Exp Neurol 234:262-270.
- Schulz D, Kopp B, Kunkel A, Faiss JH (2006) Cognition in the early stage of multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology 253:1002-1010.
- Selmaj K, Raine CS, Cannella B, Brosnan CF (1991) Identification of lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor in multiple sclerosis lesions. The Journal of clinical investigation 87:949-954.
- Shamash S, Reichert F, Rotshenker S (2002) The cytokine network of Wallerian degeneration: tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1alpha, and interleukin-1beta. J Neurosci 22:3052-3060.
- Sharief MK, Hentges R (1991) Association between tumor necrosis factor-alpha and disease progression in patients with multiple sclerosis. The New England journal of medicine 325:467-472.
- Shimamoto K, Lebrun B, Yasuda-Kamatani Y, Sakaitani M, Shigeri Y, Yumoto N, Nakajima T (1998) DL-threo-beta-benzyloxyaspartate, a potent blocker of excitatory amino acid transporters. Mol Pharmacol 53:195-201.
- Simioni S, Ruffieux C, Bruggimann L, Annoni JM, Schluep M (2007) Cognition, mood and fatigue in patients in the early stage of multiple sclerosis. Swiss Med Wkly 137:496-501.
- Sluka KA, Rees H, Chen PS, Tsuruoka M, Willis WD (1997) Inhibitors of G-proteins and protein kinases reduce the sensitization to mechanical stimulation and the desensitization to heat of spinothalamic tract neurons induced by intradermal injection of capsaicin in the primate. Exp Brain Res 115:15-24.

Sommer C (2001) [Cytokines in neuropathic pain]. Anaesthesist 50:416-426.

- Sommer C, Kress M (2004) Recent findings on how proinflammatory cytokines cause pain: peripheral mechanisms in inflammatory and neuropathic hyperalgesia. Neurosci Lett 361:184-187.
- Sospedra M, Martin R (2005) Immunology of multiple sclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol 23:683-747.
- Sotgiu S, Pugliatti M, Fois ML, Arru G, Sanna A, Sotgiu MA, Rosati G (2004) Genes, environment, and susceptibility to multiple sclerosis. Neurobiol Dis 17:131-143.
- Stys PK (2010) Multiple Sclerosis: autoimmune disease or autoimmune reaction? Can J Neurol Sci 37 Suppl 2:S16-23.
- Sun JH, Yang B, Donnelly DF, Ma C, LaMotte RH (2006) MCP-1 enhances excitability of nociceptive neurons in chronically compressed dorsal root ganglia. J Neurophysiol 96:2189-2199.
- Sung B, Lim G, Mao J (2003) Altered expression and uptake activity of spinal glutamate transporters after nerve injury contribute to the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain in rats. J Neurosci 23:2899-2910.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW (2005) Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 114:473-481.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW (2003) Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch Neurol 60:1089-1094.

- SY Lim CC (2010) TNF-α: A Paradigm of Paradox and Complexity in Multiple Sclerosis and its Animal Models. The Open Autoimmunity Journal, 2:160-170.
- Tao YX, Gu J, Stephens RL, Jr. (2005) Role of spinal cord glutamate transporter during normal sensory transmission and pathological pain states. Mol Pain 1:30.
- Thacker MA, Clark AK, Bishop T, Grist J, Yip PK, Moon LDF, Thompson SWN, Marchand F, McMahon SB (2009) CCL2 is a key mediator of microglia activation in neuropathic pain states. Eur J Pain 13:263-272.

Tingley WG, Ehlers MD, Kameyama K, Doherty C, Ptak JB, Riley CT, Huganir RL (1997) Characterization of protein kinase A and protein kinase C phosphorylation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR1 subunit using phosphorylation site-specific antibodies. J Biol Chem 272:5157-5166.

- Tourbah A, Stievenart JL, Gout O, Fontaine B, Liblau R, Lubetzki C, Cabanis EA, Lyon-Caen O (1999) Localized proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy in relapsing remitting versus secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. Neurology 53:1091-1097.
- Tsunoda I, Fujinami RS (2010) Neuropathogenesis of Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus infection, an animal model for multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 5:355-369.
- Tzingounis AV, Wadiche JI (2007) Glutamate transporters: confining runaway excitation by shaping synaptic transmission. Nature reviews Neuroscience 8:935-947.

- van der Goes A, Brouwer J, Hoekstra K, Roos D, van den Berg TK, Dijkstra CD (1998) Reactive oxygen species are required for the phagocytosis of myelin by macrophages. J Neuroimmunol 92:67-75.
- Van der Goes A, Wouters D, Van Der Pol SM, Huizinga R, Ronken E, Adamson P, Greenwood J, Dijkstra CD, De Vries HE (2001) Reactive oxygen species enhance the migration of monocytes across the blood-brain barrier in vitro. Faseb J 15:1852-1854.
- Vera-Portocarrero LP, Mills CD, Ye Z, Fullwood SD, McAdoo DJ, Hulsebosch CE, Westlund KN (2002) Rapid changes in expression of glutamate transporters after spinal cord injury. Brain Res 927:104-110.
- Vercellino M, Merola A, Piacentino C, Votta B, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P (2007) Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsingremitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:732-739.
- Watkins LR, Maier SF (1999) Implications of immune-to-brain communication for sickness and pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:7710-7713.
- Wieseler-Frank J, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2004) Glial activation and pathological pain. Neurochem Int 45:389-395.
- Woolf CJ, Salter MW (2000) Neuronal plasticity: increasing the gain in pain. Science 288:1765-1769.
- Woolf CJ, Thompson SW (1991) The induction and maintenance of central sensitization is dependent on N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor activation;

implications for the treatment of post-injury pain hypersensitivity states. Pain 44:293-299.

- Yeh WI, McWilliams IL, Harrington LE (2011) Autoreactive Tbet-positive CD4 T cells develop independent of classic Th1 cytokine signaling during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 187:4998-5006.
- Yoshimura M, Jessell T (1990) Amino acid-mediated EPSPs at primary afferent synapses with substantia gelatinosa neurones in the rat spinal cord. J Physiol 430:315-335.
- Young MR, Fleetwood-Walker SM, Mitchell R, Dickinson T (1995) The involvement of metabotropic glutamate receptors and their intracellular signalling pathways in sustained nociceptive transmission in rat dorsal horn neurons. Neuropharmacology 34:1033-1041.

# CHAPTER 2

Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronic-relapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Revised Version published as: Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronic-relapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ. Pain. 2009 Jan;141(1-2):156-64. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2008.11.002. Epub 2008 Dec

#### 2.0 Introduction

Chronic pain is a common, but little understood symptom associated with the autoimmune disease Multiple Sclerosis (MS) (Clifford and Trotter, 1984, Moulin et al., 1988, Archibald et al., 1994, Svendsen et al., 2003). It has been estimated that approximately 50-80% of MS sufferers experience clinically significant pain at some point in the course of their disease (Osterberg et al., 2005). Neuropathic pain, which arises due to lesions or dysfunction in the central nervous system (CNS), is the most prevalent and difficult to treat pain syndrome seen in MS patients (Svendsen et al., 2005). However, studies focused on identifying the underlying mechanisms of neuropathic pain associated with MS are lacking.

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is an accepted animal model of MS that shares many features of the pathology seen in MS patients, including widespread CNS inflammation, demyelination and locomotor impairments (Owens and Sriram, 1995, Steinman and Zamvil, 2006, Baxter, 2007). EAE can be induced in genetically susceptible mouse strains by immunization with small fragments of myelin antigens such as myelin basic protein 84-104 (MBP<sub>84-104</sub>); proteolipid protein 139-151 (PLP<sub>139-151</sub>); or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55 (MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) (Bradl and Hohlfeld, 2003). Depending on the strain of mouse and myelin antigen used, different disease courses can be modeled that reflect the differences in symptom progression often observed in human MS. While EAE has been used effectively to study the classical neurological deficits associated with MS such as locomotor dysfunction and paralysis, there is limited data on the specific changes in somatosensory processing that occur in the model.

A recent study has described altered pain behaviours in a relapsing-remitting form of EAE in the SJL/J strain of mice after immunization with PLP<sub>131-151</sub> (Aicher et al., 2004). These mice show signs of thermal hyperalgesia (an increased sensitivity to noxious heat) that develops at the peak of neurological deficits and persists throughout the course of the disease (Aicher et al., 2004). While these findings are an important validation of using the EAE model to study MS-related pain, only one sensory parameter (i.e., hyperalgesia) has been published thus far. Cold and tactile allodynia (painful responses to non-painful stimuli) are also often reported from MS patients with neuropathic pain (Osterberg et al., 2005, Svendsen et al., 2005).

To address this, we have used a chronic-relapsing model of EAE in female C57BL/6 mice immunized with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> and assessed changes in sensitivity to noxious heat, innocuous cold and mechanical stimuli. In addition, because inflammatory processes and reactive gliosis in the spinal cord are known to contribute to neuropathic pain behaviours in peripheral nerve and spinal cord injury models (Colburn et al., 1999, DeLeo and Yezierski, 2001, Tsuda et al., 2003, Hains and Waxman, 2006) we have also examined these responses in the superficial dorsal horn in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE.

#### 2.1 Materials and Methods

**2.1.1 Induction of EAE.** A total of 39, 10-12 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice were used. Mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (Saint-Constant, Quebec), housed in standard laboratory cages and had free access to food and water throughout the study period. All animal procedures and experiments were approved by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services. The course and severity of symptoms in EAE are often variable between different laboratories even when using the same antigen, doses and induction protocols. Although a number of factors can account for these variations, differences in the source of where MOG<sub>35-55</sub> is obtained from can be a major factor. Therefore, we induced EAE in mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55

(MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK; MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) obtained from two different sources to determine whether this would generate differences in disease course and symptom severity and if so, if this has any effect on pain behaviours. MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide was obtained from the Peptide Synthesis Facility, University of Calgary (Calgary, AB) (a generous gift from Dr. Chris Power, University of Alberta) and also from AnaSpec Inc (San Jose, CA). EAE was induced by subcutaneous immunization with 50 µg of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> from either source (grouped as EAE "A" n=10; or EAE "B" n=10 respectively) emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) (1 mg/ml to a final concentration of 0.5mg/ml CFA, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). An intraperitoneal injection of 300ng Pertussis toxin (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was administered at the time of induction and again 48 hours later. Control mice were treated with CFA (0.5mg/ml) and Pertussis toxin alone (n=10).

*EAE Assessment*. Mice were monitored daily and the clinical signs of EAE were graded on the following scale: Grade 0, normal mouse; Grade 1, flaccid tail; Grade 2, mild hind-limb weakness with quick righting reflex; Grade 3, severe hind-limb weakness with slow righting reflex; Grade 4, hind-limb paralysis in one hind-limb or both (Kalyvas and David, 2004).

#### 2.1.2 Behavioural testing

All behavioural testing was carried out by an experimenter blinded to the specific treatment groups. Mice were given 15-20 minutes to acclimatize to the testing apparatus for a given assay before the testing began.

*2.2.1 Rotorod test:* As a test of gross locomotor ability and coordination mice were placed on a rotorod at a fixed rotational speed of 16rpm. Mice were placed on the rotorod and the latency to fall off was determined. The maximum time for a trial was set at 180s. Mice were trained on the rotorod for two consecutive days prior to disease induction to become familiar with the task. After disease induction mice were tested on alternating days. Each mouse had three trials and the mean latency to fall per trial was calculated.

*Thermal Hyperalgesia*: After disease induction mice were tested on alternate days using the Hargreaves test (Hargreaves et al., 1988). This test measures the latency to withdrawal from a noxious heat source applied to the plantar surface of the hind paws. To prevent tissue damage a cut off score of 20 seconds of applied heat was used. Withdrawal latencies were recorded three separate times for each paw and the average withdrawal latency was calculated.

*Cold Allodynia*: A single drop of acetone was applied to the dorsal surface of each hind paw in turn and the duration of response (lifting, guarding, licking or biting) was recorded. On a test day, each paw was tested once separated by at least 5 minutes between tests. The average duration of response from the two hindpaws was then calculated.

*Mechanical Allodynia*: A set of calibrated von Frey hair monofilaments were used to assess the sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli. Mice were placed in clear pexiglass chambers on an elevated wire mesh screen. Calibrated von Frey hair filaments were applied to the plantar surface of each hind paw in ascending order of bending force (range: 0.04g-2.0g). Each hair was applied 5 times per paw and the number of nocifensive responses (vigourous shaking, prolonged lifting, licking or biting of the stimulated paw) were recorded. The monofilament which produced nocifensive responses greater than 60% of the time was taken as the "threshold".

#### 2.1.3 Immunohistochemistry.

Immunohistochemistry was carried out on EAE tissue taken at 3 different time points after disease induction. "Onset": lumbar spinal cords taken from mice at clinical grade 1 (n=4); "Peak": lumbar spinal cords taken from mice at clinical grade 3 or 4 (n=5); "Chronic": lumbar spinal cords taken 4 weeks after EAE induction (n=3). Lumbar spinal cords from mice that only received the CFA and pertussis treatments served as controls (n=3). Mice were anesthetized and sacrificed by transcardiac perfusion with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (PB). The lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord was removed, post-fixed for 3-4 hours

and then transferred to a 30% sucrose solution in 0.1 M PB. Spinal cords were embedded in Tissue Tek\* O.C.T (Optimal Cutting Temperature) compound (Fisher Scientifc, Edmonton, AB), frozen on liquid nitrogen and processed for cryostat sectioning (20µm). The following antibodies were used: (i) rabbit anti-CGRP (1:4000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA), (ii) rabbit anti-galanin (1:4000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA), (iii) rat anti-CD3 (1:200, Serotec, Oxford, UK), (iv) rabbit anti-GFAP (1:1000, Dako, Mississauga, ON), (v) rat anti-F4/80 (1:200, Serotec, Oxford, UK). Primary antibodies were visualized using goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor\*594 secondary antibodies (1:200, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR).

#### 2.1.4 Quantification of immunohistochemistry.

Images were captured with a Hamamatsu Orca ER camera (Hamamatsu Photonics, Hamamatsu, Japan) using a Leica DMI6000 B inverted fluorescence microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). All image analysis and cell counting were carried out by an observer blind to the specific experimental conditions of the tissue being analyzed. The innervation density of CGRP and galanin, GFAP and F4/80 in cross-sections of the lumbar spinal cord from L4 and L5 segments was measured using NIH ImageJ software. Optical density of CGRP, galanin, GFAP and F4/80 immunoreactivity was examined specifically in a standardized region that encompassed the superficial laminae (I-II) of the dorsal horn (3 sections per slide, two slides per animal). The level of background staining was determined for each section and subtracted for all optical density measurements. The number of CD3+ positive cells within the grey matter of the superficial dorsal horn (laminae I-II) was

counted in spinal segments from L4 and L5. Left and right dorsal horns were quantified and an average was calculated per section (3 sections per slide, two slides per animal).

#### 2.1.5 Statistical analysis.

Statistical analysis was carried out using the Student's t-test and two-way repeated measures (RM) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc tests. Significance was set at P<0.05

#### 2.2 Results

# 2.2.1 Disease progression and neurobehavioural deficits in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> model

We first assessed whether there are any observable differences in the disease course of mice with EAE induced with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> from different sources. Both cohorts of mice showed characteristic clinical deficits that developed between days 13 to 19 post induction. Symptoms began as paralysis in the tail (clinical grade 1) and progressed to more severe clinical deficits corresponding to clinical grade 3 (severe hind-limb weakness with slow righting reflex) or clinical grade 4 (hind-limb paralysis in one hind-limb or both) by day 21. Overall there was a significant difference in these clinical deficits over the course of the disease between the two groups (P=0.02, two-way RM-ANOVA) (Fig. 2.1A). The mean day of symptom onset was slightly earlier in mice in the EAE "A" cohort (day 15 vs. 16.5 respectively) and symptom severity was greater in these mice between days 16-19 post induction

compared those in the EAE "B" cohort. While clinical deficits tended to diminish in the later stages of the disease in the EAE "B" cohort (mean clinical score of 2.1 between days 24-28), they remained severe in mice in the EAE "A" cohort during this phase of the disease (mean clinical score of 2.95 between days 24-28) (P<0.05, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 2.1A).

As an adjunct measure of neurological function we also assessed these mice using the rotorod assay. Mice were trained to walk on the rotorod at a fixed rotational speed (16rpm) prior to disease induction. All mice tested can carry out this task without any difficulty and can remain on the rotorod for the full duration of the test (180s). Impairments in gross locomotor ability can therefore be easily detected by a failure to complete this task. Performance on the rototrod test was equally affected in mice from the EAE "A" and EAE "B" cohorts compared to CFA treated controls (CFA vs. EAE "A" and CFA vs. EAE "B"; P<0.001, two-way RM-ANOVA). Deficits in rotorod performance emerged slightly earlier and were more severe in the EAE "A" cohort but there was no statistical difference between the overall performance of these two groups over time (EAE "A" vs. EAE "B"; P=0.38, two-way RM-ANOVA).

Additionally, we analyzed rotorod performance data between the EAE "A" and EAE "B" cohorts at specific clinical grades over the course of the disease. Overall, rotorod performance was not significantly different between the two cohorts of mice at any specific clinical grades (P=0.155, two Way RM-ANOVA) (Fig. 2.1C). Deficits in rotorod performance were however, slightly more pronounced in the EAE "A" cohort at the early stages of disease progression (clinical grade 1 and 2).

Rotorod performance became increasingly impaired as these mice progressed to more severe clinical grades 3 and 4 (Fig.2.1C). In contrast, in the EAE "B" cohort, rotorod performance was only affected at the more severe clinical grades 3 and 4 compared to their baseline activity (Fig. 2.1C). These finding demonstrate that subtle differences in neurological impairments can be detected in mice with EAE depending on the source of the antigen (i.e MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) used to induce the disease. Therefore, we next asked whether these differences in disease symptoms have any effects on pain behaviours in these mice.

#### 2.2.2 No change in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model

We first assessed whether there were any changes in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the hindpaws of mice with EAE. Collectively, mice with EAE (both EAE "A" and EAE "B" groups) showed no significant differences in their withdrawal latencies compared to CFA controls over the majority of the testing period (P=0.55, two-way RM ANOVA)(Fig. 2.2A). At later stages of the disease (day 19 to 25) withdrawal latencies began to increase significantly compared to controls (P<0.05, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 2.2A). This hyposensitivity is most likely explained by the significant impairments in gross locomotor ability seen in these mice at this stage of the disease (Fig. 2.1B,C).

In addition, we analyzed how the specific cohorts of EAE mice responded in this assay at specific stages of disease progression. Responses were assessed at: "Baseline" (mean responses prior to disease induction); "Pre-symptomatic" (mean responses from the first day post induction up the first sign of clinical deficit);

"Onset" (mean responses from mice at clinical grade 1); "Peak" (mean responses from mice at clinical grades 3 and 4); and in the "Chronic" (the mean responses from mice at clinical grade 2 or lower after having reached clinical grade 3 or 4) phase of the disease. There were no significant differences in the withdrawal latencies to noxious heat between the two cohorts of EAE mice at any stage of disease progression (P=0.127, two way RM ANOVA)(Fig. 2.2B). Similarly, withdrawal latencies were not significantly affected at any stage of disease progression within each of the respective cohorts relative to their own baseline responses. These findings suggest that thermal hyperalgesia in the hindpaws is not a major symptom in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model.

# 2.2.3 Cold and Tactile Allodynia are the predominant sensory disturbances in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model

Cold and tactile allodynia are often-reported sensory disturbances in patients with MS (Svendsen et al., 2005). We therefore assessed whether similar symptoms can be detected in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Using the acetone test to detect changes in the sensitivity to innocuous cold stimuli, we find a significant difference in the duration of response to acetone application in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE compared to CFA treated controls over the testing period (P=0.019 two way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 2.3A). Indicative of cold allodynia, responses in EAE mice become significantly prolonged compared to controls early in the course of the disease and persist for several days until severe clinical symptoms appear (Fig 2.3A). When we assess acetone responses in each EAE cohort separately and at specific stages in the disease we

detect no significant differences in response duration between the two cohorts at any stage of the disease (P=0.141, two way RM ANOVA). Cold allodynia was equally evident in mice from the EAE "A" and "B" cohorts with significantly prolonged responses in the earliest stages of the disease at the "Pre-symptomatic" and "Onset" phases relative to their respective baseline responses (P<0.05 Tukey post hoc test) (Fig 2.3B).

Similarly, MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice show a robust tactile allodynia that also becomes apparent prior to any signs of neurological deficit. Withdrawal thresholds to von Frey hair monofilaments drop significantly in mice with EAE compared to CFA treated controls beginning by day 5 post induction and persisting until major clinical deficits emerge in most mice by day 15 (P=0.004 two way RM ANOVA) (Fig 2.4A). Like cold allodynia, tactile hypersensitivity was equally evident in both cohorts of mice with EAE. There are no significant differences in withdrawal thresholds between the two cohorts at different stages of the disease (P=0.75, two way RM ANOVA) (Fig 2.4B). Mice in both the EAE "A" and "B" cohort had similar reductions in their withdrawal thresholds relative to their baseline responses at the "Pre-symptomatic" stage and at disease "Onset" (P<0.05 Tukey post hoc test). At the "Peak" stage of disease allodynia could no longer be detected and withdrawal thresholds were actually elevated compared to baseline responses in both the "A" and "B" groups (Fig. 2.4B). Again, this is most likely a reflection of the significant impairments in gross locomotor function seen in these mice that hinders proper hindlimb function and makes withdrawal responses difficult to carry out. As clinical symptoms abate in some mice in the "Chronic" phase of the disease, we find that
withdrawal thresholds tend to decrease below those seen in the baseline condition (Fig 2.4B). Taken together these findings illustrate that both cold and tactile allodynia are major sensory disturbances that can be detected early in the disease course of the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> model of EAE. This behavioural hypersensitivity to both innocuous cold and tactile stimuli is independent of the specific degree of neurological deficits that arise in the disease.

### 2.2.4 Sensory neuropeptide expression in the spinal dorsal horn in the MOG<sub>35-</sub> <sub>55</sub> EAE model

Having established that sensory processing is significantly affected in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, we next examined potential cellular mechanisms that may underlie these changes. Since there were no significant differences in pain behaviours between the two groups, tissue from EAE "A" and "B" cohorts were pooled for this analysis. We began by examining the expression patterns of two sensory neuropeptides, calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) and galanin, in the superficial dorsal horn from mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE and CFA treated controls. The expression of these neuropeptides is significantly upregulated in the dorsal horn in conditions associated with neuropathic pain and allodynia (Krenz and Weaver, 1998, Bennett et al., 2000, Liu and Hokfelt, 2002, Ondarza et al., 2003). To determine whether similar changes arise in a disease model such as EAE we used immunohistochemistry and quantified the density of staining for CGRP and galanin in laminas I-II of the superficial dorsal horn of mice with EAE and CFA treated controls. Neither CGRP nor galanin staining density changed significantly with EAE

at any time point during disease progression compared to the expression seen in CFA controls (Fig. 2.5A-F)

### 2.2.5 Inflammation and reactive gliosis in the spinal dorsal horn in the MOG<sub>35-</sub> <sub>55</sub> EAE model.

Mounting evidence suggests that inflammation and changes in glial cell reactivity in the spinal cord can significantly influence pain sensitivity in a variety of injury models (DeLeo and Yezierski, 2001, Watkins et al., 2001, Scholz and Woolf, 2007). While it is well established that the characteristic features of EAE models are inflammation and reactive gliosis in the CNS, little attention has been paid to how these reactions proceed in regions of the spinal cord dedicated to processing sensory inputs. We therefore examined the number of T cells present in the superficial dorsal horn as well as astrocyte and microglia/macrophage reactivity in this region at different stages of EAE disease progression.

Using a CD3 antibody (that detects both CD4+ and CD8+ subsets of T cells) we found significant numbers of T cells present in the superficial dorsal horn over the course of the disease (Fig 2.6B-D). In contrast there were virtually no CD3+ cells were found in the superficial dorsal horn of CFA treated control mice (Fig 2.6A). The mean number of T cells present in the superficial dorsal horn was significantly greater in EAE mice at all disease stages compared to CFA treated controls (CFA:  $0.16 \pm 0.1$  vs. "Onset": 87.6 ± 23.6; vs. "Peak": 95 ± 23.3; vs. "Chronic": 15.3 ± 3, P<0.05, t-test) (Fig. 2.6E).

Astrocyte reactivity was also significantly enhanced in mice with EAE compared to CFA controls (Fig. 2.7A-D). The staining density of GFAP in the superficial dorsal horn was significantly greater in EAE mice at all stages of disease progression but was most evident during the "Peak" phase of the disease (P<0.05, ttest) (Fig. 2.7E). Similarly, when we analyzed the expression of F4/80 to assess microglia/macrophage reactivity, we found a significant increase in staining density in this region at all stages of disease progression in EAE mice (Fig. 2.8A-E) (P<0.05, t-test). Unlike T cell and astrocyte responses however, enhanced microglia/macrophage reactivity was most pronounced in the "Chronic" phase of the disease (Fig. 2.8D,E). These findings suggest that, similar to other injury models associated with neuropathic pain behaviours, inflammation and reactive gliosis in the spinal dorsal horn may also be a critical mechanism underlying the behavioural hypersensitivity observed in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model.

#### 2.3 Discussion

It is now recognized that chronic pain is a major symptom associated with MS (Clifford and Trotter, 1984, Moulin et al., 1988, Archibald et al., 1994, Svendsen et al., 2003, Osterberg et al., 2005). To date however, few studies have examined pain related behaviours in the animal model most commonly used to study the pathophysiology of MS, EAE. We have now characterized behavioural changes in sensitivity to noxious heat and mechanical stimuli as well as innocuous cold in mice with a chronic-relapsing form of EAE. Using MOG<sub>35-55</sub> in female C57BL/6 mice, we demonstrate that mice with this form of EAE develop both cold and tactile allodynia

early in the disease process, prior to any overt neurological deficits, similar to some patients with MS (Osterberg et al., 2005, Svendsen et al., 2005). However, increased sensitivity to noxious heat (thermal hyperalgesia) in the hind paws does not appear to be a major symptom in this particular EAE model. At the cellular level, we have identified significant changes in glial reactivity and an increased presence of T cells in the superficial dorsal horn as potential underlying mechanisms for the allodynia observed in these mice.

Similar to MS, clinical deficits in EAE models can follow either a relapsing-remitting, or a chronic-relapsing, disease course. To date however, changes in pain sensitivity have only been examined in one type of EAE model (Aicher et al., 2004). Aicher and colleagues used PLP<sub>131-155</sub> to induce a relapsing-remitting form of EAE in the SJL/J strain of mice and found that mice with this form of the disease develop a thermal hyperalgesia in clinically affected body regions (i.e. the tail) that emerges at the peak of neurological deficits and persists for several weeks. In contrast, we found no significant changes in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the hindpaws of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. The observed differences in heat sensitivity between the PLP<sub>131-155</sub> model and the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model used here may be accounted for by the different assays used (tail-flick vs. "Hargreaves" plantar test) or they may reflect inherent differences in heat sensitivity between the different mouse strains used in these two models (SIL/J vs. C57BL/6) (Mogil et al., 1999). However, a recent clinical report examining pain in MS has highlighted a strong association between the type and severity of pain experienced with MS subtype (Hadjimichael et al., 2007). In addition, recent data from animal studies using a viral model of MS have shown that

SJL/J mice infected with Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) exhibit distinct changes in pain sensitivity to both thermal and mechanical stimuli that are influenced by gender (Lynch et al., 2008). Therefore, it cannot be ruled out that different animal models used to study MS (i.e. PLP<sub>131-155</sub> EAE vs. MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE; EAE vs. TMEV) may generate their own distinct pain "phenotype".

Interestingly, we observed differences in disease course and symptom severity in different cohorts of animals immunized with MOG<sub>35-55</sub>. Even with these differences in the clinical manifestations of the disease, pain behaviours were affected equally in the two cohorts of mice. This suggests that, in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, changes in sensory function and the development of neuropathic pain behaviours are independent of symptom severity and the clinical course of the disease.

Allodynia to cold and tactile stimuli was also evident in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. The most striking observation from these experiments was the development of these symptoms prior to any signs of overt neurological dysfunction. It has been noted that in a large proportion of MS patients with neuropathic pain, that pain can be a major symptom just prior to or immediately at the onset of clinical deficits in the disease (Osterberg et al., 2005). These similarities highlight the usefulness of using the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model to study neuropathic pain in MS.

To assess the underlying mechanisms that mediate the development of cold and tactile allodynia in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, we examined the innervation patterns of two sensory neuropeptides commonly associated with pain processing, CGRP and galanin, in the spinal dorsal horn. Enhanced expression or sprouting of CGRP<sup>+</sup> axons

in the dorsal horn has been identified as an important anatomic substrate for allodynia and autonomic dysreflexia in spinal cord injury models (Krenz and Weaver, 1998, Bennett et al., 2000, Ondarza et al., 2003). Similarly, neuropathic pain in peripheral nerve injury models is associated with significant alteration in the expression of galanin in the superficial dorsal horn (Liu and Hokfelt, 2002). However, in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE we found no changes in CGRP or galanin expression in this region. Therefore, alterations in sensory processing in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model cannot be accounted for by differences in the expression patterns of these "classical" sensory neuropeptides at the spinal level.

Although we found no changes in sensory neuropeptide expression in the superficial dorsal horn we did observe significant numbers of T cells and enhanced reactivity of astrocytes and microglia/macrophages in this region at every stage of the disease ("Onset", "Peak" and "Chronic" phases). Non-neuronal cells such as microglia/macrophages, astrocytes and T cells are now recognized to be integral for the generation and maintenance of central sensitization and neuropathic pain (Watkins et al., 2001, Moalem and Tracey, 2006, Scholz and Woolf, 2007).

T cells are known to traffic into the superficial dorsal horn after peripheral nerve injury (Sweitzer et al., 2002) and mice lacking mature T cells (athymic "nude" mice) do not develop neuropathic pain after peripheral nerve injury (Moalem et al., 2004). Endoneurial T-cells have also been implicated as a potential underlying mechanism of neuritic pain (Eliav et al., 1999). In MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice, CD3+ T cells are abundant in the superficial dorsal horn early in the disease correlating with development of allodynia. T cells most likely affect sensory processing through their

release of pro-inflammatory cytokines that can directly sensitize dorsal horn neurons (Kawasaki et al., 2008). There is also increasing evidence that T cells can produce and secrete neuroptophic factors such as brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Kerschensteiner et al., 1999, Stadelmann et al., 2002). While this suggests that some infiltrating leukocytes in MS may have a neuroprotective role, BDNF is also known to modulate synaptic transmission and neuronal excitability (Kafitz et al., 1999, Lu, 2003) and is as a key mediator in the genesis of central sensitization and pain hypersensitivity (Kerr et al., 1999, Mannion et al., 1999, Coull et al., 2005, Lu et al., 2007). Whether specific subsets of T cells (i.e. CD4+ vs. CD8+; Th1 vs. Th2) differentially affect pain processing in EAE models is an important question that remains to be addressed.

Reactive gliosis in the superficial dorsal horn was also a prominent feature of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Increased reactivity of astrocytes and microglia/macrophages was evident at disease onset and, particularly for microglia, remained significantly elevated into the chronic stages of the disease. Much like T cells, reactive glial cells can modulate spinal excitability and mediate pain hypersensitivity through their production and release of cytokines and growth factors such as BDNF (DeLeo and Yezierski, 2001, Coull et al., 2005). Similar to the neuropathic pain that arises as a result of peripheral nerve lesions, sensitization of spinal pain pathways and the consequent allodynia observed in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model may be triggered by increased activity in these non-neuronal cells in the superficial dorsal horn (Colburn et al., 1999, Hains and Waxman, 2006). In the case of peripheral nerve injury, it has been suggested that injury in the periphery triggers

the neuronal production of mediators such as ATP, the chemokines CCL2 (MCP-2) or fractalkine that directly activate spinal microglia (Tsuda et al., 2003, Milligan et al., 2004, Verge et al., 2004, Zhang and De Koninck, 2006). Whether similar mechanisms are engaged in EAE models needs to be determined. Given that there is little evidence for direct injury to the peripheral nervous system in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, the most likely source of spinal glial activation in the disease is from the initial trafficking of T cells into the CNS. These early inflammatory events may then set off the cascade of responses from astrocytes and microglia that leads the observed behavioural hypersensitivities.

#### 2.4. Conclusions

Taken together our results demonstrate that the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model is a useful tool to study neuropathic pain in MS. Future studies will now be aimed at addressing the specific signaling pathways and cellular mechanisms that mediate the changes in sensory function observed in the disease. A better understanding of these mechanisms will help to tailor future therapies to treat the often-neglected symptoms of neuropathic pain in MS.

### 2.5 Figures





Disease progression in MOG35-55 EAE. (A) Progression of clinical deficits in the EAE "A" and EAE "B" cohorts of mice. Treatments are significantly different (\*P<0.05 two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). (B) Rotorod performance is significantly impaired over time in mice with MOG35-55 EAE. Both cohorts are significantly impaired to CFA treated controls (\*P<0.05, two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice (C) Rotorod performance at specific clinical grades. Rotorod performance is significantly affected in EAE "A" mice at all stages of disease progression relative to their own baseline performance. Rotorod performance was only affected at clinical grades 3 and 4 in the EAE "B" cohort relative to baseline (\*P<0.05 two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). There were no significant differences in overall rotorod ability between the two cohorts at any clinical grade.

Figure 2.2



Sensitivity to noxious heat in MOG35-55 EAE. (A) Mean latency to withdraw from a noxious heat source applied to plantar surface of the hindpaw in MOG35-55 EAE mice and CFA treated controls over time. Overall there is no significant effect of group on withdrawal latencies over the testing period (p=0.55 two way RM ANOVA). Withdrawal latencies only become affected in MOG35-55 mice in the later stages of the disease (\*P<0.05, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice. (B) Withdrawal latencies to noxious heat between the two cohorts of EAE mice at specific stages of disease progression. There are no significant differences in responses between the two cohorts.

Figure 2.3



Sensitivity to innocuous cold in MOG35-55 EAE. (A) The duration of response to a single application of acetone to the hindpaw becomes significantly prolonged in MOG35-55 EAE mice compared to CFA treated controls (\*P<0.05 two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice. Note that an increased duration in response is evident just prior to this period. (B) Duration of acetone responses between the two cohorts of EAE mice at specific stages of disease progression. There is no significant difference in the responses between the two cohorts at any stage. The duration of response was increased in both cohorts at the "Pre symptomatic" and "Onset" stages relative to baseline responses (\*P<0.05, two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test).



#### Figure 2.4

Sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli in MOG35-55 EAE. (A) Nociceptive withdrawal thresholds to von Frey hair stimulation are significantly reduced in MOG35-55 EAE mice compared to CFA treated controls (\*P<0.05, two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice. Note the significant reduction in withdrawal thresholds prior to this period. (B) Withdrawal thresholds between the two cohorts of EAE mice at specific stages of disease progression. There are no significant differences in withdrawal thresholds between the two cohorts at any stage. Withdrawal thresholds are significantly diminished in both cohorts at the "Pre symptomatic" and "Onset" stages relative to baseline responses. Thresholds in the EAE "A" cohort are elevated relative to baseline at the "Peak" stage of disease (\*P<0.05, two way RM-ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test).



Expression of sensory neuropeptides in the superficial dorsal horn in MOG35-55 EAE. (A, B) Examples of CGRP expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA treated control (A) and a MOG35-55 EAE mouse taken from the chronic phase of the disease (B). (C) There is no significant difference in CGRP expression between the two groups. (D, E) Examples of galanin expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA treated control (D) and a MOG35-55 EAE mouse taken from the chronic phase of the disease (E). (F) There is no significant difference in galanin expression between the two groups. Scale bar in E=100µm and applies throughout.



T cell expression in the superficial dorsal horn in MOG35-55 EAE. (A-D) Expression of CD3+ T cells in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA treated control (A) and MOG35-55 EAE mice at disease "Onset" (B), "Peak" (C) and "Chronic" (D) phases of the disease. CD3+ cells were never observed in this region in CFA treated mice. (E) Quantification of CD3+ cells in the superficial dorsal horn. Significant numbers of CD3+ cells are found in this region at all stages of the disease compared to CFA treated controls (\*P<0.05, t-test). Scale bar in D=100µm and applies throughout.



#### Figure 2.7

Astrocyte reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn in MOG35-55 EAE. (A-D) GFAP expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA treated control (A) and MOG35-55 EAE mice at disease "Onset" (B), "Peak" (C) and "Chronic" (D) phases of the disease. (E) There is a slight but significant increase in GFAP expression at all stages of the disease compared to CFA treated controls (\*P<0.05, t-test). Scale bar in D=100µm and applies throughout.



Microglia/macrophage reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn in MOG35-55 EAE. (A-D) F4/80 expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA treated control (A) and MOG35-55 EAE mice at disease "Onset" (B), "Peak" (C) and "Chronic" (D) phases of the disease. (E) There are significant increases in F4/80 expression at all stages of the disease compared to CFA treated controls (\*P<0.05, t-test). Scale bar in D=100µm and applies throughout.

#### **2.6 References**

- Aicher SA, Silverman MB, Winkler CW, Bebo BF, Jr. (2004) Hyperalgesia in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 110:560-570.
- Archibald CJ, McGrath PJ, Ritvo PG, Fisk JD, Bhan V, Maxner CE, Murray TJ (1994) Pain prevalence, severity and impact in a clinic sample of multiple sclerosis patients. Pain 58:89-93.
- Baxter AG (2007) The origin and application of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Rev Immunol 7:904-912.
- Bennett AD, Chastain KM, Hulsebosch CE (2000) Alleviation of mechanical and thermal allodynia by CGRP(8-37) in a rodent model of chronic central pain. Pain 86:163-175.
- Bradl M, Hohlfeld R (2003) Molecular pathogenesis of neuroinflammation. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 74:1364-1370.
- Clifford DB, Trotter JL (1984) Pain in multiple sclerosis. Archives of neurology 41:1270-1272.
- Colburn RW, Rickman AJ, DeLeo JA (1999) The effect of site and type of nerve injury on spinal glial activation and neuropathic pain behavior. Exp Neurol 157:289-304.
- Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, De Koninck Y (2005) BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438:1017-1021.

- DeLeo JA, Yezierski RP (2001) The role of neuroinflammation and neuroimmune activation in persistent pain. Pain 90:1-6.
- Eliav E, Herzberg U, Ruda MA, Bennett GJ (1999) Neuropathic pain from an experimental neuritis of the rat sciatic nerve. Pain 83:169-182.
- Hadjimichael O, Kerns RD, Rizzo MA, Cutter G, Vollmer T (2007) Persistent pain and uncomfortable sensations in persons with multiple sclerosis. Pain 127:35-41.
- Hains BC, Waxman SG (2006) Activated microglia contribute to the maintenance of chronic pain after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 26:4308-4317.
- Hargreaves K, Dubner R, Brown F, Flores C, Joris J (1988) A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. Pain 32:77-88.
- Kafitz KW, Rose CR, Thoenen H, Konnerth A (1999) Neurotrophin-evoked rapid excitation through TrkB receptors. Nature 401:918-921.
- Kalyvas A, David S (2004) Cytosolic phospholipase A2 plays a key role in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis-like disease. Neuron 41:323-335.
- Kawasaki Y, Zhang L, Cheng JK, Ji RR (2008) Cytokine mechanisms of central sensitization: distinct and overlapping role of interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in regulating synaptic and neuronal activity in the superficial spinal cord. J Neurosci 28:5189-5194.
- Kerr BJ, Bradbury EJ, Bennett DL, Trivedi PM, Dassan P, French J, Shelton DB, McMahon SB, Thompson SW (1999) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor modulates nociceptive sensory inputs and NMDA-evoked responses in the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 19:5138-5148.

- Kerschensteiner M, Gallmeier E, Behrens L, Leal VV, Misgeld T, Klinkert WE, Kolbeck
  R, Hoppe E, Oropeza-Wekerle RL, Bartke I, Stadelmann C, Lassmann H,
  Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R (1999) Activated human T cells, B cells, and
  monocytes produce brain-derived neurotrophic factor in vitro and in
  inflammatory brain lesions: a neuroprotective role of inflammation? The
  Journal of experimental medicine 189:865-870.
- Krenz NR, Weaver LC (1998) Sprouting of primary afferent fibers after spinal cord transection in the rat. Neuroscience 85:443-458.
- Liu HX, Hokfelt T (2002) The participation of galanin in pain processing at the spinal level. Trends in pharmacological sciences 23:468-474.
- Lu B (2003) BDNF and activity-dependent synaptic modulation. Learning & memory (Cold Spring Harbor, NY 10:86-98.
- Lu VB, Ballanyi K, Colmers WF, Smith PA (2007) Neuron type-specific effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in rat superficial dorsal horn and their relevance to 'central sensitization'. The Journal of physiology 584:543-563.
- Lynch JL, Gallus NJ, Ericson ME, Beitz AJ (2008) Analysis of nociception, sex and peripheral nerve innervation in the TMEV animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 136:293-304.
- Mannion RJ, Costigan M, Decosterd I, Amaya F, Ma QP, Holstege JC, Ji RR, Acheson A, Lindsay RM, Wilkinson GA, Woolf CJ (1999) Neurotrophins: peripherally and centrally acting modulators of tactile stimulus-induced inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96:9385-9390.

- Milligan ED, Zapata V, Chacur M, Schoeniger D, Biedenkapp J, O'Connor KA, Verge GM, Chapman G, Green P, Foster AC, Naeve GS, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2004)
   Evidence that exogenous and endogenous fractalkine can induce spinal nociceptive facilitation in rats. The European journal of neuroscience 20:2294-2302.
- Moalem G, Tracey DJ (2006) Immune and inflammatory mechanisms in neuropathic pain. Brain research reviews 51:240-264.
- Moalem G, Xu K, Yu L (2004) T lymphocytes play a role in neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury in rats. Neuroscience 129:767-777.
- Mogil JS, Wilson SG, Bon K, Lee SE, Chung K, Raber P, Pieper JO, Hain HS, Belknap JK, Hubert L, Elmer GI, Chung JM, Devor M (1999) Heritability of nociception I: responses of 11 inbred mouse strains on 12 measures of nociception. Pain 80:67-82.
- Moulin DE, Foley KM, Ebers GC (1988) Pain syndromes in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 38:1830-1834.
- Ondarza AB, Ye Z, Hulsebosch CE (2003) Direct evidence of primary afferent sprouting in distant segments following spinal cord injury in the rat: colocalization of GAP-43 and CGRP. Exp Neurol 184:373-380.
- Osterberg A, Boivie J, Thuomas KA (2005) Central pain in multiple sclerosis-prevalence and clinical characteristics. Eur J Pain 9:531-542.
- Owens T, Sriram S (1995) The immunology of multiple sclerosis and its animal model, experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neurol Clin 13:51-73.

- Scholz J, Woolf CJ (2007) The neuropathic pain triad: neurons, immune cells and glia. Nat Neurosci 10:1361-1368.
- Stadelmann C, Kerschensteiner M, Misgeld T, Bruck W, Hohlfeld R, Lassmann H (2002) BDNF and gp145trkB in multiple sclerosis brain lesions: neuroprotective interactions between immune and neuronal cells? Brain 125:75-85.
- Steinman L, Zamvil SS (2006) How to successfully apply animal studies in
   experimental allergic encephalomyelitis to research on multiple sclerosis.
   Annals of neurology 60:12-21.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW (2005) Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 114:473-481.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW (2003) Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Archives of neurology 60:1089-1094.
- Sweitzer SM, Hickey WF, Rutkowski MD, Pahl JL, DeLeo JA (2002) Focal peripheral nerve injury induces leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system: potential relationship to neuropathic pain. Pain 100:163-170.
- Tsuda M, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Koizumi S, Mizokoshi A, Kohsaka S, Salter MW, Inoue K (2003) P2X4 receptors induced in spinal microglia gate tactile allodynia after nerve injury. Nature 424:778-783.
- Verge GM, Milligan ED, Maier SF, Watkins LR, Naeve GS, Foster AC (2004) Fractalkine (CX3CL1) and fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) distribution in

spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia under basal and neuropathic pain conditions. The European journal of neuroscience 20:1150-1160.

- Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF (2001) Glial activation: a driving force for pathological pain. Trends in neurosciences 24:450-455.
- Zhang J, De Koninck Y (2006) Spatial and temporal relationship between monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression and spinal glial activation following peripheral nerve injury. Journal of neurochemistry 97:772-783.

## **CHAPTER 3**

A diminished response to formalin stimulation reveals a role for the glutamate transporters in the altered pain sensitivity of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Revised version published as: A diminished response to formalin stimulation reveals a role for the glutamate transporters in the altered pain sensitivity of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Olechowski CJ, Parmar A, Miller B, Stephan J, Tenorio G, Tran K, Leighton J, Kerr BJ. Pain. 2010 Jun;149(3):565-72. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.03.037

#### **3.0 Introduction**

Chronic pain is now recognized as a major symptom associated with the autoimmune demyelinating disease Multiple Sclerosis (MS) (Clifford and Trotter, 1984, Archibald et al., 1994, Svendsen et al., 2003). Common pain syndromes in MS patients include trigeminal neuralgia, musculoskeletal and neuropathic pain (Moulin et al., 1988). Of these pain syndromes, neuropathic pain is the least understood and most difficult to treat (Svendsen et al., 2005). Neuropathic pain states are thought to arise from the process of central sensitization in the spinal cord (Woolf, 1983). Central sensitization is triggered by inputs from nociceptive afferents and is associated with a reduced threshold for activation of dorsal horn neurons to noxious stimulation (Price et al., 1978).

The activation of glutamate receptors has been strongly implicated in the generation of central sensitization (Coderre and Melzack, 1992). Glutamate receptor activation can be regulated by a family of Na+dependent high affinity glutamate transporters (Danbolt, 2001, Gadea and Lopez-Colome, 2001, Huang and Bergles, 2004). In the spinal cord, three isoforms of glutamate transporters have been described (EAAT-1, EAAT-2, and EAAT-3). EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 are present in glial cells at perisynaptic sites and carry out the majority of glutamate uptake activity (Danbolt, 2001). In the spinal cord, these transporters are concentrated in the superficial dorsal horn (Tao et al., 2005) an area important for sensory input and pain processing. Dysregulation of glutamate transporter activity is associated with a persistent elevation in ambient glutamate and has been implicated as a potential

mechanism for central sensitization and neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury (Sung et al., 2003).

Recently, neuropathic pain behaviours have been described and characterized in two commonly used animal models to study MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and the Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) model (Aicher et al., 2004, Lynch et al., 2008, Olechowski et al., 2009). Mice with EAE and TMEV display characteristic neuropathic pain behaviours such as hyperalgesia to noxious heat and allodynia to cold and mechanical stimuli (Aicher et al., 2004, Lynch et al., 2008, Olechowski et al., 2008). However, the underlying mechanisms that generate neuropathic pain in these models remain unknown. In addition, it remains unclear how the responses to more persistent noxious stimuli are affected in these animals. Given that mice with EAE exhibit a robust allodynia to both cold and mechanical stimulation (Olechowski et al., 2009), we predicted that they would show a similar hypersensitivity in response to more intense noxious stimulation. To our surprise, mice with EAE showed a significant decrease in elicited pain behaviours in response to subcutaneous injection of formalin, a behavioural model of injury-induced central sensitization (Coderre et al., 1990). We show here that these effects are mediated by decreased glutamate transporter expression associated with the disease. Our findings demonstrate that dysregulation of glutamate transporter function is an important mechanism underlying the abnormal pain sensitivity of mice with EAE.

#### 3.1 Methods

All animal studies were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and Policies with the approval from the Animal Care and Use Committee: Health Sciences for the University of Alberta.

#### 3.1.1 Induction of EAE.

A total of 54, 10-12 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice were used. Mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (Saint-Constant, Quebec), housed in standard laboratory cages and had free access to food and water throughout the study period. We induced EAE in mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55 (MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK; MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) obtained from the Peptide Synthesis Facility, University of Calgary (Calgary, AB). EAE was induced by subcutaneous immunization with 50 µg of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). The CFA was supplemented with an additional 4-mg/ml heat killed M. tuberculosis H37Ra (Difco Laboratories) to a final concentration of 5mg/mL. An intraperitoneal injection of 300ng Pertussis toxin (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was administered at the time of induction and again 48 hours later. Control mice were treated with CFA (as above) and Pertussis toxin alone (n=28).

#### 3.1.2 EAE Assessment

. Mice were monitored daily and the clinical signs of EAE were graded on the following scale: Grade 0, normal mouse; Grade 1, flaccid or paralyzed tail. All experimental procedures were carried out once mice reached a score of clinical

Grade 1. We have shown previously that at this stage of the disease, mice with EAE display signs of both cold and tactile allodynia but gross locomotor behaviour is unaffected (Olechowski et al., 2009). To confirm that mice with EAE had no gross locomotor deficits that would interfere with the behavioural responses to subcutaneous formalin, they were tested on a rotorod at a fixed rotational speed of 16rpm. Mice were placed on the rotorod and the latency to fall off was determined. The maximum time for a trial was set at 180s. Mice were trained on the rotorod for two consecutive days prior to disease induction to become familiar with the task. Impairments in gross locomotor function are revealed when animals can no longer remain on the rotorod for the duration of the trial.

#### 3.1.3 Formalin test.

Prior to testing, each animal was allowed to acclimatize to the testing apparatus. The apparatus was an observation box (25cm x 23cm x 15cm) made of clear plexiglass with a raised platform to allow for an unobstructed view of the hind paw. After acclimatization, mice were lightly restrained and given a 30µl subcutaneous injection of a 0.5% formaldehyde in saline solution into the plantar surface of one hind paw. Each mouse was then placed back into the observation box and nociceptive behaviours were monitored and timed in five-minute blocks for a thirtyminute period. Nociceptive beahaviours were defined as licking or lifting of the injected paw, flinching and vigorous shaking. The total time (in seconds) mice spent exhibiting nocicpetive behaviours was determined for the first phase (0-15 minutes) and second phase (15-30 minutes) of the response (CFA n=14; EAE n=9).

#### 3.1.4 Drug treatments.

Cohorts of mice were treated with the drug (R)-(-)-1-methyl-1-nicotinoyl-2pyrazoline (MS-153)(Tran and Leighton, 2006), a compound known to promote glutamate transporter activity (Shimada et al., 1999, Nakagawa et al., 2001). Mice were treated with 10mg/kg I.P. twenty minutes prior to formalin testing (see above) (CFA n=5; EAE n=6). A separate cohort of mice (CFA n=3; EAE n=3) were treated with MS-153 (10mg/kg I.P) and euthanized one hour later without any stimulation to assess FOS expression (see *Immunohistochemistry* below). In a separate experiment, mice (CFA n=5; EAE n=6) were treated with LY-341495 (0.25mg/kg I.P) (Tocris) a selective group II metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) antagonist (Jones et al., 2005) twenty minutes prior to formalin testing.

#### 3.1.5 Immunohistochemistry.

Immunohistochemistry was carried out on CFA or EAE mice at Clinical Grade 1. Spinal cords were taken one hour after MS-153 treatment without any further stimulation or one hour after formalin injection. Mice were euthanized with high dose pentobarbital (Euthanyl: 240mg/ml) and transcardiac perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (PB). The lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord was removed, post-fixed for 3-4 hours and then transferred to a 30% sucrose solution in 0.1 M PB. Spinal cords were embedded in Tissue Tek<sup>®</sup> O.C.T (Optimal Cutting Temperature) compound (Fisher Scientific, Edmonton, AB), frozen on liquid nitrogen and processed for cryostat sectioning (20µm). The primary

antibody used was rabbit-anti c-FOS (1:1000, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA). The primary antibody was visualized using goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor®594 secondary antibodies (1:200, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR).

#### 3.1.6 Quantification of immunohistochemistry.

Images were captured with a Zeiss Axiocam MRm camera (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) using a Zeiss Observer.Z1 inverted fluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). All image analysis and cell counting were carried out by an observer blind to the specific experimental conditions of the tissue being analyzed. FOS positive cells were identified in the superficial dorsal horn (lamiae I-III). Cells were counted from dorsal horns ipsilateral and contralateral to the injection. For FOS quantification from unstimulated mice, FOS positive cells were counted from both dorsal horns, pooled and then averaged. 3 sections per slide, 2 slides per animal were analyzed.

#### 3.1.7 Western blots.

Protein samples (20 µg) were separated on a 10% SDS gel. The samples were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Biorad). The membranes were blocked in 5% milk in PBS-Tween-20 (PBS-T) (0.05%), and then incubated overnight at 4 ° C in primary antibodies EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 (1: 500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), pNR1<sup>Ser896</sup>, pNR1<sup>Ser897</sup> (1:1000, Cedarlane Laboratories) and NR1 (1:1000, Sigma), diluted in PBS-T. The membranes were then washed in PBS-T and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies (goat anti rabbit;

Jackson ImmunoResearch) diluted at 1:50,000. The membranes were washed and binding of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies detected using chemiluminescence. (Western Lightning Chemiluminescence Reagent Plus, Perkin-Elmer). Membranes were re-probed with monoclonal mouse anti-β-actin (1:2000, Sigma) to ensure equal loading of samples. The films were scanned and the changes in protein expression levels between CFA and EAE mice as a ratio were quantified using ImageJ software.

#### 3.1.8 Statistical analysis.

Statistical analysis was carried out using the Student's t-test and one-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc tests. Significance was set at P<0.05.

#### 3.2 Results

# 3.2.1 Diminished pain behaviours in response to formalin stimulation in EAE mice

To determine how mice with EAE respond to a persistent noxious stimulus we assessed their behaviour in the formalin test (Coderre et al., 1993). Prior to testing, mice with EAE (clinical grade 1) were assessed for gross locomotor function using the rotorod test. No significant deficits in gross locomotor function or coordination were observed in these animals at this stage of the disease (Fig. 3.1A, also see (Olechowski et al., 2009)). Following formalin injection, mice with EAE showed significantly reduced pain behaviours when compared to the CFA control mice. Decreased nociceptive behaviours were evident in both phase 1 (P=0.001, t-

test)(Fig. 3.1B) and even more strikingly in phase 2 of the formalin response (P<0.001, t-test)(Fig. 3.1C).

#### 3.2.2 Diminished glutamate transporter expression in EAE mice

Second phase nociceptive behaviours in the formalin test are related to activity at glutamate receptors (Yashpal et al., 2001). We therefore examined the expression of key regulators of glutamate receptor activity, the glutamate transporters (Danbolt, 2001) in mice with EAE. We began by examining glutamate transporter expression in the spinal cord of EAE mice in the absence of any noxious stimulation. Western blots determined that in the spinal cords of mice with EAE at clinical grade 1, there is a significant reduction of EAAT-1 (P=0.001, t-test) (Fig. 3.2A-B). There is an even more dramatic reduction in EAAT-2 expression, which is decreased to approximately 50% of the levels seen in CFA control mice (P<0.001, t-test) (Fig. 3.2C-D).

# 3.2.3 Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits in spinal cords of EAE mice

Given the down regulation of glutamate transporters in EAE mice we next wanted to assess how this might affect activity at glutamate receptors. Phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor is known to correlate with changes in nociceptive behaviours (Zou et al., 2000). In the absence of any noxious stimulation, phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit at both the serine 896 and serine 897 sites is significantly greater in the spinal cord of mice with EAE compared to CFA controls.

NR1 phosphorylation at serine 896 was found to be 72% higher in EAE spinal cords compared to CFA control mice (P<0.001, t-test)(Fig. 3.3A,D) while phosphorylation at the serine 897 site was elevated by 65% (P<0.001, t-test)(Fig. 3.3B,E). The levels of total NR1 protein were slightly reduced in the spinal cord of EAE mice but these differences were not significant (Fig. 3.3C, F).

#### 3.2.4 Increased cellular activation in the spinal cords of EAE mice

To determine what might account for the increased phosphorylation of NMDA receptors in the unstimulated EAE spinal cord, we assessed the patterns of ongoing cellular activity in the superficial dorsal horn of mice with EAE and CFA controls. Using the protein product of the immediate early gene *c-fos* as a marker for cellular activity (Hunt et al., 1987), we find that in the absences of any noxious stimulation, FOS expression is significantly higher throughout the dorsal horn of mice with EAE compared to CFA controls (mean EAE FOS+ cells:  $112 \pm 9$  vs. CFA FOS+ cells:  $20 \pm 6$ , P<0.001, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 3.4A-B,E).

To establish if a loss of glutamate uptake capacity might account for this increase in cellular activation in the dorsal horn of EAE mice we assessed FOS expression after treating mice with MS-153, a compound that promotes glutamate transporter activity (Shimada et al., 1999, Nakagawa et al., 2001). In EAE mice, MS-153 treatment leads to a significant reduction in FOS positive cells in the dorsal horn compared to the untreated EAE spinal cord (EAE FOS+ cells: 112 ± 9 vs. EAE/MS153 FOS+ cells: 77 ± 8, P=0.04, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 3.4C-D,E). FOS expression does however, remain significantly higher in these mice compared to

CFA controls (EAE+MS153 vs. CFA, P=0.003; EAE+MS153 vs. CFA+MS153, P=0.01, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 3.4E) suggesting that additional factors also contribute to the enhanced basal activation of cells in the dorsal horn of EAE mice.

#### 3.2.5 Cellular activation in response to formalin stimulation

We next assessed how cells in the dorsal horn of EAE mice respond to intense noxious stimulation with formalin. As expected, CFA control mice show a dramatic (approximately 4-fold) increase in the number FOS positive cells in the superficial dorsal horn ipsilateral to formalin stimulation (Fig. 3.5A, compare to Fig. 3.4A). In contrast, formalin stimulation triggers little change in the activation of cells in the dorsal horn of EAE mice. There is virtually no change in FOS expression compared to baseline levels (Fig. 3.5B, compare to Fig. 3.4B). Thus, in agreement with their behavioural phenotypes, CFA control mice are significantly more responsive at the cellular level after formalin stimulation than mice with EAE (P=0.001, t-test) (Fig. 3.5C).

# 3.2.6 Decreased phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits in the spinal cord of EAE mice in response to formalin stimulation

In the absence of stimulation, EAE mice display enhanced cellular activation and phosphorylation of NR1 subunits. Following formalin stimulation they become hyporesponsive behaviourally and have little change in their patterns of cellular activation. Therefore, we next assessed how phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits is affected by formalin stimulation in EAE mice. Following formalin

injection there is a significant decrease in the phosphorylation at the serine 896 site of the NR1 subunit in the spinal cords of EAE mice compared to CFA controls (P=0.035, t-test) (Fig. 3.6A,C). Phosphorylation at the serine 897 site of the NR1 subunit remains elevated in the EAE spinal cord after formalin stimulation but is no longer significantly different from the levels seen in CFA control mice (P=0.607, t test) (Fig. 3.6B and 3.6D). Taken together, these results suggest that in response to intense noxious stimulation, inhibitory signaling pathways may be engaged more readily in EAE mice.

#### 3.2.7 Normalization of formalin responses in EAE mice

Decreased glutamate transporter expression can be associated with significant increases in ambient glutamate levels in the spinal cord (Sung et al., 2003, Liaw et al., 2005). Given the reduced levels of glutamate transporters in EAE mice, we hypothesized that following formalin stimulation, levels of extracellular glutamate might be elevated sufficiently so that presynaptic inhibitory mGluRs become activated more readily (Yamamoto et al., 2004, Jones et al., 2005). Increased activation of these inhibitory pathways in EAE mice could then account for the lack of responsiveness to formalin stimulation. To investigate this, we treated mice with an mGluR2/3 antagonist, LY-341495 prior to formalin injection. The nociceptive responses to formalin injection in EAE mice receiving LY-341495 were indistinguishable from CFA treated controls. Nociceptive behaviours were normalized in EAE mice compared to CFA controls in both phases of the formalin response (Phase 1: P=0.183, t-test)(Phase 2: P=0.387, t-test) (Fig. 3.7A-B).

To verify that these effects are mediated by a dysregulation of glutamate transporters in EAE, we assessed formalin responses after treatment with the drug MS-153. Like LY-341495, treatment with MS-153 was found to normalize the behavioural response to formalin to that of CFA controls (Phase 1: P=0.156, t-test) (Phase 2: P=0.668, t-test) (Fig. 3.7C-D). These results demonstrate that the diminished responsiveness to formalin stimulation in EAE can be accounted for by a disturbance in the glutamate uptake system.

#### 3.3 Discussion

Previously, we have shown that mice with EAE exhibit a robust allodynia in response to acute application of innocuous cold and mechanical stimuli (Olechowski et al., 2009). We have now examined how these mice respond to a more persistent and intense noxious stimulus using the formalin model of injury-induced sensitization (Coderre et al., 1993). Unexpectedly, mice with EAE were hyporesponsive in this model, exhibiting significantly less nociceptive behaviours during both phases of the response. We show that the lack of behavioural response to formalin stimulation in these mice can be accounted for by a decreased expression of the glutamate transporters, EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 in the spinal cord. Deficits in glutamate uptake arising from the downregulation of EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 in EAE mice was predicted to allow excessive amounts of extracellular glutamate to accumulate and engage presynaptic inhibitory mGluRs more readily after formalin stimulation. By treating EAE mice with LY-341495, an antagonist for inhibitory group II mGluRs, or by promoting glutamate transporter activity with the drug MS-
153, we were able to normalize the formalin response in EAE mice. Importantly, we also show that in the absence of noxious stimulation, the spinal cords of EAE mice display signs of ongoing cellular activation and hyperexcitability that is mediated in part by the decreased levels of EAAT-1 and EAAT-2. These findings have direct implications for the underlying causes of neuropathic pain in MS.

The glutamate transporters are important for regulating the levels of extracellular glutamate at the synapse. Decreased expression of the glutamate transporters has been observed in post mortem samples from patients with MS and rats with EAE (Ohgoh et al., 2002, Vercellino et al., 2007, Pampliega et al., 2008). Glutamate transporters have also been found to be decreased in other pathologies that are associated with neuropathic pain such as after spinal cord and peripheral nerve injury (Tao et al., 2005). Spinal cord injury, MS and peripheral nerve injury are all pathologies associated with an increased inflammatory response in the CNS. Inflammation and reactive gliosis are recognized as integral processes in triggering central sensitization and neuropathic pain (Watkins et al., 2001, Moalem and Tracev. 2006, Scholz and Woolf, 2007). Inflammatory cytokines are also known to influence glutamate transporter expression *in vitro* (Tilleux and Hermans, 2007). Previously, we have demonstrated that mice with EAE show significant increases in the reactivity of microglia/macrophages along with high numbers of T-cells in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord even at the earliest stages of disease (Olechowski et al., 2009). Given that these cell types are a major source for many of the cytokines known to influence transporter expression and trafficking, it is also likely that this

early inflammatory response in the dorsal horn can account for the downregulation of EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 observed here.

A physiological consequence of decreased glutamate transporter expression in EAE mice would be an elevation in ambient extracellular glutamate levels at the synapse. Loss of these transporters could also lead to "spillover" of glutamate into nearby or adjacent synapses and the activation of distant cells. Using FOS as a marker of cellular activation, we find that, even in the absence of noxious stimulation, mice with EAE have a high level of ongoing cellular activity that is distributed throughout the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. This pattern of activity could be significantly reduced following treatment with MS-153, a compound that promotes glutamate uptake activity (Shimada et al., 1999, Nakagawa et al., 2001). While MS-153 could reduce the levels of FOS expression compared to untreated EAE mice, FOS expression was still significantly elevated in EAE mice treated with MS-153 compared to CFA controls. This suggests that additional factors also contribute to the ongoing cellular activation in the dorsal horn of EAE mice. The most likely source for these signals is the high level of reactive gliosis and inflammation found in the superficial dorsal horn of EAE mice. Reactive glia and inflammatory cells can release a number of mediators, including glutamate, which could increase the excitability and activation of neurons in the spinal cord (Watkins et al., 2001, Tilleux and Hermans, 2007). The high degree of basal activity might also account for the enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits seen in these mice prior to noxious stimulation. This high degree of excitability and activation suggests a likely mechanism for the hypersensitivity/allodynia observed in these animals in

response to acutely delivered innocuous stimuli (Olechowski et al., 2009). While changes in the sensitivity of peripheral nociceptors can not be excluded as a potential mechanism mediating these effects, we have previously shown that at this early stage of the disease there are no significant changes in the levels of afferent derived CGRP or galanin in the dorsal horn (Olechowski et al., 2009). It is therefore unlikely that alterations in the content of peripherally derived neuromodulators are mediating these effects.

In contrast, mice with EAE are hyporesponsive following persistent, intense noxious stimulation with formalin. Interestingly, this behavioural profile might also be accounted for by the loss of glutamate transporter expression in these mice. Studies using naïve, adult rats have shown that formalin responses can be significantly attenuated following antisense knockdown of EAAT-2 (Niederberger et al., 2003). It has been postulated that under conditions associated with a rapid increase in glutamate release from primary afferents (such as after formalin stimulation), that blockade or loss of transporter expression may result in an elevation in the levels of extracellular glutamate sufficiently so that it begins to act upon inhibitory presynaptic mGluRs (Maki et al., 1994, Niederberger et al., 2003). It is well established that agonists for pre-synaptic, inhibitory mGluR2/3 receptors can suppress formalin responses and these effects can be reversed by the antagonist LY-341495 (Simmons et al., 2002, Jones et al., 2005). In EAE mice, the loss of glutamate transporter expression coupled with the surge of afferent derived glutamate following formalin might lead to elevations in the levels of extracellular glutamate such that these inhibitory receptors are engaged more readily. These

processes would suppress glutamate release, decrease spinal activation and inhibit pain processing.

The idea that there is greater engagement of pre-synaptic inhibitory pathways in EAE mice after intense noxious stimulation is supported by our observations that the cellular activation of dorsal horn neurons in response to formalin is unaffected in mice with EAE compared to CFA controls. Additionally, formalin stimulation leads to a significant decrease in the phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit on EAE mice, particularly at the serine 896 site, suggesting that inhibitory mechanisms are being engaged under these conditions. By treating EAE mice with the selective group II mGluR antagonist, LY-341495 prior to formalin stimulation, we were able to restore formalin responses back to control levels. Furthermore, by promoting glutamate transporter activity in EAE mice with MS-153 we find a similar normalization of behaviours. This restoration of pain behaviours suggests that the initial lack of responsiveness to formalin in EAE mice does not arise due to a specific deficit in peripheral afferent input but instead highlights the role of central inhibitory mechanisms in these processes.

Alternatively, the diminished pain behaviours in EAE mice after formalin stimulation may be accounted for by a process of "reverse transport" by the glutamate transporters themselves (Phillis et al., 2000, Rossi et al., 2000). The proper functioning of the glutamate transporters is dependent on membrane potential and specific transmembrane ion gradients (Erecinska, 1989, Sarantis and Attwell, 1990). Under pathological conditions, metabolic insults can disrupt intracellular energy stores and perturb ionic gradients such that the transporters

begin to "reverse transport" glutamate out into the extracellular space (Rossi et al., 2000). Instead of absorbing excess extracellular glutamate, the transporters can become a primary source for elevating ambient glutamate levels. This phenomenon has been documented in cases of brain ischemia and in the acute phase after spinal cord injury (McAdoo et al., 2000, Rossi et al., 2000). Interestingly, it has been observed that the inflammatory insults that are the hallmarks of MS and EAE are also associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, energy failure and altered ion exchange mechanisms (Friese et al., 2007). These metabolic insults may therefore trigger a similar inverse operation of the transporters in MS and EAE. If ambient glutamate levels were elevated through these processes this could account for the allodynia and ongoing cellular activity observed in EAE mice in the absence of intense noxious stimulation. On the other hand, formalin injection itself may also be capable of triggering "reverse transport" of glutamate (Tao et al., 2005). In EAE mice, this could have an additive effect and elevate glutamate levels beyond a threshold that results in the recruitment of pre-synaptic inhibitory mGluRs and thus an attenuation of pain behaviours.

#### **3.4 Conclusions**

In summary, we now provide evidence that decreased expression of spinal glutamate transporters is an important mechanism contributing to the altered pain sensitivity of mice with EAE. Dysregulated glutamate transporter function in these mice can account for the impaired behavioural responses to formalin stimulation and also sheds light on a potential mechanism mediating the allodynia observed in this model. Given the importance of glutamate in pain processing, the glutamate

transporters may represent a novel pathway in which to manipulate activity at glutamate receptor complexes, control spinal excitability and manage neuropathic pain.

### 3.5 Figures

Figure 3.1



Responses to formalin injection in MOG35-55 EAE mice. (A) Gross locomotor behaviour is not affected in EAE mice at clinical grade 1. Mice with EAE show no impairments in the rotorod test at this stage of the disease. (B) Duration of nociceptive responses for phase 1 (0 to 15 minutes after formalin injection). The response to formalin is significantly decreased in EAE mice compared to CFAtreated controls (\*P=0.001, t-test). (C) Duration of formalin responses in phase 2 (15 to 30 minutes after formalin injection). Responses are significantly decreased in EAE mice compared to CFA control mice (\*P<0.001, t-test).



Spinal EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 expression in MOG35-55 EAE mice. (A) There is significantly diminished expression of EAAT-1 in the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset compared to CFA controls mice. (B) Quantification of the Western blots for EAAT-1 (\*P=0.001, t-test). (C) EAAT-2 glutamate transporter expression is also significantly diminished in the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA controls. (D) Quantification of the Western blots for EAAT-2 (\*P<0.001, t-test).



Phosphorylation of NR1 subunits in the spinal cord of MOG35-55 EAE mice. (A) There is a significant increase in the phosphorylation of NR1 at Ser896 in EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA controls. (B) Phosphorylation of NR1 at Ser897 is significantly increased in EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA controls. (C) Total NR1 expression is relatively unaffected in EAE spinal cords compared CFA controls. (D) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1Ser896 phosphorylation (\*P<0.001, t-test). (E) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1Ser897 phosphorylation (\*P<0.001, t-test). (F) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1. There is no significant different between the groups (P>0.05, t-test).



#### Figure 3.4

FOS expression in the spinal dorsal horn of MOG35-55 EAE mice. (A, B) Representative images of FOS expression in the superficial dorsal horn from CFA (A) and EAE (B) mice in the absence of stimulation. (C, D) Representative images of FOS expression in the superficial dorsal horn from CFA (C) and EAE (D) mice after treatment with MS-153 treatment in the absence of stimulation. (E) Quantification of FOS positive cells in the superficial dorsal horn. There is a significant increase in FOS expression in the dorsal horn of EAE mice compared to CFA controls. FOS expression is significantly decreased in EAE mice treated with MS-153 when compared to EAE mice without MS-153 treatment. FOS expression is still significantly higher in EAE+MS153 mice compared CFA controls (\*P=0.01, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test, (P=0.01, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). Scale bar in D= 200µm and applies throughout.





FOS expression in dorsal horn of MOG35-55 EAE mice after formalin. (A, B) Representative images of FOS expression in the ipsilateral superficial dorsal horn from CFA (A) and EAE (B) mice after formalin injection. (C) Relative to the unstimulated condition there is a 4-fold increase in FOS expression in CFA mice after formalin injection. Relative to the un-stimulated condition, FOS expression remains unchanged in the EAE spinal cord after formalin injection (\*P=0.001, t-test).

Figure 3.6



NR1 subunit phosphorylation after formalin injection. (A) There is a significant decrease in NR1Ser896 phosphorylation after formalin injection in EAE mice when compared to spinal cords from CFA controls. (B) Phosphorylation of NR1Ser897 is not significantly different between CFA and EAE spinal cords after formalin injection. (C) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1Ser896 phosphorylation (\*P=0.035, t-test). (D) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1Ser897 phosphorylation (P=0.607). NS=not significant.

Figure 3.7



Responses to formalin injection in EAE mice after treatment with LY-341495 or MS-153. (A) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 1 of the formalin test after LY-341495 treatment. There is no significant difference in displayed pain behaviours between the CFA control and EAE mice (P=0.183). (B) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 2 of the formalin test after LY-341495 treatment. There is no significant difference in displayed pain behaviours between the two groups (P=0.387). (C) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 1 of the formalin test with MS-153 treatment. There is no significant difference in nociceptive responses between CFA and EAE mice (P=0.156). (D) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 2 of the formalin test with MS-153 treatment. There is no significant difference in nociceptive responses between CFA and EAE mice (P=0.668). NS=not significant.

#### **3.6 References**

Aicher SA, Silverman MB, Winkler CW, Bebo BF, Jr. (2004) Hyperalgesia in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 110:560-570.

Archibald CJ, McGrath PJ, Ritvo PG, Fisk JD, Bhan V, Maxner CE, Murray TJ (1994) Pain prevalence, severity and impact in a clinic sample of multiple sclerosis patients. Pain 58:89-93.

Clifford DB, Trotter JL (1984) Pain in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 41:1270-1272.

- Coderre TJ, Fundytus ME, McKenna JE, Dalal S, Melzack R (1993) The formalin test: a validation of the weighted-scores method of behavioural pain rating. Pain 54:43-50.
- Coderre TJ, Melzack R (1992) The contribution of excitatory amino acids to central sensitization and persistent nociception after formalin-induced tissue injury. J Neurosci 12:3665-3670.
- Coderre TJ, Vaccarino AL, Melzack R (1990) Central nervous system plasticity in the tonic pain response to subcutaneous formalin injection. Brain Res 535:155-158.

Danbolt NC (2001) Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 65:1-105.

Erecinska M (1989) Stimulation of the Na+/K+ pump activity during electrogenic uptake of acidic amino acid transmitters by rat brain synaptosomes. J Neurochem 52:135-139.

- Friese MA, Craner MJ, Etzensperger R, Vergo S, Wemmie JA, Welsh MJ, Vincent A,
  Fugger L (2007) Acid-sensing ion channel-1 contributes to axonal
  degeneration in autoimmune inflammation of the central nervous system.
  Nat Med 13:1483-1489.
- Gadea A, Lopez-Colome AM (2001) Glial transporters for glutamate, glycine and GABA I. Glutamate transporters. J Neurosci Res 63:453-460.
- Huang YH, Bergles DE (2004) Glutamate transporters bring competition to the synapse. Curr Opin Neurobiol 14:346-352.
- Hunt SP, Pini A, Evan G (1987) Induction of c-fos-like protein in spinal cord neurons following sensory stimulation. Nature 328:632-634.
- Jones CK, Eberle EL, Peters SC, Monn JA, Shannon HE (2005) Analgesic effects of the selective group II (mGlu2/3) metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists LY379268 and LY389795 in persistent and inflammatory pain models after acute and repeated dosing. Neuropharmacology 49 Suppl 1:206-218.
- Liaw WJ, Stephens RL, Jr., Binns BC, Chu Y, Sepkuty JP, Johns RA, Rothstein JD, Tao YX (2005) Spinal glutamate uptake is critical for maintaining normal sensory transmission in rat spinal cord. Pain 115:60-70.
- Lynch JL, Gallus NJ, Ericson ME, Beitz AJ (2008) Analysis of nociception, sex and peripheral nerve innervation in the TMEV animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 136:293-304.
- Maki R, Robinson MB, Dichter MA (1994) The glutamate uptake inhibitor L-transpyrrolidine-2,4-dicarboxylate depresses excitatory synaptic transmission via

a presynaptic mechanism in cultured hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 14:6754-6762.

- McAdoo DJ, Xu G, Robak G, Hughes MG, Price EM (2000) Evidence that reversed glutamate uptake contributes significantly to glutamate release following experimental injury to the rat spinal cord. Brain Res 865:283-285.
- Moalem G, Tracey DJ (2006) Immune and inflammatory mechanisms in neuropathic pain. Brain Res Rev 51:240-264.
- Moulin DE, Foley KM, Ebers GC (1988) Pain syndromes in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 38:1830-1834.
- Nakagawa T, Ozawa T, Shige K, Yamamoto R, Minami M, Satoh M (2001) Inhibition of morphine tolerance and dependence by MS-153, a glutamate transporter activator. Eur J Pharmacol 419:39-45.
- Niederberger E, Schmidtko A, Rothstein JD, Geisslinger G, Tegeder I (2003) Modulation of spinal nociceptive processing through the glutamate transporter GLT-1. Neuroscience 116:81-87.
- Ohgoh M, Hanada T, Smith T, Hashimoto T, Ueno M, Yamanishi Y, Watanabe M, Nishizawa Y (2002) Altered expression of glutamate transporters in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 125:170-178.
- Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ (2008) Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain.
- Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ (2009) Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 141:156-164.

- Pampliega O, Domercq M, Villoslada P, Sepulcre J, Rodriguez-Antiguedad A, Matute C (2008) Association of an EAAT2 polymorphism with higher glutamate concentration in relapsing multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 195:194-198.
- Phillis JW, Ren J, O'Regan MH (2000) Transporter reversal as a mechanism of glutamate release from the ischemic rat cerebral cortex: studies with DLthreo-beta-benzyloxyaspartate. Brain Res 868:105-112.
- Price DD, Hayes RL, Ruda M, Dubner R (1978) Spatial and temporal transformations of input to spinothalamic tract neurons and their relation to somatic sensations. J Neurophysiol 41:933-947.
- Rossi DJ, Oshima T, Attwell D (2000) Glutamate release in severe brain ischaemia is mainly by reversed uptake. Nature 403:316-321.
- Sarantis M, Attwell D (1990) Glutamate uptake in mammalian retinal glia is voltageand potassium-dependent. Brain Res 516:322-325.
- Scholz J, Woolf CJ (2007) The neuropathic pain triad: neurons, immune cells and glia. Nat Neurosci 10:1361-1368.
- Shimada F, Shiga Y, Morikawa M, Kawazura H, Morikawa O, Matsuoka T, Nishizaki T, Saito N (1999) The neuroprotective agent MS-153 stimulates glutamate uptake. Eur J Pharmacol 386:263-270.
- Simmons RM, Webster AA, Kalra AB, Iyengar S (2002) Group II mGluR receptor agonists are effective in persistent and neuropathic pain models in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 73:419-427.

- Sung B, Lim G, Mao J (2003) Altered expression and uptake activity of spinal glutamate transporters after nerve injury contribute to the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain in rats. J Neurosci 23:2899-2910.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW (2005) Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 114:473-481.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW (2003) Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch Neurol 60:1089-1094.
- Tao YX, Gu J, Stephens RL, Jr. (2005) Role of spinal cord glutamate transporter during normal sensory transmission and pathological pain states. Mol Pain 1:30.
- Tilleux S, Hermans E (2007) Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 85:2059-2070.
- Tran K, Leighton JL (2006) A simple, efficient, and highly enantioselective synthesis of MS-153 employing a chiral silane lewis acid-promoted acylhydrazone-enol ether [3+2] cycloaddition. Adv Synth Catal 348:2431-2436.
- Vercellino M, Merola A, Piacentino C, Votta B, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P (2007) Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsingremitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:732-739.
- Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF (2001) Glial activation: a driving force for pathological pain. Trends Neurosci 24:450-455.

Woolf CJ (1983) Evidence for a central component of post-injury pain hypersensitivity. Nature 306:686-688.

- Yamamoto T, Hirasawa S, Wroblewska B, Grajkowska E, Zhou J, Kozikowski A, Wroblewski J, Neale JH (2004) Antinociceptive effects of Nacetylaspartylglutamate (NAAG) peptidase inhibitors ZJ-11, ZJ-17 and ZJ-43 in the rat formalin test and in the rat neuropathic pain model. Eur J Neurosci 20:483-494.
- Yashpal K, Fisher K, Chabot JG, Coderre TJ (2001) Differential effects of NMDA and group I mGluR antagonists on both nociception and spinal cord protein kinase C translocation in the formalin test and a model of neuropathic pain in rats. Pain 94:17-29.
- Zou X, Lin Q, Willis WD (2000) Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor 1 subunits in spinal cord dorsal horn and spinothalamic tract neurons after intradermal injection of capsaicin in rats. J Neurosci 20:6989-6997.

### **CHAPTER 4**

Changes in pain sensitivity and cognitive dysfunction are independent of disease severity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Revised Version Published as: <u>Changes in nociceptive sensitivity and object</u> <u>recognition in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)</u>. Olechowski CJ, Tenorio G, Sauve Y, Kerr BJ. Exp Neurol. 2013 Jan 2. doi:pii: S0014-4886(12)00469-4. 10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.12.012

#### **Introduction 4.0**

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) that leads to severe neurological disabilities. MS is also associated with a high incidence of cognitive impairments and neuropathic pain (Osterberg et al., 2005, He et al., 2011). Central neuropathic pain (CNP), which is thought to arise from lesions or dysfunction in the CNS, affects an estimated one third of MS patients who report pain as a major symptom of the disease(Svendsen et al., 2003, Svendsen et al., 2005). An estimated 40% to 60% of MS patients also have cognitive deficits, the most frequent being disorders of memory (He et al., 2000, Jongen et al., 2012). Disturbed memory processing can be detected in the early stages of MS and has been found to progress over time in all disease subtypes (Mandolesi et al., 2010, He et al., 2011). Although both CNP and cognitive impairments are identified in the literature as prominent symptoms reported by MS patients, little is understood about their underlying cellular mechanisms. Currently,

The animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is a well-established model that has been used to study the pathophysiology of MS for over fifty years (Owens and Sriram, 1995). Despite this, it has only been recently that the model has been used to characterize changes in pain sensitivity in the disease (Musgrave et al., 2011b). Previously, we have demonstrated that neuropathic pain behaviours are present before and at disease onset in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> mouse model of EAE (Olechowski et al., 2009). We have also reported that changes

in pain sensitivity to a persistent noxious stimulus are a result of decreased expression of the EAAT-2 glutamate transporter (Olechowski et al., 2010). Changes in acute pain behaviours in an EAE rat model have also been shown to be associated with decreased glutamate transporter expression (Ramos et al., 2010). Dysregulation of glutamate transporter activity is associated with a persistent elevation in ambient glutamate and has been implicated as a potential mechanism for central sensitization and neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury (Sung et al., 2003).

In clinical populations, there is a strong association between chronic pain and cognitive dysfunction. However, studies using the EAE model to examine changes in cognitive function are lacking. To address this, we have carried out a series of experiments to further explore the relationship between changes in pain sensitivity and cognitive function in mice with EAE. We have monitored changes in cognitive ability using a standard behavioral assay for object recognition to determine if altered pain sensitivity is also associated with behavioral signs indicative of cognitive impairment in EAE. Using different severities of EAE we have also assessed whether changes in somatosensory and cognitive processing are dependent on the magnitude of overt clinical signs in the disease. Finally, we sought to determine whether a common underlying mechanism could mediate these changes in behavior in mice with EAE. We show here that dysregulated expression at the spinal level of the glutamate transporter subtype EAAT-2 is a common feature of EAE independent of disease severity, and promoting EAAT-2 expression using the

 $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone (Rothstein et al., 2005) can normalize pain sensitivity and object recognition in EAE.

#### 4.1 Methods

All animal studies were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and Policies with the approval from the Animal Care and Use Committee: Health Sciences for the University of Alberta.

#### 4.1.1 Induction of EAE.

A total of 58, 10–12 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice were used. Mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (Saint-Constant, Quebec), housed in standard laboratory cages and had free access to food and water throughout the study period. We induced EAE in mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35–55, (MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK;MOG35–55) obtained from the Peptide Synthesis Facility, University of Calgary (Calgary, AB). EAE was induced by subcutaneous immunization with 50 µg of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), (Sigma–Aldrich,Oakville, ON). To generate different severities of EAE the CFA was supplemented with an additional 4-mg/ml heat killed Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Ra (Difco Laboratories) to a final concentration of 6 mg/ml. The final concentration of CFA in the emulsion was then varied across groups (EAE Mild CFA 0.5mg/ml; EAE Moderate CFA 1.5 mg/ml; EAE Strong CFA 3 mg/ml). An intraperitoneal (I.P.) injection of 300 ng Pertussis toxin (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was administered at the time of induction and again 48 h later. Control mice were treated with CFA (as above) and Pertussis toxin alone (n = 20).

#### 4.1.2 EAE assessment.

As reported previously (Olechowski et al., 2009, Olechowski et al., 2010) Mice were monitored daily and the clinical signs of EAE were graded on the following scale: Grade 0, normal mouse; Grade 1 (disease onset), flaccid tail; Grade 2, mild hindlimb weakness with quick righting reflex; Grade 3, severe hindlimb weakness with slow righting reflex; Grade 4, hindlimb paralysis in one hindlimb or both.

#### 4.1.3 Behavioural Testing

*Mechanical allodynia.* A set of calibrated von Frey hair monofilaments were used to assess the sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli. Mice were placed in clear pexiglass chambers on an elevated wire mesh screen. Calibrated von Frey hair filaments were applied to the plantar surface of each hindpaw in the ascending order of bending force (range: 0.04–2.0 g). Each hair was applied 5 times per paw, and the number of nociceptive responses (vigourous shaking, prolonged lifting, licking or biting of the stimulated paw) was recorded. The monofilament which produced nociceptive responses greater than 60% of the time was taken as the "threshold".

*Novel Object Recognition (NOR) Test.* Mice are first presented with two identical objects (test 1) in an open field (width: 29 cm; length: 44 cm; height: 17 cm); time spent exploring each object was monitored over five minutes using a standard stopwatch. A second test (test 2) was conducted four hours later where one object was replaced with a novel object. The time spent exploring each object was

observed and recorded for five minutes. The difference in time between the two objects was calculated and then averaged for test (i.e. test 1: A-A; test 2 B-A). As a measure of total exploratory activity, the percent of time the mice spent interacting with the objects was calculated. The total amount of time spent with either of the objects over the course of the observation period in each test was divided by the total time of the observation period.

*General activity/attention score.* Mice were observed in the open field (width: 29 cm; length: 44 cm; height: 17 cm) for a period of 4 min. The general activity/attention score corresponds to the amount of time the mouse spent in a specific sedentary posture. The activity/attention score is a categorical score given each minute to a mouse based on the duration it spends in a specific sedentary posture. This posture is defined as having both forepaws on the ground and with the head being relatively still with a steady gaze directed below the horizontal (i.e., a head position with the nose pointing towards the floor of the observation box). As previously reported, this score was developed because, while all mice spend considerable amounts of time in one quadrant of the open field. EAE mice were often observed to adopt this posture (Musgrave et al., 2011a). These postures are never observed in naive animals and only rarely in control mice immunized with CFA alone. The total duration spent in this posture was measured using a standard stopwatch and scores were given each minute according to the following criteria: 0, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 45 or more seconds in one minute; 1, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 30–45 s in one minute; 2, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 15–30 s in one minute; 3, mouse is still and

with a floor-directed gaze for 0–15 s in one minute. These scores were totaled for each mouse at the end of the 4-min open field trial. Timing was stopped if the mouse interrupted this posture for any reason, including extensions of the head/neck forward or upward (usually to sniff at the air); large, lateral investigatory head movements, or initiation of grooming. A score of 12 is representative of maximal activity/attention during the test period.

*Rotorod Assay.* As a test of gross locomotor ability and coordination, mice were placed on a rotorod at a fixed rotational speed of 16 rpm. Mice were placed on the rotorod and the latency to fall off was determined. The maximum time for a trial was set at 180 s. Mice were trained on the rotorod for two consecutive days prior to disease induction to become familiar with the task. After disease induction, mice were tested on alternate days. Each mouse had three trials and the mean latency to fall per trial was calculated.

#### 4.1.4 Ceftriaxone treatment.

Cohorts of mice were treated with the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic Ceftriaxone, a compound known to be capable of upregulating glutamate transporter expression in the CNS (Rothstein et al., 2005). Mice were treated with 200 mg/kg I.P. daily starting 7 days after EAE induction (CFA n=5, EAE n=10). Vehicle controls received daily injections of saline starting at 7 days after EAE induction (CFA n=5, EAE n=10).

#### 4.1.5 Real-time RT-PCR

RNA was isolated from spinal cords of the EAE cohorts using RNeasy Mini Kit

(Qiagen,Valencia, CA, USA) after lysis with TRIzol (Invitrogen) using the manufacturer's guidelines. RNA dissolved in deionized, diethylpyrocarbonatetreated water was used for cDNA synthesis. The primers used in real-time PCR were: EAAT2 Fwd 5'-TGA ACG AGG CCC CTG AAG AAA CTA-3' Rev 5'-ATG CCC CCG TGA ATG ATG AGG-3', IL-6 Fwd 5'-ATG GAT GCT ACC AAA CTG GAT-3' Rev 5'-TGA AGG ACT CTG GCT TTG TCT-3' IL-1β Fwd 5'-ACA GAT GAA GTG CTC CTT CCA-3' Rev 5'-GTC GGA GAT TCG TAG CTG GAT-3' GAPDH Fwd 5'-AGC CTT CTC CAT GGT GGT GAA GAC-3' Rev 5'-CGG AGT CAA CGG ATT TGG TCG-3'. Semiquantitative analyses were performed by monitoring the increase in the fluorescence of the SYBR-green dye (Invitrogen) in real time on a Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA) i-Cycler. Real-time fluorescence measurements were performed, and at threshold cycle value for each gene of interest. All data were normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels for mice.

#### 4.1.6 Western blots.

Mice were anesthetized and euthanized by transcardiac perfusion with 0.9% saline. The brain and lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord were removed and frozen on liquid nitrogen. *Spinal Cord samples*. Protein samples (20 ul) were separated on a 10% SDS gel. The samples were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). The membranes were blocked in 5% milk in PBS–Tween 20 (PBS-T) (0.05%), and then incubated overnight at 4 degrees Celsius in primary antibodies EAAT-2 (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), pNR1Ser896 (1:1000, Cedarlane Laboratories) diluted in PBS-T. The membranes were then washed in PBS-T and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary

antibodies (goat anti-rabbit; Jackson ImmunoResearch) diluted at 1:50,000. The membranes were washed and binding of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies detected using chemiluminescence. (Western Lightning Chemiluminescence Reagent Plus, Perkin-Elmer.) Membranes were re-probed with monoclonal mouse anti-b-actin (1:2000, Sigma) to ensure equal loading of samples. The films were scanned and the changes in protein expression levels between CFA and EAE mice as a ratio were quantified using ImageJ software.

*Brain Samples*. Protein samples (37 ul) were separated on a 10% SDS gel. The samples were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad) overnight at 4 degrees Celsius. The membranes were blocked in 10% milk in TTBS and incubated overnight at 4 degrees in primary antibody EAAT-2 (1:1000, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) in diluted TTBS. The membranes were then washed in TTBS and incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit: Jackson ImmunoResearch) diluted at 1:2000. The membranes, similar to spinal cord samples, were washed and binding of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies detected using chemiluminescence. (Amersham ECL Western Blotting Analysis System, GE Heathcare.) Membranes were re-probed with monoclonal mouse anti-β-actin (1:2000, Sigma) to ensure equal loading of samples. The films were scanned and the changes in protein expression levels between CFA and EAE mice as a ratio were quantified using ImageJ software.

#### 4.1.7 Statistical analysis.

Statistical analysis was carried out using the Student's t-test

and one-way ANOVA with Tukey and Dunnett's post hoc tests. Significance was set at P < 0.05.

#### 4.2 Results

## 4.2.1 Changes in pain sensitivity in EAE mice are independent of disease severity

We first assessed if there are any observable differences in the disease course of mice with EAE induced with different concentrations of Complete Freud's Adjuvant (CFA). EAE mice induced with "Moderate" CFA (CFA 1.5 mg/ml) display a more severe disease course than mice induced with "Strong" CFA (CFA 3mg/ml) and "Mild" CFA (CFA 0.5 mg/ml). EAE mice with "Moderate" CFA develop clinical signs earlier than EAE mice induced with "Mild" or "Strong" CFA and show greater overall impairments 14 days after disease induction. (Mean clinical score at day 14: EAE-Mild CFA: 0.800+/-0.389; EAE-Moderate CFA: 2.750+/-0.313; EAE-Strong CFA: 2.600+/-0.678) (Fig. 4.1A).

We have previously reported that mice with EAE develop a robust mechanical allodynia prior to and at the onset of neurological deficits (Olechowski et al., 2009). We therefore assessed whether there were any differences in the sensitivity to mechanical stimuli in the hind paws of mice with different severities of EAE. At disease onset (clinical grade 1) there was a significant decrease in the withdrawal thresholds in all three cohorts of EAE mice when compared to baseline measures (Fig. 4.1B) (P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). Decreases in withdrawal thresholds were not significantly different between the three disease

severities. Taken together, these results suggest that the changes in the sensitivity to mechanical force are independent of disease severity in EAE mice.

#### 4.2.2 Impaired novel object recognition in EAE mice.

Deficits in cognitive function, particularly memory, are common in patients with Multiple Sclerosis (MS) (He et al., 2011). Using the Novel Object Recognition (NOR) assay as a test of cognitive ability, we next determined if similar symptoms could be detected in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE across the different disease severities. Prior to disease induction, all mice could discriminate a novel object presented to them in the open field. In 'test 1', the mice are presented with two identical objects and the difference in time in spent with each object is around zero seconds. In 'test 2', one of the objects is replaced by a novel object of distinct shape and size and the mice spend greater time exploring and interacting with the novel object (Fig. 4.2A). Mice immunized with the CFA adjuvant alone show no impairments in the assay. For CFA treated mice, the difference in time spent with the novel object compared to the familiar object in test 2 is similar to the baseline condition (Fig. 4.2B). In contrast, novel object recognition was significantly impaired in mice with EAE at the onset of disease (clinical grade 1 for each cohort). No group of EAE mice showed signs of discrimination between the novel and familiar object in test 2 (Test 2 difference scores: Baseline: 5.1+/-0.084; CFA 7.1+/-2.45; EAE-Mild CFA: -5.343/4.343; EAE-Moderate CFA: -0.2+/-0.325; EAE-Strong CFA: -0.717/0.908)(Fig. 4.2 C, D, E).

To determine if the observed deficits in the NOR assay are due to motivational factors such as reduced overall exploratory behaviors, we calculated

the percentage of time the mice spent interacting with the objects during each test. In general, mice with EAE spend less overall time interacting and exploring the objects in Test 1 and Test 2 compared to Baseline levels and CFA treated mice (Fig. 4.2, inset graphs A-E). Taken together these findings suggest that cognitive impairments are present at disease onset in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice and similar to tactile sensitivity, are independent of disease severity.

## 4.2.3 Decreases in the general activity/attention score at disease onset in EAE mice

On account of the general decrease of exploratory behavior in the NOR assay, we also assessed signs of sickness behavior in EAE mice at disease onset using a general activity/attention score (Musgrave et al., 2011a). Measuring discrete postural changes can serve as adjunct measures for how the mice attend to and interact with their environment. Decreased interaction and/or attention to the surrounding environment is a characteristic feature of sickness behavior. As previously reported, prior to disease induction, healthy mice rarely score below 10–11 using this rating system, meaning that they are consistently paying attention to their surrounding environment (Musgrave et al., 2011a). At disease onset all three cohorts of EAE mice had significantly lower activity/attention scores compared to baseline measures (p<0.001, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc) (Fig. 4.3A). Activity/attention scores were equally affected across the different cohorts of EAE mice. This suggests that a decrease in the general activity/attention score is a common feature of EAE and like pain and cognitive dyfunction, is independent of disease severity.

To determine if locomotor impairments were responsible for the decrease in exploratory behavior and the observed reductions in the general activity/attention score in mice with EAE, gross locomotor ability was assessed using a fixed-speed rotorod assay. At disease onset, when NOR assays and activity/attention were assessed, rotorod ability was not significantly affected in any cohort of EAE mice compared to CFA treated controls (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA) (Fig. 4.3B). The absence of gross locomotor deficits in the different cohorts of EAE mice suggests that the decrease in general activity/attention scores and reduced exploratory behavior in the NOR assay are not a consequence of impaired locomotor ability.

#### 4.2.4 IL-6 and EAAT-2 mRNA are upregulated in all cohorts of EAE

To determine the molecular mechanisms that mediate these changes in behavior in our different cohorts of EAE mice, we began by looking at mRNA levels of the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and the glutamate transporters EAAT-2. We have previously shown that altered levels of EAAT-2 protein in the spinal cord of mice with EAE can affect pain behaviours (Olechowski et al., 2010) and other groups have implicated the involvement of glutamate transporter dysfunction in the generation of pain hypersensitivity in rat models of EAE (Ramos et al., 2010). Both IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 can regulate EAAT-2 levels (Okada et al., 2005, Sulkowski et al., 2009) and increased levels of IL-6 and EAAT-2 mRNA have been reported in other EAE models (Wang et al., 2000, Mitosek-Szewczyk et al., 2008). We found that the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA were elevated in EAE mice from the 'mild-*CFA*' and 'moderate-CFA' groups at disease onset but were not

significantly increased in the EAE-'strong CFA' group of EAE mice. In contrast, both IL-6 and EAAT-2 showed a consistent increase in mRNA levels across all three groups of EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA control spinal cord samples (Fig. 4.4A) (p<0.05, one way ANOVA).

## 4.2.5 Diminished glutamate transporter expression in the spinal cords of EAE mice at disease onset

Given the importance of the glutamate transporters (especially EAAT-2) in regulating excitatory signaling in the CNS (Danbolt, 2001), we next assessed the levels of the EAAT-2 protein in the spinal cord from the three cohorts of EAE mice using Western blots. Compared to CFA controls, all three cohorts of EAE mice had reduced levels of the major glutamate transporter EAAT-2 at disease onset **(**Fig. 4.5A). The levels of EAAT-2 were significantly less in the EAE-'moderate CFA' and EAE-'strong CFA' groups when compared to control mice treated with CFA alone (p<0.05, t-test) (Fig. 4.5C).

Given the deficits in the ability of EAE mice to identify a novel object in the NOR assay we next assessed the levels of EAAT-2 in the forebrain as a potential mechanism contributing to this decrease in cognitive ability. At these early stages of the disease however, we found no significant changes in the levels of EAAT-2 in the brains of mice with EAE from any cohort when compared to controls treated with CFA alone (p>0.05, t-test) (Fig. 4.5B, D, E). Therefore, a decrease in glutamate transporter expression in the brains of EAE mice is not contributing to the observed deficits in the NOR assay.

# 4.2.6 Ceftriaxone attenuates tactile hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits in EAE

To determine whether decreased levels of spinal EAAT-2 are involved in generating pain hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits in the  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE model, we treated EAE mice with ceftriaxone, a  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic that has the ability to upregulate EAAT-2 in the CNS (Rothstein et al., 2005, Ramos et al., 2010). We first assessed how ceftriaxone treatment affected the clinical signs of the disease using the EAE-'moderate CFA' protocol as this generated the most consistent disease course. Daily treatment with ceftriaxone (200mg/kg) (Melzer et al., 2008) beginning seven days after disease induction had no effect on the disease course compared to vehicle treated EAE mice (Fig. 4.6A). However, daily treatment with ceftriaxone attenuated the tactile hypersensitivity that is present at disease onset (Fig. 4.6B).

Daily ceftriaxone treatment also improved performance in the NOR assay. Prior to the start of treatment with either ceftriaxone or vehicle, all mice induced with EAE had impaired novel object recognition in test 2 compared to controls treated with CFA alone (Fig. 4.7A, ii and iii)). EAE mice then began daily treatment with either ceftriaxone or vehicle and were re-assessed in the NOR assay when the first clinical signs of the disease appeared ('onset', clinical grade 1). Object recognition remained impaired in vehicle treated EAE mice (Fig. 4.7B ii). In contrast, EAE mice treated with daily ceftriaxone had improved discrimination of the novel object in test 2 with performance approaching pre-disease levels (Fig. 4.7B iii).
EAE mice compared to CFA controls (inset graphs Fig. 4.7B). In addition, we found that the activity/attention scores of EAE mice treated with daily ceftriaxone were not significantly different from vehicle treated controls (Fig. 4.8A). Compared to baseline values, both groups of EAE mice had significantly reduced activity/attention scores at disease onset (p<0.001, one way ANOVA). However, gross locomotor ability was not affected at this stage of the disease. As shown previously, rotorod performance is not significantly affected in either group of EAE mice at the onset of disease when testing takes place (Fig. 4.8B). Taken together these findings suggest that the beneficial effects of ceftriaxone in the NOR assay are not due to a generalized anti-depressant effect or through improvements in locomotor ability.

# 4.2.7 Ceftriaxone treatment increases EAAT-2 expression and reduces NMDA receptor phosphorylation in the spinal cord of EAE mice

To determine if ceftriaxone was increasing the levels of spinal EAAT-2 in mice with EAE, EAAT-2 levels were assessed using western blots at disease onset. The significant reduction in spinal EAAT-2 levels in vehicle treated EAE mice was prevented in mice treated with daily ceftriaxone (Fig. 4.9A,C). A consequence of dsyregulated EAAT-2 expression is an increased activation of excitatory glutamate receptors. We have previously shown that EAE mice have an increase in the levels of phosphorlyated NR1 NMDA receptor subunits at the spinal level (Olechowski et al., 2010). Increased phosphorylation of NR1 (pNR1) has been implicated in the generation of pain hypersensitivity (Olechowski et al., 2010). We therefore

examined the levels of pNR1 at serine 896 (pNR1<sup>896</sup>) at disease onset in EAE mice treated with the vehicle or ceftriaxone. Increased levels of spinal pNR1<sup>896</sup> were seen in both groups of EAE mice compared to controls treated with CFA alone (Fig. 4.9B). However, pNR1<sup>896</sup> levels were significantly higher in EAE mice treated with vehicle compared to ceftriaxone treated EAE mice (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test)(Fig. 4.9D). These results confirm ceftriaxone's ability to upregulate or stabilize the levels of EAAT-2 in the spinal cord of the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model and suggest that the decreased pain hypersensitivity and concomitant improvement in the NOR assay in ceftriaxone treated mice may arise as a result of reduced excitatory drive to spinal glutamate receptors.

## 4.3 Discussion

Chronic pain and cognitive deficits are now recognized as major symptoms associated with MS (Svendsen et al., 2003, Svendsen et al., 2005, Jongen et al., 2012). To date however, few studies have examined the underlying causes of these features of the disease, or the relationship between the two using the widely accepted animal model EAE,. We have previously reported that pain hypersensitivity develops in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mouse model prior to and at disease onset (Olechowski et al., 2009). We have now characterized pain sensitivity across different severities of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> induced EAE. We have also examined cognitive function in this model using the novel object recognition assay across the different cohorts. Our findings demonstrate that, regardless of the severity of the clinical signs that develop, pain hypersensitivity to tactile stimuli and deficits in object recognition are consistent features of the disease. Interestingly, normalizing pain sensitivity in mice with EAE reveals improved performance in the NOR assay, illustrating the important interrelationship between these two variables.

The development of tactile hypersensitivity across the three cohorts of EAE mice with varying severities of clinical deficits suggests that changes in pain sensitivity in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE are not related to the processes that lead to neurological impairment in the disease. This is similar to what is seen in patients affected with MS, where pain symptoms are not dependent on the degree of disability in a patient (Solaro and Uccelli, 2011). A common feature of both MS and the EAE models is the decrease in the protein levels of the dominant glutamate transporter EAAT-2 (Vercellino et al., 2007, Pampliega et al., 2008, Olechowski et al., 2010). Decreased levels of spinal glutamate transporters are associated with changes in nociceptive thresholds in a variety of peripheral nerve and spinal cord injury models (Tao et al., 2005). This appears to be a common feature of the MOG<sub>34-55</sub> EAE model as well. Using quantitative RT-PCR, we also find that gene expression of the cytokine IL-6, is consistently upregulated in the spinal cord of EAE mice regardless of disease severity. An 'IL-6 amplifier mechanism' in the lumbar spinal cord has been characterized as a major mediator of EAE disease progression (Arima et al., 2012). Interestingly, IL-6 is also known to be a major factor triggering the downregulation of EAAT-2 (Sulkowski et al., 2009). The consistency of the observed changes in tactile sensitivity across the different cohorts of EAE mice may therefore be accounted for by these common features in EAE mice: lumbar IL-6 upregulation and subsequent decreases in the levels EAAT-2 protein in the spinal cord.

In a rat model of EAE, upregulating the levels of EAAT-2 using the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone, reduces the pain hypersensitivity associated with EAE (Ramos et al., 2010). We found that in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> mouse EAE model, ceftriaxone is equally effective at normalizing tactile withdrawal thresholds. Ceftiaxone's effects appear to be mediated primarily by changes in EAAT-2 levels in the spinal cord as we found no significant changes in EAAT-2 levels in the brains of EAE mice at the early stages of disease progression when tactile hypersensitivity was most pronounced. By stabilizing EAAT-2 levels in the spinal cord, ceftriaxone treatment is also able to reduce the levels of phosphorylation at the NR1 NMDA receptor subunit, a well established pathway leading to pain hypersensitivity in a number of animal models including EAE (Zou et al., 2000).

Interestingly, we find that cognitive deficits are also consistently present in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> induced EAE. One of the most common cognitive deficits assessed in the MS patient population are problems with memory retention (He et al., 2011). Previous studies in both rat and mouse models of EAE reported deficits in spatial recognition using the Morris water maze (D'Intino et al., 2005, Ziehn et al., 2010). In addition, there is evidence that long-term potentiation, a cellular substrate for learning and memory, is impaired in EAE models (Mandolesi et al., 2010). Importantly, the observed deficits of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE in the NOR assay cannot be accounted for by any significant impairment of gross locomotor ability. In all of the cohorts of EAE mice tested, we find that performance in the fixed speed rotarod assay is unchanged at the time of disease onset when NOR testing occurs. Although deficits in locomotor ability do not appear to be a factor for the impaired

performance of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice in the NOR assay, a recent study has shown anatomical evidence of neurodegeneration in the visual system of a rat model of EAE prior to the onset of optic neuritis (Fairless et al., 2012). It is unlikely however that the deficits in object recognition behaviour in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice can be accounted for by these potential early impairments of visual function as could be inferred from the latter anatomical observations of early onset retinal ganglion cell loss and microglial cell activation in this latter EAE rat model (Fairless et al., 2012). Although the timing of these neurodegenerative events in the retina coincides with the onset of the behavioural deficits reported in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice (Fairless et al., 2012) there are two critical elements that rebut this possibility: 1) we show here that treating mice with ceftriaxone can reverse the changes in NOR performance in EAE mice; and 2) retinal ganglion cell death is irreversible, and this applies to any other neurodegenerative events in the retina and optic nerve of adult mammals (Sauve and Gaillard, 1995). Therefore, it is implausible that the therapeutic effects of ceftriaxone treatment are the result of neuroprotective or regenerative responses in the retina. Furthermore, we have recently begun studies using electrophysiological parameters to assess visually-evoked retinal and cortical responses in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Preliminary results from these studies indicate that there are no functional visual deficits in EAE mice at all clinical grades (from 1 to 4) compared to CFA treated control mice (B.Kerr and Y.Sauve-unpublished observations).

We did however, observe significant reductions in the total exploratory behavior of EAE mice during the NOR testing sessions. These reductions in exploration are likely related to the sickness-like behavior others and we have

documented EAE mice (Pollak et al., 2002, Pollak et al., 2003, Musgrave et al., 2011a). Decreased motivation to explore and interact with the objects due to sickness or pain is therefore more likely the cause for the poor performance in this assay. Indeed, the importance of pain hypersensitivity as a mediator of the cognitive deficits in EAE mice is highlighted by our observations that normalizing tactile withdrawal thresholds in the disease can restore object recognition without any significant change in total exploratory behavior in the test.

Taken together our results demonstrate that the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model can be a useful tool for studying the mechanisms leading to pain hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits seen in MS. We show here that conserved mechanisms in EAE (increased IL-6 and concomitant reduction in EAAT-2 levels) can generate these behavioural changes independently of the pathophysiological pathways that mediate the more 'classical' neurological features of the disease such as gross locomotor impairment. Targeting the glutamate transporter system may represent an important avenue as a potential treatment option for not only abnormal pain sensitivity but also the cognitive deficits associated with the disease.

## 4.4 Figures



The Changes in pain sensitivity in EAE mice at disease onset are independent of disease severity (A) EAE mice induced with "Moderate" CFA (CFA 1.5mg/ml) display a more severe disease course compared to mice induced with "Strong" or "Mild" CFA ("Strong" CFA 3mg/ml or "Mild":0.5mg/ml). (B) All three groups of mice with EAE exhibit a significant increase in sensitivity to mechanical force (tactile allodynia) at disease onset when compared to baseline threshold responses (\*P<0.05 one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test).



## Figure 4.2

Impairment in the novel object recognition test in EAE mice. (A) All mice at baseline spend a greater amount of time with the novel object in test 2. (B) At disease onset, CFA control mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object, similar to mice at baseline. (C-E) EAE mice with Mild, Moderate and Strong CFA do not show a preference for the novel object during test 2. Inset graphs in A-E represent the percentage of total time spent with either object during each test. This is a measure of exploratory behavior. Decreased exploratory behavior is seen in EAE mice from all three-disease severities (insets in C, D, E).



Reduced activity/attention scores in EAE mice. (A) The activity/attention score, which measures how mice attend and interact with their surroundings is Exploratory behvaiour is generally reduced in EAE mice compared to baseline measures at disease onset (clinical grade 1) in all EAE groups (\*P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post hoc test). (B) Gross locomotor ability in the rotorod assay at disease onset is not impaired in any cohort of EAE mice compared to CFA control mice (P>0.05, one-way ANOVA).



IL-6 and EAAT-2 gene expression is increased in all cohorts of EAE mice at disease onset. (A) IL-1β mRNA levels are upregulated in the spinal cords of the Mild and Moderate EAE cohorts but not in the Strong cohort. (B) IL-6 mRNA levels are upregulated in all EAE cohorts when compared to control levels. (C) EAAT-2 mRNA levels are significantly increased in all EAE cohorts when compared to CFA controls. (\*P<0.05, One Way ANOVA, Dunnett's post hoc test)



Decreased expression of the glutamate transporter EAAT-2 in spinal cords of EAE mice. (A) There is a significant decrease in the levels of spinal EAAT-2 in the Moderate and Strong EAE cohorts when compared to CFA. All samples are taken at disease 'onset' (clinical grade 1). (B) There is no difference in EAAT-2 levels (multimer or monomer) in the brains of EAE mice when compared to CFA controls. (C) Quantification of western blots from the spinal cord for EAAT-2 normalized to beta actin and expressed as a percentage of CFA control levels (\*P<0.05, t-test). (D-E) Quantification of the brain EAAT-2 multimer and monomer expression in western blots normalized to beta actin and expressed as a percent of CFA control levels (P>0.05, t-test).



Ceftriaxone prevents tactile allodynia in EAE mice. (A) Daily treatment with ceftriaxone (200mg/kg) starting at day 7 after EAE induction does not change the disease course of EAE when compared to vehicle treated controls (EAE was generated using the Moderate CFA protocol). (B) Ceftriaxone treatment prevents tactile allodynia at disease onset (clinical grade 1) in EAE mice when compared to vehicle treated EAE mice. von Frey thresholds in EAE-vehice mice are significantly reduced compared to baseline (\*P<0.05 one-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's post hoc test).





Ceftriaxone treatment restores novel object recognition in EAE mice. (A) (i) At baseline, mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2. (ii) At day 7 after disease induction, CFA control mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2. (iii) At day 7 after disease induction and prior to starting treatment, all EAE mice fail to show a preference for the novel object during test 2. (B) (i) At disease onset, CFA control mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2. (ii) At disease onset, vehicle treated EAE mice continue to show impairments in their ability to distinguish the novel object during test 2. (iii) At disease onset, ceftriaxone treated EAE mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2. Inset graphs in (A, B) represent the percentage of total time spent with the objects in each test as a measure of exploratory behavior. Exploratory behaviour remains decreased in EAE mice relative to CFA control mice regardless of treatment.



Ceftriaxone treatment does not affect activity/attention scores or gross locomotor ability at disease onset. (A) The activity/attention score is significantly decreased in both the ceftriaxone and vehicle treated EAE mice at disease onset when compared to baseline (\*P<0.05, One Way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test) (B) Locomotor ability as measured with the rotorod test at disease onset is not different from baseline in both EAE groups (P>0.05, One Way ANOVA).



## Figure 4.9

Ceftriaxone increases the levels of EAAT-2 and reduces phosphorylation of NR1 serine 896 in EAE mice spinal cords. (A) EAAT-2 levels are significantly decreased in the spinal cord of vehicle treated EAE mice at disease onset but are normalized in EAE mice treated with ceftriaxone. (B) The levels of pNR1 serine 896 are significantly higher in both groups of EAE mice compared to the levels in CFA controls. However, the levels of pNR1896 are significantly lower in the ceftriaxone treated EAE mice when compared to the vehicle treated EAE mice. (C-D) Quantification of the spinal cord Western Blots for EAAT-2 (C) and pNR1 serine 896 (D) normalized to beta actin and expressed as a percent of CFA control levels (\*P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post hoc test, C) (\*\*\*P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post hoc test, \*P<0.05, t-test, EAE Vehicle vs. EAE Ceftriaxone, D).

## 4.5 References

- Alvarez BV, Gilmour GS, Mema SC, Martin BT, Shull GE, Casey JR, Sauvé Y. Blindness caused by deficiency in AE3 chloride/bicarbonate exchanger. PLoS One. 2007 Sep 5;2(9):e839.
- Arima Y, Harada M, Kamimura D, Park JH, Kawano F, Yull FE, Kawamoto T, Iwakura Y, Betz UA, Marquez G, Blackwell TS, Ohira Y, Hirano T, Murakami M (2012) Regional neural activation defines a gateway for autoreactive T cells to cross the blood-brain barrier. Cell 148:447-457.
- D'Intino G, Paradisi M, Fernandez M, Giuliani A, Aloe L, Giardino L, Calza L (2005) Cognitive deficit associated with cholinergic and nerve growth factor downregulation in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:3070-3075.

Danbolt NC (2001) Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 65:1-105.

- Fairless R, Williams SK, Hoffmann DB, Stojic A, Hochmeister S, Schmitz F, Storch MK, Diem R (2012) Preclinical retinal neurodegeneration in a model of multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci 32:5585-5597.
- He D, Zhou H, Guo D, Hao Z, Wu B (2011) Pharmacologic treatment for memory disorder in multiple sclerosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev CD008876.
- He Y, Janssen WG, Rothstein JD, Morrison JH (2000) Differential synaptic localization of the glutamate transporter EAAC1 and glutamate receptor subunit GluR2 in the rat hippocampus. J Comp Neurol 418:255-269.
- Jongen PJ, Ter Horst AT, Brands AM (2012) Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. Minerva Med 103:73-96.

- Mandolesi G, Grasselli G, Musumeci G, Centonze D (2010) Cognitive deficits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: neuroinflammation and synaptic degeneration. Neurol Sci 31:S255-259.
- Melzer N, Meuth SG, Torres-Salazar D, Bittner S, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Kotsiari A, Stangel M, Fahlke C, Wiendl H (2008) A beta-lactam antibiotic dampens excitotoxic inflammatory CNS damage in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 3:e3149.
- Mitosek-Szewczyk K, Sulkowski G, Stelmasiak Z, Struzynska L (2008) Expression of glutamate transporters GLT-1 and GLAST in different regions of rat brain during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Neuroscience 155:45-52.
- Musgrave T, Benson C, Wong G, Browne I, Tenorio G, Rauw G, Baker GB, Kerr BJ (2011a) The MAO inhibitor phenelzine improves functional outcomes in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Brain Behav Immun 25:1677-1688.
- Musgrave T, Olechowski CJ, Kerr BJ (2011b) Learning new tricks from an old dog: using experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis to study comorbid symptoms in multiple sclerosis. Pain Management 1:571-576.
- Okada K, Yamashita U, Tsuji S (2005) Modulation of Na(+)-dependent glutamate transporter of murine astrocytes by inflammatory mediators. J Uoeh 27:161-170.
- Olechowski CJ, Parmar A, Miller B, Stephan J, Tenorio G, Tran K, Leighton J, Kerr BJ (2010) A diminished response to formalin stimulation reveals a role for the

glutamate transporters in the altered pain sensitivity of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 149:565-572.

- Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ (2009) Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 141:156-164.
- Osterberg A, Boivie J, Thuomas KA (2005) Central pain in multiple sclerosis-prevalence and clinical characteristics. Eur J Pain 9:531-542.
- Owens T, Sriram S (1995) The immunology of multiple sclerosis and its animal model, experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neurol Clin 13:51-73.
- Pampliega O, Domercq M, Villoslada P, Sepulcre J, Rodriguez-Antiguedad A, Matute C (2008) Association of an EAAT2 polymorphism with higher glutamate concentration in relapsing multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 195:194-198.
- Pollak Y, Orion E, Goshen I, Ovadia H, Yirmiya R (2002) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis-associated behavioral syndrome as a model of 'depression due to multiple sclerosis'. Brain Behav Immun 16:533-543.
- Pollak Y, Ovadia H, Orion E, Weidenfeld J, Yirmiya R (2003) The EAE-associated behavioral syndrome: I. Temporal correlation with inflammatory mediators. J Neuroimmunol 137:94-99.
- Ramos KM, Lewis MT, Morgan KN, Crysdale NY, Kroll JL, Taylor FR, Harrison JA, Sloane EM, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2010) Spinal upregulation of glutamate transporter GLT-1 by ceftriaxone: therapeutic efficacy in a range of experimental nervous system disorders. Neuroscience 169:1888-1900.

- Rothstein JD, Patel S, Regan MR, Haenggeli C, Huang YH, Bergles DE, Jin L, Dykes
  Hoberg M, Vidensky S, Chung DS, Toan SV, Bruijn LI, Su ZZ, Gupta P, Fisher PB
  (2005) Beta-lactam antibiotics offer neuroprotection by increasing glutamate
  transporter expression. Nature 433:73-77.
- Sauve Y, Gaillard F (1995) Regeneration in the Visual System of Adult Mammals. In: Webvision: The Organization of the Retina and Visual System(Kolb, H. et al., eds) Salt Lake City (UT).
- Solaro C, Uccelli MM (2011) Management of pain in multiple sclerosis: a pharmacological approach. Nat Rev Neurol 7:519-527.
- Sulkowski G, Dabrowska-Bouta B, Kwiatkowska-Patzer B, Struzynska L (2009) Alterations in glutamate transport and group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in the rat brain during acute phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Folia Neuropathol 47:329-337.
- Sung B, Lim G, Mao J (2003) Altered expression and uptake activity of spinal glutamate transporters after nerve injury contribute to the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain in rats. J Neurosci 23:2899-2910.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW (2005) Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 114:473-481.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW (2003) Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch Neurol 60:1089-1094.

- Tao YX, Gu J, Stephens RL, Jr. (2005) Role of spinal cord glutamate transporter during normal sensory transmission and pathological pain states. Mol Pain 1:30.
- Vercellino M, Merola A, Piacentino C, Votta B, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P (2007) Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsingremitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:732-739.
- Wang T, Nagai H, Bouda K, Matsuura S, Takaoka Y, Niwa S, Homma T, Tanaka H, Shudo K (2000) Effect of selective IL-6 inhibitor Am-80 on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in DA rats. Acta Pharmacol Sin 21:967-976.
- Ziehn MO, Avedisian AA, Tiwari-Woodruff S, Voskuhl RR (2010) Hippocampal CA1 atrophy and synaptic loss during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EAE. Lab Invest 90:774-786.
- Zou X, Lin Q, Willis WD (2000) Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor 1 subunits in spinal cord dorsal horn and spinothalamic tract neurons after intradermal injection of capsaicin in rats. J Neurosci 20:6989-6997.

## **CHAPTER 5**

## **General Discussion**

## **5.0 General Discussion**

Chronic pain in Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is now recognized as a major symptom of the disease (Svendsen et al., 2003, Svendsen et al., 2005). Although there are a variety of pain conditions associated with MS, neuropathic pain is the least understood and the most difficult to treat (Svendsen et al., 2005). Along with neuropathic pain symptoms, cognitive dysfunction is also identified as a major symptom of MS (Ferreira, 2010). The mechanisms behind both neuropathic pain states and cognitive dysfunction in MS are both areas where basic research and information is minimal. The current experiments focused on characterizing neuropathic pain behaviours and cognitive dysfunction in an accepted mouse model of MS MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Similar to pain sensitivity (allodynia) that are reported in MS patients (Svendsen, Jensen et al. 2005), it was observed that the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> animal model of EAE does result in sensory processing abnormalities just prior to and at disease onset (Chapter 2). It was also found that the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> model of EAE produces cognitive deficits as indicated by the NOR test that are present just before and at disease onset (Chapter 4). The observed changes in sensory and cognitive behaviour were observed when changing the adjuvant concentrations that in turn produced three different severities of the disease, suggesting that the sensory and cognitive changes are independent of disease severity (Chapter 4). Further experiments were performed to determine the mechanisms behind the observed changes in sensory and cognitive function including investigating the role of the glutamate transporters. It was determined that a decrease in glutamate transporter activity contributes to dysfunctional sensory processing in the mouse MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE

model (Chapter 3). Targeting and increasing the activity of glutamate transporter activity in these mice using the drug ceftriaxone resulted in the normalization of sensory and cognitive changes in this disease model at disease onset (Chapter 4). The results from these experiments validate the use of the mouse MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model to use for studying sensory and cognitive changes in a laboratory setting. Furthermore, the results suggest that the glutamate transporter system may be an ideal target for treatment of these changes in patients suffering from similar sensory and cognitive deficits.

## **5.1 Future Directions**

The observations in this thesis will contribute to the understanding of the mechanisms behind sensory changes and cognitive deficits in the EAE model of MS. However, much remains to be discovered. The changes in sensory processing were characterized using classic, well-established tests of nociceptive functioning. Other groups have looked at sensory changes in the EAE model using the same tests and with similar findings in both rats and mice (Ramos et al., 2010, Thibault et al., 2011, Lu et al., 2012). The EAE disease profiles between the groups were different as a result of changes in concentration of the MOG protein used to induce the disease, anywhere between 50 to 200 µg. An increase in MOG generally results in a more severe disease profile. It was interesting to see that the disease severity did not effect the onset of allodynia in the EAE model between different studies. This supports the findings that the development of pain behaviours are independent of

disease severity within our model (Chapter 4).

Additionally some groups have reported changes in thermal sensitivity in EAE mice, although our lab was not able to replicate these findings (Aicher et al., 2004, Lu et al., 2012). One difference was that we only looked for changes in response to heat application in the hind paw, whereas other groups that found an increase in heat sensitivity reported it in the tail (Aicher et al., 2004). Recently a group published findings that in the EAE model there was onset of thermal hyperalgesia in the hindpaw over the disease course (Lu et al., 2012). When EAE was induced in SIL/I mice, hyperalegesia was present at disease onset through peak of the disease, whereas when inducing EAE in C57/BL/6 mice it was only present at the chronic phase of the disease. This is interesting because we did not pick up these changes in our C57/BL/6 mice. This could be because the furthest we followed our mice was 28 days post disease induction and this group saw the development of abnormal responses to heat application beginning at the 30 day mark. It would be interesting to follow our EAE cohorts for a longer time period to see if any changes in thermal sensitivity develop.

Changes in sensory function have been looked at in the TMEV model of MS. Onset of mechanical allodynia and onset of thermal hyperalgesia were reported. What is interesting about this study is that they found a difference in the development of pain behaviours between male and female mice (Lynch et al., 2008). The changes in sensory function in animal models of MS appear to have different profiles depending on which model is used and what type of genetic background the mice are. Further research needs to be done to characterize the sensory changes

across animal models of MS and within the EAE model itself. For example, does the sex of the animal affect the changes in sensory function observed in the EAE model similar to the TMEV model? A profile of these changes would allow researchers to chose which model and in what type of mouse they should run their experiments in depending on the specific disease profile and sensory changes they want to study.

It is interesting to see that in the EAE behavioural studies not all of the induced mice show sensory changes. Further research to determine the differences between EAE mice that show sensory changes versuses EAE mice that do not would be beneficial. For example: Is there a difference in the amount of proinflammatory cytokines or glutamate transporter expression at disease onset in the mice displaying abnormal sensory functioning? Answering these questions could help determine if there is a way to predict if an EAE mouse is going to have sensory changes and give more clues to the mechanisms behind these changes in EAE and possibly MS itself.

In recent literature the vonFrey hair and acetone tests have been criticized if they are really measuring pain behaviour and not just sensory-evoked reflex responses. One question raised is if acute pain measurements are applicable to an ongoing neuropathic pain state? (King et al., 2009). It would be interesting to determine if the same ongoing sensory changes can be measured using a more sophisticated measure of pain behaviour, such as the conditioned place aversion or preference paradigms (Sufka, 1994, Lynch et al., 2008). In these assays the affective dimension of pain (unpleasantness) is tested as opposed to just the sensory dimension of pain. Through the use of negative reinforcement (pain relief e.g

through treatment) in different contextual cues (e.g. location) the animal's subsequent behaviour can help determine if a pain treatment is effective on the affective dimension and not just the sensory dimension of pain. In this same vain we only used one test as a measure for cognitive dysfunction in this model. Future experiments using different tests of cognitive function, such as the Morris water maze or the Y-maze to determine if other types of memory or learning are affected in this animal model would also be beneficial. It would also be interesting to test changes in cognitive function at different time points of the disease course, for example at peak or chronic phases of the disease to see if the cognitive impairments are more pronounced as the disease course progresses. Additionally, it would be interesting to see if ceftriaxone treatment had any effects in these assays.

Another behavioural change that requires further exploration is the change in open field behaviours that were observed. Of specific interest is the change in activity score observed in the EAE mice just prior too and at onset of disease symptoms (Chapter 4). There is a significant decrease in activity or exploration of the open field environment during these two time points. The open field test measures spontaneous locomotor activity and it has been validated that anxiety causes mice to display thigmotaxis behaviour (tendency to stay in the periphery of the open field container). Other groups have reported a similar decrease in activity in the open field test over the EAE disease course in this model and evidence of anxiety using different tests e.g. light-dark-box (Peruga et al., 2011, Haji et al., 2012). One group suggested that the observed increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 are associated with increased anxiety-like behaviour in EAE,

although the observations were all done during the chronic phase of the disease (Peruga et al., 2011). Similarly, another group looking at anxiety like behaviours at earlier time points also related the onset of symptoms of anxiety to TNF- $\alpha$  (Haji et al., 2012). It would be interesting to see if targeting the glutamate transporters at any of these time points would influence the onset of anxiety like behaviours. A strong link between an increase in an inflammatory environment and the onset of anxiety, cognitive deficits and pain has been reported across many different disorders (Dantzer, 2001, Musgrave et al., 2011b). In fact human MS patients commonly report these symptoms in conjunction. It would be interesting to use the EAE model to try and tease out if there is an underlying mechanism behind these behaviours in addition to the inflammatory component. For example: do the glutamate transporters play a role? The fact that the EAE model displays all of these so-called sickness behaviours makes it an excellent candidate to use for further research into this common profile of symptoms witnessed across inflammatory disorders.

The experiments using the ceftriaxone drug treatment were based on a treatment schedule from previous literature starting at day 7 after disease induction. Additional experiments to determine if treatment with a drug targeting the transporter system at the first signs of disease onset (grade 1) would be more applicable to the MS patient population. It would also be intriguing to study EAE in glutamate transporter knock out mice. EAAT-2 knock out mice have been generated, unfortunately this knock out results in lethal spontaneous seizures and motor disturbances which would make it difficult to do beahvioural assays (Maragakis and

Rothstein, 2001). Using transgenic glutamate transporter reporter mice e.g. GFP reporter would be interesting to study the changes in transporter regulation over the entire EAE disease course (Rothstein et al., 2005, Gincel et al., 2007). This technique could help determine the best time to start treatment with drugs that target the transporter system by indicating at what point after disease induction transporter regulation begins to be disrupted.

Finally, the tissue analysis done in conjunction with the behavioural experiments focused on changes of different cellular mechanisms including transporter expression in the spinal cord. Further experiments to determine what changes are happening at higher processing centers such as the brainstem and brains of the affected mice would be beneficial. This would help contribute to an understanding of the underlying mechanisms of changes that are happening throughout the entire CNS of these animals. We did quantify changes in the EAAT-2 protein in the brains of our EAE mice and did not find a significant decrease in the protein expression when compared to our control mice (Chapter 4). We only analyzed gross brain tissue, which may have confounded our results because there was just too much protein in our samples to pick up any changes in transporter expression. It would be interesting to look for changes in specific brain areas related to sensory processing and cognitive process for example, the hippocampus to see if we can find any changes in glutamate transporter expression.

Our laboratory has found a characteristic change in different amino acids throughout the disease course in both the brain and spinal cord in the model of EAE we use (Musgrave et al., 2011a, Musgrave et al., 2011c). Do these changes in amino

acid levels play a role in the change in activity of glutamate transporters in EAE is another question that needs to be addressed. Determining these mechanistic changes would be beneficial to understand the changes in pain and cognitive processing related to MS. Similar mechanisms may also play a role in other diseases where pain processing and cognitive deficits are present.

## **5.2 References**

- Aicher SA, Silverman MB, Winkler CW, Bebo BF, Jr. (2004) Hyperalgesia in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 110:560-570.
- Dantzer R (2001) Cytokine-induced sickness behavior: where do we stand? Brain Behav Immun 15:7-24.
- Ferreira ML (2010) Cognitive deficits in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 68:632-641.
- Gincel D, Regan MR, Jin L, Watkins AM, Bergles DE, Rothstein JD (2007) Analysis of cerebellar Purkinje cells using EAAT4 glutamate transporter promoter reporter in mice generated via bacterial artificial chromosome-mediated transgenesis. Exp Neurol 203:205-212.
- Haji N, Mandolesi G, Gentile A, Sacchetti L, Fresegna D, Rossi S, Musella A, Sepman H,
   Motta C, Studer V, De Chiara V, Bernardi G, Strata P, Centonze D (2012) TNF alpha-mediated anxiety in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Exp Neurol
   237:296-303.
- King T, Vera-Portocarrero L, Gutierrez T, Vanderah TW, Dussor G, Lai J, Fields HL, Porreca F (2009) Unmasking the tonic-aversive state in neuropathic pain. Nat Neurosci 12:1364-1366.
- Lu J, Kurejova M, Wirotanseng LN, Linker RA, Kuner R, Tappe-Theodor A (2012) Pain in experimental autoimmune encephalitis: a comparative study between different mouse models. J Neuroinflammation 9:233.

- Lynch JL, Gallus NJ, Ericson ME, Beitz AJ (2008) Analysis of nociception, sex and peripheral nerve innervation in the TMEV animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 136:293-304.
- Maragakis NJ, Rothstein JD (2001) Glutamate transporters in neurologic disease. Arch Neurol 58:365-370.
- Musgrave T, Benson C, Wong G, Browne I, Tenorio G, Rauw G, Baker GB, Kerr BJ (2011a) The MAO inhibitor phenelzine improves functional outcomes in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Brain Behav Immun 25:1677-1688.
- Musgrave T, Olechowski CJ, Kerr BJ (2011b) Learning new tricks from an old dog: using experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis to study comorbid symptoms in multiple sclerosis. Pain Management 1:571-576.
- Musgrave T, Tenorio G, Rauw G, Baker GB, Kerr BJ (2011c) Tissue concentration changes of amino acids and biogenic amines in the central nervous system of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Neurochem Int 59:28-38.
- Peruga I, Hartwig S, Thone J, Hovemann B, Gold R, Juckel G, Linker RA (2011) Inflammation modulates anxiety in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Behav Brain Res 220:20-29.
- Ramos KM, Lewis MT, Morgan KN, Crysdale NY, Kroll JL, Taylor FR, Harrison JA, Sloane EM, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2010) Spinal upregulation of glutamate transporter GLT-1 by ceftriaxone: therapeutic efficacy in a range of experimental nervous system disorders. Neuroscience 169:1888-1900.

- Rothstein JD, Patel S, Regan MR, Haenggeli C, Huang YH, Bergles DE, Jin L, Dykes
  Hoberg M, Vidensky S, Chung DS, Toan SV, Bruijn LI, Su ZZ, Gupta P, Fisher PB
  (2005) Beta-lactam antibiotics offer neuroprotection by increasing glutamate
  transporter expression. Nature 433:73-77.
- Sufka KJ (1994) Conditioned place preference paradigm: a novel approach for analgesic drug assessment against chronic pain. Pain 58:355-366.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW (2005) Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 114:473-481.
- Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW (2003) Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch Neurol 60:1089-1094.
- Thibault K, Calvino B, Pezet S (2011) Characterisation of sensory abnormalities observed in an animal model of multiple sclerosis: a behavioural and pharmacological study. Eur J Pain 15:231 e231-216.

Appendix (published papers)





www.elsevier.com/locate/pain

## Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronic-relapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Camille J. Olechowski<sup>b</sup>, Janet J. Truong<sup>b</sup>, Bradley J. Kerr<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Dept. of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, Clinical Sciences Building, 8-120, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alta., Canada T6G-2G3 <sup>b</sup> Centre for Neuroscience, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alta., Canada

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 September 2008 Received in revised form 5 November 2008 Accepted 5 November 2008

*Keywords:* EAE Allodynia T cell Gliosis

#### ABSTRACT

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS). While the primary symptoms of MS are losses of sensory and motor functions, it is now recognized that chronic pain is also a major concern affecting between 50% and 80% of MS patients. To date, however, few studies have examined the underlying mechanisms of chronic pain in MS or in the animal model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), which shares many features of MS pathology. We, therefore, set out to characterize the changes in pain sensitivity that arises in a chronic-relapsing model of EAE. We show here that female C57BL/6 mice immunized with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) develop a robust allodynia to both cold and tactile stimuli. Allodynia emerges early in the disease process, often before any signs of neurological deficit and is independent of the overall symptom severity in these mice. "Classical" cellular substrates for neuropathic pain and allodynia such as altered expression of sensory neuropeptides in the dorsal horn of the spinal do not appear to underlie these changes in sensory function. There is, however, a significant influx of CD3+ T cells and increased astrocyte and microglia/macrophage reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. This suggests that inflammation and reactive gliosis may be key mediators of allodynia in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE similar to peripheral nerve and spinal cord injury models. Taken together, our results show that the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model is a useful tool to study neuropathic pain in MS.

© 2008 International Association for the Study of Pain. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Chronic pain is a common, but little understood symptom associated with the autoimmune disease Multiple Sclerosis (MS) [2,6,29,37]. It has been estimated that approximately 50–80% of MS sufferers experience clinically significant pain at some point in the course of their disease [31]. Neuropathic pain, which arises due to lesions or dysfunction in the central nervous system (CNS), is the most prevalent and difficult to treat pain syndrome seen in MS patients [36]. However, studies focused on identifying the underlying mechanisms of neuropathic pain associated with MS are lacking.

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is an accepted animal model of MS that shares many features of the pathology seen in MS patients, including widespread CNS inflammation, demyelination and locomotor impairments [3,32,35]. EAE can be induced in genetically susceptible mouse strains by immunization with small fragments of myelin antigens such as myelin

E-mail address: bradley.kerr@ualberta.ca (B.J. Kerr).

basic protein 84–104 (MBP<sub>84–104</sub>); proteolipid protein 139–151 (PLP<sub>139–151</sub>); or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35–55 (MOG<sub>35–55</sub>) [5]. Depending on the strain of mouse and myelin antigen used, different disease courses can be modeled that reflect the differences in symptom progression often observed in human MS. While EAE has been used effectively to study the classical neurological deficits associated with MS such as locomotor dysfunction and paralysis, there is limited data on the specific changes in somatosensory processing that occur in the model.

A recent study has described altered pain behaviours in a relapsing–remitting form of EAE in the SJL/J strain of mice after immunization with  $PLP_{131-151}$  [1]. These mice show signs of thermal hyperalgesia (an increased sensitivity to noxious heat) that develops at the peak of neurological deficits and persists throughout the course of the disease [1]. While these findings are an important validation of using the EAE model to study MS-related pain, only one sensory parameter (i.e., hyperalgesia) has been published thus far. Cold and tactile allodynia (painful responses to non-painful stimuli) are also often reported from MS patients with neuropathic pain [31,36].

To address this, we have used a chronic-relapsing model of EAE in female C57BL/6 mice immunized with  $MOG_{35-55}$  and assessed changes in sensitivity to noxious heat, innocuous cold and

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Address: Dept. of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, Clinical Sciences Building, 8-120, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alta., Canada T6G-2G3. Tel.: +1 780 492 3380; fax: +1 780 407 3200.

mechanical stimuli. In addition, because inflammatory processes and reactive gliosis in the spinal cord are known to contribute to neuropathic pain behaviours in peripheral nerve and spinal cord injury models [7,9,12,39] we have also examined these responses in the superficial dorsal horn in mice with MOG<sub>35–55</sub> EAE.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Induction of EAE

A total of 39. 10–12 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice were used. Mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (Saint-Constant, Quebec), housed in standard laboratory cages and had free access to food and water throughout the study period. All animal procedures and experiments were approved by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services. The course and severity of symptoms in EAE are often variable between different laboratories even when using the same antigen, doses and induction protocols. Although a number of factors can account for these variations, differences in the source of where MOG<sub>35-55</sub> is obtained from can be a major factor. Therefore, we induced EAE in mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55 (MEVG-WYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK; MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) obtained from two different sources to determine whether this would generate differences in disease course and symptom severity and if so, if this has any effect on pain behaviours. MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide was obtained from the Peptide Synthesis Facility, University of Calgary (Calgary, AB) (a generous gift from Dr. Chris Power, University of Alberta) and also from AnaSpec Inc (San Jose, CA). EAE was induced by subcutaneous immunization with 50 µg of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> from either source (grouped as EAE "A" n = 10 or EAE "B" n = 10, respectively) emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) (1 mg/ml to a final concentration of 0.5 mg/ml CFA, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). An intraperitoneal injection of 300 ng Pertussis toxin (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was administered at the time of induction and again 48 h later. Control mice were treated with CFA (0.5 mg/ml) and Pertussis toxin alone (n = 10).

#### 2.1.1. EAE assessment

Mice were monitored daily and the clinical signs of EAE were graded on the following scale: Grade 0, normal mouse; Grade 1, flaccid tail; Grade 2, mild hindlimb weakness with quick righting reflex; Grade 3, severe hindlimb weakness with slow righting reflex; Grade 4, hindlimb paralysis in one hindlimb or both [15].

#### 2.2. Behavioural testing

All behavioural testing was carried out by an experimenter blinded to the specific treatment groups. Mice were given 15– 20 min to acclimatize to the testing apparatus for a given assay before the testing began.

#### 2.2.1. Rotorod test

As a test of gross locomotor ability and coordination, mice were placed on a rotorod at a fixed rotational speed of 16 rpm. Mice were placed on the rotorod and the latency to falloff was determined. The maximum time for a trial was set at 180 s. Mice were trained on the rotorod for two consecutive days prior to disease induction to become familiar with the task. After disease induction, mice were tested on alternate days. Each mouse had three trials and the mean latency to fall per trial was calculated.

#### 2.2.2. Thermal hyperalgesia

After disease induction, mice were tested on alternate days using the Hargreaves test [13]. This test measures the latency to withdrawal from a noxious heat source applied to the plantar surface of the hindpaws. To prevent tissue damage, a cutoff score of 20 s of applied heat was used. Withdrawal latencies were recorded three separate times for each paw, and the average withdrawal latency was calculated.

#### 2.2.3. Cold allodynia

A single drop of acetone was applied to the dorsal surface of each hindpaw in turn and the duration of response (lifting, guarding, licking or biting) was recorded. On a test day, each paw was tested once separated by at least 5 min between tests. The average duration of response from the two hindpaws was then calculated.

#### 2.2.4. Mechanical allodynia

A set of calibrated von Frey hair monofilaments were used to assess the sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli. Mice were placed in clear pexiglass chambers on an elevated wire mesh screen. Calibrated von Frey hair filaments were applied to the plantar surface of each hindpaw in the ascending order of bending force (range: 0.04–2.0 g). Each hair was applied 5 times per paw, and the number of nocifensive responses (vigourous shaking, prolonged lifting, licking or biting of the stimulated paw) was recorded. The monofilament which produced nocifensive responses greater than 60% of the time was taken as the "threshold".

#### 2.3. Immunocytochemistry

Immunocytochemistry was carried out on EAE tissue taken at three different time points after disease induction. "Onset": lumbar spinal cords taken from mice at clinical grade 1 (n = 4); "Peak": lumbar spinal cords taken from mice at clinical grade 3 or 4 (n = 5); "Chronic": lumbar spinal cords taken 4 weeks after EAE induction (n = 3). Lumbar spinal cords from mice that only received the CFA and pertussis treatments served as controls (n = 3). Mice were anesthetized and sacrificed by transcardiac perfusion with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB). The lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord was removed, post-fixed for 3–4 h and then transferred to a 30% sucrose solution in 0.1 M PB. Spinal cords were embedded in Tissue Tek® O.C.T (Optimal Cutting Temperature) compound (Fisher Scientific, Edmonton, AB), frozen on liquid nitrogen and processed for cryostat sectioning (20 µm). The following antibodies were used: (i) rabbit anti-CGRP (1:4000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA), (ii) rabbit anti-galanin (1:4000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA), (iii) rat anti-CD3 (1:200, Serotec, Oxford, UK), (iv) rabbit anti-GFAP (1:1000, Dako, Mississauga, ON), (v) rat anti-F4/80 (1:200, Serotec, Oxford, UK). Primary antibodies were visualized using goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor®594 secondary antibodies (1:200, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR).

#### 2.4. Quantification of immunocytochemistry

Images were captured with a Hamamatsu Orca ER camera (Hamamatsu Photonics, Hamamatsu, Japan) using a Leica DMI6000 B inverted fluorescence microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). All image analysis and cell counting were carried out by an observer blind to the specific experimental conditions of the tissue that was analyzed. The innervation density of CGRP, galanin, GFAP and F4/80 in cross-sections of the lumbar spinal cord from L4 and L5 segments was measured using NIH ImageJ software. Optical density of CGRP, galanin, GFAP and F4/80 immunoreactivity was examined specifically in a standardized region that encompassed the superficial laminae (I–II) of the dorsal horn (three sections per slide, two slides per animal). The level of background staining was determined for each section and subtracted for all optical density measurements. The number of CD3+ positive cells within the grey matter of the superficial dorsal
horn (laminae I–II) was counted in spinal segments from L4 and L5. Left and right dorsal horns were quantified, and an average was calculated per section (three sections per slide, two slides per animal).

#### 2.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using Student's *t*-test and two-way repeated measures (RM) ANOVA with Tukey post hoc tests. Significance was set at P < 0.05.

#### 3. Results

### 3.1. Disease progression and neurobehavioural deficits in the $MOG_{35-55}$ model

We first assessed whether there are any observable differences in the disease course of mice with EAE induced with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> from different sources. Both cohorts of mice showed characteristic clinical deficits that developed between days 13 and 19 post induction. Symptoms began as paralysis in the tail (clinical grade (1) and progressed to more severe clinical deficits corresponding to clinical grade 3 (severe hindlimb weakness with slow righting reflex) or clinical grade 4 (hindlimb paralysis in one hindlimb or both) by day 21. Overall, there was a significant difference in these clinical deficits over the course of the disease between the two groups (P = 0.02, two-way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 1A). The mean day of symptom onset was slightly earlier in mice in the EAE "A" cohort (day 15 vs. days 16.5, respectively) and symptom severity was greater in these mice between days 16 and 19 post induction compared to those in the EAE "B" cohort. While clinical deficits tended to diminish in the later stages of the disease in the EAE "B" cohort (mean clinical score of 2.1 between days 24 and 28), they remained severe in mice in the EAE "A" cohort during this phase of the disease (mean clinical score of 2.95 between days 24 and 28) (P < 0.05, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 1A).

As an adjunct measure of neurological function, we also assessed these mice using the rotorod assay. Mice were trained to walk on the rotorod at a fixed rotational speed (16 rpm) prior to disease induction. All mice tested can carry out this task without any difficulty and can remain on the rotorod for the full duration of the test (180 s). Impairments in gross locomotor ability can therefore be easily detected by a failure to complete this task. Performance on the rototrod test was equally affected in mice from the EAE "A" and EAE "B" cohorts compared to CFA-treated controls (CFA vs. EAE "A" and CFA vs. EAE "B"; P < 0.001, two-way RM AN-OVA). Deficits in rotorod performance emerged slightly earlier and were more severe in the EAE "A" cohort, but there was no statistical difference between the overall performance of these two groups over time (EAE "A" vs. EAE "B"; P = 0.38, two-way RM ANOVA).

Additionally, we analyzed the rotorod performance data between the EAE "A" and EAE "B" cohorts at specific clinical grades over the course of the disease. Overall, rotorod performance was not significantly different between the two cohorts of mice at any specific clinical grades (P = 0.155, two-Way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 1C). Deficits in rotorod performance were, however, slightly more pronounced in the EAE "A" cohort at the early stages of disease progression (clinical grades 1 and 2). Rotorod performance became increasingly impaired as these mice progressed to more severe clinical grades 3 and 4 (Fig. 1C). In contrast, in the EAE "B" cohort, rotorod performance was only affected at the more severe clinical grades 3 and 4 compared to their baseline activity (Fig. 1C). These findings demonstrate that subtle differences in neurological impairments can be detected in mice with EAE depending on the source of the antigen (i.e., MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) used to induce the disease. Therefore, we next asked whether these differences in disease symptoms have any effects on pain behaviours in these mice.

### 3.2. No change in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the ${\rm MOG}_{\rm 35-55}$ EAE model

We first assessed whether there were any changes in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the hindpaws of mice with EAE. Collectively, mice with EAE (both EAE "A" and EAE "B" groups) showed no significant differences in their withdrawal latencies compared to CFA controls over the majority of the testing period (P = 0.55, two-way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 2A). At later stages of the disease (days 19–25), withdrawal latencies began to increase significantly compared to controls (P < 0.05, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 2A). This hyposensitivity is most likely explained by the significant impairments in gross locomotor ability seen in these mice at this stage of the disease (Fig. 1B and C).

In addition, we analyzed how the specific cohorts of EAE mice responded in this assay at specific stages of disease progression.



**Fig. 1.** Disease progression in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A) Progression of clinical deficits in the EAE "A" and EAE "B" cohorts of mice. Treatments are significantly different (P < 0.05, two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). (B) Rotorod performance is significantly impaired over time in mice with  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. Both cohorts are significantly impaired compared to CFA-treated controls (P < 0.05, two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). (C) Rotorod performance is significantly affected in EAE "A" ince at all stages of disease progression relative to their own baseline performance. Rotorod performance was only affected at clinical grades 3 and 4 in the EAE "B" cohort relative to baseline (P < 0.05, two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). There were no significant differences in overall rotorod ability between the two cohorts at any clinical grade.



**Fig. 2.** Sensitivity to noxious heat in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A) Mean latency to withdraw from a noxious heat source applied to the plantar surface of the hindpaw in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice and CFA-treated controls over time. Overall, there is no significant effect of group on withdrawal latencies over the testing period (p = 0.55, two-way RM ANOVA). Withdrawal latencies only become affected in  $MOG_{35-55}$  mice in the later stages of the disease (P < 0.05, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice. (B) Withdrawal latencies to noxious heat between the two cohorts of EAE mice at specific stages of disease progression. There are no significant differences in responses between the two cohorts.

Responses were assessed at "Baseline" (mean responses prior to disease induction); "Pre-symptomatic" (mean responses from the first day post induction up the first sign of clinical deficit); "Onset" (mean responses from mice at clinical grade 1); "Peak" (mean responses from mice at clinical grades 3 and 4); and in the "Chronic" (the mean responses from mice at clinical grade 2 or lower after having reached clinical grade 3 or 4) phase of the disease. There were no significant differences in the withdrawal latencies to noxious heat between the two cohorts of EAE mice at any stage of disease progression (P = 0.127, two-way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 2B). Similarly, withdrawal latencies were not significantly affected at any stage of disease progression within each of the respective cohorts relative to their own baseline responses. These findings suggest that thermal hyperalgesia in the hindpaws is not a major symptom in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model.

### 3.3. Cold and tactile allodynia are the predominant sensory disturbances in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model

Cold and tactile allodynia are often reported sensory disturbances in patients with MS [36]. We therefore assessed whether

similar symptoms can be detected in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Using the acetone test to detect changes in the sensitivity to innocuous cold stimuli, we find a significant difference in the duration of response to acetone application in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE compared to CFA-treated controls over the testing period (P = 0.019, two-way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 3A). Indicative of cold allodynia, responses in EAE mice become significantly prolonged compared to controls early in the course of the disease and persist for several days until severe clinical symptoms appear (Fig 3A). When we assess acetone responses in each EAE cohort separately and at specific stages in the disease, we detect no significant differences in response duration between the two cohorts at any stage of the disease (P = 0.141, two-way RM ANOVA). Cold allodynia was equally evident in mice from the EAE "A" and "B" cohorts with significantly prolonged responses in the earliest stages of the disease at the "Pre-symptomatic" and "Onset" phases relative to their respective baseline responses (P < 0.05, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 3B).

Similarly, MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice show a robust tactile allodynia that also becomes apparent prior to any signs of neurological deficit. Withdrawal thresholds to von Frey hair monofilaments drop significantly in mice with EAE compared to CFA-treated controls



**Fig. 3.** Sensitivity to innocuous cold in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A) The duration of response to a single application of acetone to the hindpaw becomes significantly prolonged in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice compared to CFA-treated controls ( $^{*}P < 0.05$ , two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice. Note that an increased duration in response is evident just prior to this period. (B) Duration of acetone responses between the two cohorts of EAE mice at specific stages of disease progression. There is no significant difference in the responses between the two cohorts at any stage. The duration of response was increased in both cohorts at the "Pre-symptomatic" and "Onset" stages relative to baseline responses ( $^{*}P < 0.05$ , two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test).



**Fig. 4.** Sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A) Nociceptive withdrawal thresholds to von Frey hair stimulation are significantly reduced in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice compared to CFA-treated controls (P < 0.05, two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). The black bar indicates the period of symptom "onset" in EAE mice. Note the significant reduction in withdrawal thresholds prior to this period. (B) Withdrawal thresholds between the two cohorts of EAE mice at specific stages of disease progression. There are no significant differences in withdrawal thresholds between the two cohorts at any stage. Withdrawal thresholds are significantly diminished in both cohorts at the "Pre-symptomatic" and "Onset" stages relative to baseline responses. Thresholds in the EAE "A" cohort are elevated relative to baseline at the "Peak" stage of disease (P < 0.05, two-way RM ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test).

beginning by day 5 post induction and persisting until major clinical deficits emerge in most mice by day 15 (P = 0.004, two-way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 4A). Like cold allodynia, tactile hypersensitivity was equally evident in both cohorts of mice with EAE. There are no significant differences in withdrawal thresholds between the two cohorts at different stages of the disease (P = 0.75, two-way RM ANOVA) (Fig. 4B). Mice in both the EAE "A" and "B" cohorts had similar reductions in their withdrawal thresholds relative to their baseline responses at the "Pre-symptomatic" stage and at disease "Onset" stage (P < 0.05, Tukey post hoc test). At the "Peak" stage of disease, allodynia could no longer be detected and withdrawal thresholds were actually elevated compared to baseline responses in both the "A" and "B" groups (Fig. 4B). Again, this is most likely a reflection of the significant impairments in gross locomotor function seen in these mice that hinders proper hindlimb function and makes withdrawal responses difficult to carry out. As clinical symptoms abate in some mice in the "Chronic" phase of the disease, we find that withdrawal thresholds tend to decrease below those seen in the baseline condition (Fig. 4B). Taken together, these findings illustrate that both cold and tactile allodynia are major sensory disturbances that can be detected early in the disease course of the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> model of EAE. This behavioural hypersen-



**Fig. 5.** Expression of sensory neuropeptides in the superficial dorsal horn in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A and B) Examples of CGRP expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA-treated control (A) and a  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mouse taken from the chronic phase of the disease (B). (C) There is no significant difference in CGRP expression between the two groups. (D and E) Examples of galanin expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA-treated control (D) and a  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mouse taken from the chronic phase of the disease (E). (F) There is no significant difference in galanin expression between the two groups. Scale bar in *E* = 100  $\mu$ m and applies throughout.

sitivity to both innocuous cold and tactile stimuli is independent of the specific degree of neurological deficits that arise in the disease.

### 3.4. Sensory neuropeptide expression in the spinal dorsal horn in the ${\rm MOG}_{\rm 35-55}$ EAE model

Having established that sensory processing is significantly affected in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, we next examined potential cellular mechanisms that may underlie these changes. Since there were no significant differences in pain behaviours between the two groups, tissues from EAE "A" and "B" cohorts were pooled for this analysis. We began by examining the expression patterns of two sensory neuropeptides, calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) and galanin, in the superficial dorsal horn from mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE and CFA-treated controls. The expression of these neuropeptides is significantly upregulated in the dorsal horn in conditions associated with neuropathic pain and allodynia [4,19,20,30]. To determine whether similar changes arise in a disease model such as EAE, we used immunocytochemistry and quantified the density of staining for CGRP and galanin in laminae I–II of the superficial dorsal horn of mice with EAE and CFA-treated controls. Neither CGRP nor galanin staining density changed significantly with EAE at any time point during disease progression compared to the expression seen in CFA controls (Fig. 5A–F).



**Fig. 6.** T cell expression in the superficial dorsal horn in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A–D) Expression of CD3+ T cells in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA-treated control (A) and  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice at disease "Onset" (B), "Peak" (C) and "Chronic" (D) phases of the disease. CD3+ cells were never observed in this region in CFA-treated mice. (E) Quantification of CD3+ cells in the superficial dorsal horn. Significant numbers of CD3+ cells are found in this region at all stages of the disease compared to CFA-treated controls (P < 0.05, *t*-test). Scale bar in  $D = 100 \,\mu\text{m}$  and applies throughout.



**Fig. 7.** Astrocyte reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A–D) GFAP expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA-treated control (A) and  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice at disease "Onset" (B), "Peak" (C) and "Chronic" (D) phases of the disease. (E) There is a slight but significant increase in GFAP expression at all stages of the disease compared to CFA-treated controls (P < 0.05, *t*-test). Scale bar in *D* = 100 µm and applies throughout.

### 3.5. Inflammation and reactive gliosis in the spinal dorsal horn in the $MOG_{35-55}$ EAE model

Mounting evidence suggests that inflammation and changes in glial cell reactivity in the spinal cord can significantly influence pain sensitivity in a variety of injury models [9,33,41]. While it is well established that the characteristic features of EAE models are inflammation and reactive gliosis in the CNS, little attention has been paid to how these reactions proceed in regions of the spinal cord dedicated to processing sensory inputs. We therefore examined the number of T cells present in the superficial dorsal horn as well as astrocyte and microglia/macrophage reactivity in this region at different stages of EAE disease progression.

Using a CD3 antibody (that detects both CD4+ and CD8+ subsets of T cells), we found significant numbers of T cells in the superficial dorsal horn over the course of the disease (Fig. 6B–D). In contrast, virtually no CD3+ cells were found in the superficial dorsal horn of CFA-treated control mice (Fig. 6A). The mean number of T cells present in the superficial dorsal horn was significantly greater in EAE mice at all disease stages compared to CFA-treated controls (CFA:  $0.16 \pm 0.1$  vs. "Onset":  $87.6 \pm 23.6$ ; vs. "Peak":  $95 \pm 23.3$ ; vs. "Chronic":  $15.3 \pm 3$ , P < 0.05, *t*-test) (Fig. 6E).

Astrocyte reactivity was also significantly enhanced in mice with EAE compared to CFA controls (Fig. 7A-D). The staining density of GFAP in the superficial dorsal horn was significantly greater in EAE mice at all stages of disease progression but was most evident during the "Peak" phase of the disease (P < 0.05, t-test) (Fig. 7E). Similarly, when we analyzed the expression of F4/80 to assess microglia/macrophage reactivity, we found a significant increase in staining density in this region at all stages of disease progression in EAE mice (Fig. 8A–E) (P < 0.05, t-test). Unlike T cell and astrocyte responses, however, enhanced microglia/macrophage reactivity was most pronounced in the "Chronic" phase of the disease (Fig. 8D and E). These findings suggest that, similar to other injury models associated with neuropathic pain behaviours, inflammation and reactive gliosis in the spinal dorsal horn may also be a critical mechanism underlying the behavioural hypersensitivity observed in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model.

#### 4. Discussion

It is now recognized that chronic pain is a major symptom associated with MS [2.6.29.31.37]. To date, however, few studies have examined pain-related behaviours in the animal model most commonly used to study the pathophysiology of MS, EAE. We have now characterized the behavioural changes in sensitivity to noxious heat and mechanical stimuli as well as innocuous cold in mice with a chronic-relapsing form of EAE. Using MOG<sub>35-55</sub> in female C57BL/ 6 mice, we demonstrate that mice with this form of EAE develop both cold and tactile allodynia early in the disease process, prior to any overt neurological deficits, similar to some patients with MS [31,36]. However, increased sensitivity to noxious heat (thermal hyperalgesia) in the hindpaws does not appear to be a major symptom in this particular EAE model. At the cellular level, we have identified significant changes in glial reactivity and an increased presence of T cells in the superficial dorsal horn as potential underlying mechanisms for the allodynia observed in these mice.

#### 4.1. Using EAE models to study neuropathic pain in MS

Similar to MS, clinical deficits in EAE models can follow either a relapsing-remitting, or a chronic-relapsing, disease course. To date, however, changes in pain sensitivity have only been examined in one type of EAE model [1]. Aicher and colleagues used PLP<sub>131-155</sub> to induce a relapsing-remitting form of EAE in the SJL/ J strain of mice and found that mice with this form of the disease develop a thermal hyperalgesia in the clinically affected body regions (i.e., the tail), which emerges at the peak of neurological deficits and persists for several weeks. In contrast, we found no significant changes in the sensitivity to noxious heat in the hindpaws of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. The observed differences in heat sensitivity between the PLP<sub>131-155</sub> model and the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model used here may be accounted for by the different assays used (tail-flick vs. "Hargreaves" plantar test) or they may reflect inherent differences in heat sensitivity between the different mouse strains used in these two models (SJL/J vs. C57BL/6) [28]. However,



**Fig. 8.** Microglia/macrophage reactivity in the superficial dorsal horn in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. (A–D) F4/80 expression in the superficial dorsal horn from a CFA-treated control (A) and  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice at disease "Onset" (B), "Peak" (C) and "Chronic" (D) phases of the disease. (E) There are significant increases in F4/80 expression at all stages of the disease compared to CFA-treated controls ( $^{\circ}P < 0.05$ , *t*-test). Scale bar in *D* = 100 µm and applies throughout.

a recent clinical report examining pain in MS has highlighted a strong association between the type and severity of pain experienced with MS subtype [11]. In addition, recent data from animal studies using a viral model of MS have shown that SJL/J mice infected with Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) exhibit distinct changes in pain sensitivity to both thermal and mechanical stimuli that are influenced by gender [23]. Therefore, it cannot be ruled out that different animal models used to study MS (i.e., PLP<sub>131-155</sub> EAE vs. MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE; EAE vs. TMEV) may generate their own distinct pain "phenotype".

Interestingly, we observed differences in disease course and symptom severity in different cohorts of animals immunized with MOG<sub>35-55</sub>. Even with these differences in the clinical manifestations of the disease, pain behaviours were affected equally in the two cohorts of mice. This suggests that, in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, changes in sensory function and the development of neuropathic pain behaviours are independent of symptom severity and the clinical course of the disease.

Allodynia to cold and tactile stimuli was also evident in mice with  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE. The most striking observation from these experiments was the development of these symptoms prior to any signs of overt neurological dysfunction. It has been noted that in a large proportion of MS patients with neuropathic pain, that pain can be a major symptom just prior to or immediately at the onset of clinical deficits in the disease [31]. These similarities highlight the usefulness of using the  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE model to study neuropathic pain in MS.

### 4.2. Potential cellular mechanisms for neuropathic pain in EAE-sensory neuropeptides

To assess the underlying mechanisms that mediate the development of cold and tactile allodynia in the  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE model, we examined the innervation patterns of two sensory neuropeptides commonly associated with pain processing, CGRP and galanin, in the spinal dorsal horn. Enhanced expression or sprouting of CGRP<sup>+</sup> axons in the dorsal horn has been identified as an important anatomic substrate for allodynia and autonomic dysreflexia in spinal cord injury models [4,19,30]. Similarly, neuropathic pain in peripheral nerve injury models is associated with significant alteration in the expression of galanin in the superficial dorsal horn [20]. However, in mice with  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE we found no changes in CGRP or galanin expression in this region. Therefore, alterations in sensory processing in the  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE model cannot be accounted for by differences in the expression patterns of these "classical" sensory neuropeptides at the spinal level.

### 4.3. Potential cellular mechanisms for neuropathic pain in EAE inflammation and reactive gliosis

Although we found no changes in sensory neuropeptide expression in the superficial dorsal horn, we did observe significant numbers of T cells and enhanced reactivity of astrocytes and microglia/ macrophages in this region at every stage of the disease ("Onset", "Peak" and "Chronic" phases). Non-neuronal cells such as microglia/macrophages, astrocytes and T cells are now recognized to be integral for the generation and maintenance of central sensitization and neuropathic pain [26,33,41].

T cells are known to traffic into the superficial dorsal horn after peripheral nerve injury [38] and mice lacking mature T cells (athymic "nude" mice) do not develop neuropathic pain after peripheral nerve injury [27]. Endoneurial T cells have also been implicated as a potential underlying mechanism of neuritic pain [10]. In MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice, CD3+ T cells are abundant in the superficial dorsal horn early in the disease correlating with the development of allodynia. T cells most likely affect sensory processing through their release of pro-inflammatory cytokines that can directly sensitize dorsal horn neurons [16]. There is also increasing evidence that T cells can produce and secrete neurotrophic factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) [18,34]. While this suggests that some infiltrating leukocytes in MS may have a neuroprotective role, BDNF is also known to modulate synaptic transmission and neuronal excitability [14,21] and is a key mediator in the genesis of central sensitization and pain hypersensitivity [8,17,22,24]. Whether specific subsets of T cells (i.e., CD4+ vs. CD8+; Th1 vs. Th2) differentially affect pain processing in EAE models is an important question that remains to be addressed.

Reactive gliosis in the superficial dorsal horn was also a prominent feature of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Increased reactivity of astrocytes and microglia/macrophages was evident at disease onset and, particularly for microglia, remained significantly elevated into the chronic stages of the disease. Much like T cells, reactive glial cells can modulate spinal excitability and mediate pain hypersensitivity through their production and release of cytokines and growth factors such as BDNF [8,9]. Similar to the neuropathic pain that arises as a result of peripheral nerve lesions, sensitization of spinal pain pathways and the consequent allodynia observed in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model may be triggered by increased activity in these non-neuronal cells in the superficial dorsal horn [7,12]. In the case of peripheral nerve injury, it has been suggested that injury in the periphery triggers the neuronal production of mediators such as ATP, the chemokines CCL2 (MCP-1) or fractalkine that directly activate spinal microglia [25,39,40,42]. Whether similar mechanisms are engaged in EAE models needs to be determined. Given that there is little evidence for direct injury to the peripheral nervous system in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model, the most likely source of spinal glial activation in the disease is from the initial trafficking of T cells into the CNS. These early inflammatory events may then set off the cascade of responses from astrocytes and microglia that leads the observed behavioural hypersensitivities.

#### 5. Conclusions

Taken together, our results demonstrate that the  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE model is a useful tool to study neuropathic pain in MS. Future studies will now be aimed at addressing the specific signaling pathways and cellular mechanisms that mediate the changes in sensory function observed in the disease. A better understanding of these mechanisms will help to tailor future therapies to treat the often neglected symptoms of neuropathic pain in MS.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a Pilot Research Grant from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada. We thank Dr. C. Power, F. Noorbakhsh and K. Ellestad for supplying key reagents and technical assistance. The authors have no competing interests to declare.

#### References

- Aicher SA, Silverman MB, Winkler CW, Bebo Jr BF. Hyperalgesia in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 2004;110:560–70.
- [2] Archibald CJ, McGrath PJ, Ritvo PG, Fisk JD, Bhan V, Maxner CE, et al. Pain prevalence, severity and impact in a clinic sample of multiple sclerosis patients. Pain 1994;58:89–93.
- [3] Baxter AG. The origin and application of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Rev Immunol 2007;7:904–12.
- [4] Bennett AD, Chastain KM, Hulsebosch CE. Alleviation of mechanical and thermal allodynia by CGRP(8–37) in a rodent model of chronic central pain. Pain 2000;86:163–75.
- [5] Bradl M, Hohlfeld R. Molecular pathogenesis of neuroinflammation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2003;74:1364–70.
- [6] Clifford DB, Trotter JL. Pain in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 1984;41:1270-2.

- [7] Colburn RW, Rickman AJ, DeLeo JA. The effect of site and type of nerve injury on spinal glial activation and neuropathic pain behavior. Exp Neurol 1999;157:289–304.
- [8] Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, et al. BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 2005;438:1017–21.
- [9] DeLeo JA, Yezierski RP. The role of neuroinflammation and neuroimmune activation in persistent pain. Pain 2001;90:1–6.
- [10] Eliav E, Herzberg U, Ruda MA, Bennett GJ. Neuropathic pain from an experimental neuritis of the rat sciatic nerve. Pain 1999;83:169–82.
- [11] Hadjimichael O, Kerns RD, Rizzo MA, Cutter G, Vollmer T. Persistent pain and uncomfortable sensations in persons with multiple sclerosis. Pain 2007;127:35–41.
- [12] Hains BC, Waxman SG. Activated microglia contribute to the maintenance of chronic pain after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 2006;26:4308–17.
- [13] Hargreaves K, Dubner R, Brown F, Flores C, Joris J. A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. Pain 1988;32:77–88.
- [14] Kafitz KW, Rose CR, Thoenen H, Konnerth A. Neurotrophin-evoked rapid excitation through TrkB receptors. Nature 1999;401:918–21.
- [15] Kalyvas A, David S. Cytosolic phospholipase A2 plays a key role in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis-like disease. Neuron 2004;41:323–35.
- [16] Kawasaki Y, Zhang L, Cheng JK, Ji RR. Cytokine mechanisms of central sensitization: distinct and overlapping role of interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in regulating synaptic and neuronal activity in the superficial spinal cord. J Neurosci 2008;28:5189–94.
- [17] Kerr BJ, Bradbury EJ, Bennett DL, Trivedi PM, Dassan P, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor modulates nociceptive sensory inputs and NMDA-evoked responses in the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 1999;19:5138–48.
- [18] Kerschensteiner M, Gallmeier E, Behrens L, Leal VV, Misgeld T, Klinkert WE, et al. Activated human T cells, B cells, and monocytes produce brain-derived neurotrophic factor in vitro and in inflammatory brain lesions: a neuroprotective role of inflammation? J Exp Med 1999;189:865–70.
- [19] Krenz NR, Weaver LC. Sprouting of primary afferent fibers after spinal cord transection in the rat. Neuroscience 1998;85:443–58.
- [20] Liu HX, Hokfelt T. The participation of galanin in pain processing at the spinal level. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2002;23:468–74.
- [21] Lu B. BDNF and activity-dependent synaptic modulation. Learn Mem 2003;10:86–98.
- [22] Lu VD, Ballanyi K, Colmers WF, Smith PA. Neuron type-specific effects of brainderived neurotrophic factor in rat superficial dorsal horn and their relevance to 'central sensitization'. J Physiol 2007;584:543–63.
- [23] Lynch JL, Gallus NJ, Ericson ME, Beitz AJ. Analysis of nociception, sex and peripheral nerve innervation in the TMEV animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 2008;136:293–304.
- [24] Mannion RJ, Costigan M, Decosterd I, Amaya F, Ma QP, Holstege JC, et al. Neurotrophins: peripherally and centrally acting modulators of tactile stimulus-induced inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:9385–90.

- [25] Milligan ED, Zapata V, Chacur M, Schoeniger D, Biedenkapp J, O'Connor KA, et al. Evidence that exogenous and endogenous fractalkine can induce spinal nociceptive facilitation in rats. Eur J Neurosci 2004;20:2294–302.
- [26] Moalem G, Tracey DJ. Immune and inflammatory mechanisms in neuropathic pain. Brain Res Rev 2006;51:240–64.
- [27] Moalem G, Xu K, Yu L. T lymphocytes play a role in neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury in rats. Neuroscience 2004;129:767–77.
- [28] Mogil JS, Wilson SG, Bon K, Lee SE, Chung K, Raber P, et al. Heritability of nociception I: responses of 11 inbred mouse strains on 12 measures of nociception. Pain 1999;80:67–82.
- [29] Moulin DE, Foley KM, Ebers GC. Pain syndromes in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 1988;38:1830-4.
- [30] Ondarza AB, Ye Z, Hulsebosch CE. Direct evidence of primary afferent sprouting in distant segments following spinal cord injury in the rat: colocalization of GAP-43 and CGRP. Exp Neurol 2003;184:373–80.
- [31] Osterberg A, Boivie J, Thuomas KA. Central pain in multiple sclerosis prevalence and clinical characteristics. Eur J Pain 2005;9:531–42.
- [32] Owens T, Sriram S. The immunology of multiple sclerosis and its animal model, experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neurol Clin 1995;13:51–73.
- [33] Scholz J, Woolf CJ. The neuropathic pain triad: neurons, immune cells and glia. Nat Neurosci 2007;10:1361–8.
- [34] Stadelmann C, Kerschensteiner M, Misgeld T, Bruck W, Hohlfeld R, Lassmann H. BDNF and gp145trkB in multiple sclerosis brain lesions: neuroprotective interactions between immune and neuronal cells? Brain 2002;125:75–85.
- [35] Steinman L, Zamvil SS. How to successfully apply animal studies in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis to research on multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 2006;60:12–21.
- [36] Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW. Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 2005; 114:473–81.
- [37] Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW. Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch Neurol 2003;60:1089–94.
- [38] Sweitzer SM, Hickey WF, Rutkowski MD, Pahl JL, DeLeo JA. Focal peripheral nerve injury induces leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system: potential relationship to neuropathic pain. Pain 2002;100:163–70.
- [39] Tsuda M, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Koizumi S, Mizokoshi A, Kohsaka S, Salter MW, et al. P2X4 receptors induced in spinal microglia gate tactile allodynia after nerve injury. Nature 2003;424:778–83.
- [40] Verge GM, Milligan ED, Maier SF, Watkins LR, Naeve GS, Foster AC. Fractalkine (CX3CL1) and fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) distribution in spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia under basal and neuropathic pain conditions. Eur J Neurosci 2004;20:1150–60.
- [41] Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF. Glial activation: a driving force for pathological pain. Trends Neurosci 2001;24:450–5.
- [42] Zhang J, De Koninck Y. Spatial and temporal relationship between monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression and spinal glial activation following peripheral nerve injury. J Neurochem 2006;97:772–83.





www.elsevier.com/locate/pain

# A diminished response to formalin stimulation reveals a role for the glutamate transporters in the altered pain sensitivity of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Camille Joanne Olechowski<sup>b</sup>, Ambica Parmar<sup>b</sup>, Brooke Miller<sup>b</sup>, Jared Stephan<sup>a</sup>, Gustavo Tenorio<sup>a</sup>, Kristy Tran<sup>c</sup>, James Leighton<sup>c</sup>, Bradley James Kerr<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alta., Canada

<sup>b</sup> Centre for Neuroscience, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alta., Canada

<sup>c</sup> Department of Chemistry, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 January 2010 Received in revised form 22 February 2010 Accepted 26 March 2010

Keywords: EAE Formalin Glutamate Glutamate transporter Pain

#### ABSTRACT

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) in which neuropathic pain is now recognized as a major symptom. To date, few studies have examined the underlying mechanisms of neuropathic pain in MS. Recently we showed that in a chronic-relapsing animal model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), characteristic neuropathic behaviours develop. However, responses to persistent noxious stimuli in EAE remain unexplored. We, therefore set out to characterize the changes in pain sensitivity in our EAE model to subcutaneous injection of formalin. We show here that female C57BL/6 mice immunized with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) display a significant decrease in elicited pain behaviours in response to formalin injection. These effects are mediated by decreased glutamate transporter expression associated with EAE. Our findings demonstrate that dysregulation of glutamate transporter function in EAE mice is an important mechanism underlying the abnormal pain sensitivity in response to persistent noxious stimulation of mice with EAE and also sheds light on a potential mechanism underlying neuropathic pain behaviours in this model.

© 2010 International Association for the Study of Pain. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Chronic pain is now recognized as a major symptom associated with the autoimmune demyelinating disease Multiple Sclerosis (MS) [2,3,35]. Common pain syndromes in MS patients include trigeminal neuralgia, musculoskeletal and neuropathic pain [19]. Of these pain syndromes, neuropathic pain is the least understood and most difficult to treat [34]. Neuropathic pain states are thought to arise from the process of central sensitization in the spinal cord [41]. Central sensitization is triggered by inputs from nociceptive afferents and is associated with a reduced threshold for activation of dorsal horn neurons to noxious stimulation [27].

The activation of glutamate receptors has been strongly implicated in the generation of central sensitization [5]. Glutamate receptor activation can be regulated by a family of Na<sup>+</sup> dependent high affinity glutamate transporters [7,10,11]. In the spinal cord, three isoforms of glutamate transporters have been described (EAAT-1, EAAT-2 and EAAT-3). EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 are present in glial cells at perisynaptic sites and carry out the majority of glutamate uptake activity [7]. In the spinal cord, these transporters are concentrated in the superficial dorsal horn [36] an area important for sensory input and pain processing. Dysregulation of glutamate transporter activity is associated with a persistent elevation in ambient glutamate and has been implicated as a potential mechanism for central sensitization and neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury [33].

Recently, neuropathic pain behaviours have been described and characterized in two commonly used animal models to study MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and the Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) model [1,15,24]. Mice with EAE and TMEV display characteristic neuropathic pain behaviours such as hyperalgesia to noxious heat and allodynia to cold and mechanical stimuli [1,15,23]. However, the underlying mechanisms that generate neuropathic pain in these models remain unknown. In addition, it remains unclear how the responses to more persistent noxious stimuli are affected in these animals. Given that mice with EAE exhibit a robust allodynia to both cold

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Alberta, Clinical Sciences Building, 8-120, Edmonton, Alta., Canada T6G-2G3. Tel.: +1 780 492 3380; fax: +1 780 407 3200.

E-mail address: bradley.kerr@ualberta.ca (B.J. Kerr).

and mechanical stimulation [24], we predicted that they would show a similar hypersensitivity in response to more intense noxious stimulation. To our surprise, mice with EAE showed a significant decrease in elicited pain behaviours in response to subcutaneous injection of formalin, a behavioural model of injury-induced central sensitization [6]. We show here that these effects are mediated by decreased glutamate transporter expression associated with the disease. Our findings demonstrate that dysregulation of glutamate transporter function is an important mechanism underlying the abnormal pain sensitivity of mice with EAE.

#### 2. Methods

All animal studies were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and Policies with the approval from the Animal Care and Use Committee: Health Sciences for the University of Alberta.

#### 2.1. Induction of EAE

A total of 54, 10–12 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice were used. Mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (Saint-Constant, Quebec), housed in standard laboratory cages and had free access to food and water throughout the study period. We induced EAE in mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55 (MEVG-WYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK;  $MOG_{35-55}$ ) obtained from the Peptide Synthesis Facility, University of Calgary (Calgary, AB). EAE was induced by subcutaneous immunization with 50  $\mu$ g of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). The CFA was supplemented with an additional 4mg/ml heat killed Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Ra (Difco Laboratories) to a final concentration of 5 mg/mL. An intraperitoneal injection of 300 ng Pertussis toxin (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was administered at the time of induction and again 48 h later. Control mice were treated with CFA (as above) and Pertussis toxin alone (*n* = 28).

#### 2.2. EAE assessment

Mice were monitored daily and the clinical signs of EAE were graded on the following scale: Grade 0, normal mouse; Grade 1, flaccid or paralyzed tail. All experimental procedures were carried out once mice reached a score of clinical Grade 1. We have shown previously that at this stage of the disease, mice with EAE display signs of both cold and tactile allodynia but gross locomotor behaviour is unaffected [24]. To confirm that mice with EAE had no gross locomotor deficits that would interfere with the behavioural responses to subcutaneous formalin, they were tested on a rotorod at a fixed rotational speed of 16 rpm. Mice were placed on the rotorod and the latency to fall off was determined. The maximum time for a trial was set at 180 s. Mice were trained on the rotorod for two consecutive days prior to disease induction to become familiar with the task. Impairments in gross locomotor function are revealed when animals can no longer remain on the rotorod for the duration of the trial.

#### 2.3. Formalin test

Prior to testing, each animal was allowed to acclimatize to the testing apparatus. The apparatus was an observation box (25 cm  $\times$  23 cm  $\times$  15 cm) made of clear plexi-glass with a raised platform to allow for an unobstructed view of the hind paw. After acclimatization, mice were lightly restrained and given a 30  $\mu$ l subcutaneous injection of a 0.5% formaldehyde in saline solution into the plantar surface of one hind paw. Each mouse was then placed

back into the observation box and nociceptive behaviours were monitored and timed in 5-min blocks for a 30-min period. Nociceptive behaviours were defined as licking or lifting of the injected paw, flinching and vigorous shaking. The total time (in seconds) mice spent exhibiting nociceptive behaviours was determined for the first phase (0–15 min) and second phase (15–30 min) of the response (CFA n = 14; EAE n = 9).

#### 2.4. Drug treatments

Cohorts of mice were treated with the drug (*R*)-(-)-1-methyl-1nicotinoyl-2-pyrazoline (MS-153) [38], a compound known to promote glutamate transporter activity [20,31]. Mice were treated with 10 mg/kg I.P. 20 min prior to formalin testing (see above) (CFA *n* = 5; EAE *n* = 6). A separate cohort of mice (CFA *n* = 3; EAE *n* = 3) were treated with MS-153 (10 mg/kg I.P.) and euthanized 1 h later without any stimulation to assess FOS expression (see Section 2.5 below). In a separate experiment, mice (CFA *n* = 5; EAE *n* = 6) were treated with LY-341495 (0.25 mg/kg I.P.) (Tocris) a selective group II metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) antagonist [13] 20 min prior to formalin testing.

#### 2.5. Immunocytochemistry

Immunocytochemistry was carried out on CFA or EAE mice at Clinical Grade 1. Spinal cords were taken 1 h after MS-153 treatment without any further stimulation or 1 h after formalin injection. Mice were euthanized with high dose pentobarbital (Euthanyl: 240 mg/ml) and transcardiac perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PB). The lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord was removed, post-fixed for 3–4 h and then transferred to a 30% sucrose solution in 0.1 M PB. Spinal cords were embedded in Tissue Tek<sup>®</sup> O.C.T (Optimal Cutting Temperature) compound (Fisher Scientific, Edmonton, AB), frozen on liquid nitrogen and processed for cryostat sectioning (20 µm). The primary antibody used was goat anti-rabbit *c-fos* (1:1000, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA). The primary antibody was visualized using goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor<sup>®</sup>594 secondary antibodies (1:200, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR).

#### 2.6. Quantification of immunocytochemistry

Images were captured with a Zeiss Axiocam MRm camera (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) using a Zeiss Observer.Z1 inverted fluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). All image analysis and cell counting were carried out by an observer blind to the specific experimental conditions of the tissue being analyzed. FOS positive cells were identified in the superficial dorsal horn (lamiae I–III). Cells were counted from dorsal horns ipsilateral and contralateral to the injection. For FOS quantification from unstimulated mice, FOS positive cells were counted from both dorsal horns, pooled and then averaged. Three sections per slide, 2 slides per animal were analyzed.

#### 2.7. Western blots

Protein samples (20  $\mu$ g) were separated on a 10% SDS gel. The samples were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). The membranes were blocked in 5% milk in PBS–Tween 20 (PBS-T) (0.05%), and then incubated overnight at 4 °C in primary antibodies EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), pNR1<sup>Ser896</sup>, pNR1<sup>Ser897</sup> (1:1000, Cedarlane Laboratories) and NR1 (1:1000, Sigma), diluted in PBS-T. The membranes were then washed in PBS-T and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit; Jackson ImmunoResearch) diluted at 1:50,000. The membranes were washed and binding of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies detected using chemiluminescence. (Western Lightning Chemiluminescence Reagent Plus, Perkin-Elmer.) Membranes were re-probed with monoclonal mouse anti- $\beta$ -actin (1:2000, Sigma) to ensure equal loading of samples. The films were scanned and the changes in protein expression levels between CFA and EAE mice as a ratio were quantified using ImageJ software.

#### 2.8. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using the Student's *t*-test and one-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc tests. Significance was set at P < 0.05.

#### 3. Results

### 3.1. Diminished pain behaviours in response to formalin stimulation in *EAE* mice

To determine how mice with EAE respond to a persistent noxious stimulus we assessed their behaviour in the formalin test [4]. Prior to testing, mice with EAE (clinical Grade 1) were assessed for gross locomotor function using the rotorod test. No significant deficits in gross locomotor function or coordination were observed in these animals at this stage of the disease (Fig. 1A, also see [24]). Following formalin injection, mice with EAE showed significantly reduced pain behaviours when compared to the CFA control mice. Decreased nociceptive behaviours were evident in both Phase 1 (P = 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 1B) and even more strikingly in Phase 2 of the formalin response (P < 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 1C).

#### 3.2. Diminished glutamate transporter expression in EAE mice

Second phase nociceptive behaviours in the formalin test are related to activity at glutamate receptors [43]. We therefore examined the expression of key regulators of glutamate receptor activity, the glutamate transporters [7] in mice with EAE. We began by examining glutamate transporter expression in the spinal cord of EAE mice in the absence of any noxious stimulation. Western blots determined that in the spinal cords of mice with EAE at clinical Grade 1, there is a significant reduction of EAAT-1 (P = 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 2A and B). There is an even more dramatic reduction in EAAT-2 expression, which is decreased to approximately 50% of the levels seen in CFA control mice (P < 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 2C and D).



**Fig. 2.** Spinal EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 expression in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice. (A) There is significantly diminished expression of EAAT-1 in the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset compared to CFA controls mice. (B) Quantification of the Western blots for EAAT-1 (\*P = 0.001, *t*-test). (C) EAAT-2 glutamate transporter expression is also significantly diminished in the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA controls. (D) Quantification of the Western blots for EAAT-2 (\*P < 0.001, *t*-test).

### 3.3. Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits in spinal cords of EAE mice

Given the down regulation of glutamate transporters in EAE mice we next wanted to assess how this might affect activity at glutamate receptors. Phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor is known to correlate with changes in nociceptive behaviours [44]. In the absence of any noxious stimulation, phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit at both the serine 896 and serine



**Fig. 1.** Responses to formalin injection in  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice. (A) Gross locomotor behaviour is not affected in EAE mice at clinical Grade 1. Mice with EAE show no impairments in the rotorod test at this stage of the disease. (B) Duration of nociceptive responses for Phase 1 (0–15 min after formalin injection). The response to formalin is significantly decreased in EAE mice compared to CFA-treated controls (\*P = 0.001, *t*-test). (C) Duration of formalin responses in Phase 2 (15–30 min after formalin injection). Responses are significantly decreased in EAE mice compared to CFA control mice (\*P < 0.001, *t*-test).

897 sites is significantly greater in the spinal cord of mice with EAE compared to CFA controls. NR1 phosphorylation at serine 896 was found to be 72% higher in EAE spinal cords compared to CFA control mice (P < 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 3A and D) while phosphorylation at the serine 897 site was elevated by 65% (P < 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 3B and E). The levels of total NR1 protein were slightly reduced in the spinal cord of EAE mice but these differences were not significant (Fig. 3C and F).

#### 3.4. Increased cellular activation in the spinal cords of EAE mice

To determine what might account for the increased phosphorylation of NMDA receptors in the un-stimulated EAE spinal cord, we assessed the patterns of ongoing cellular activity in the superficial dorsal horn of mice with EAE and CFA controls. Using the protein product of the immediate early gene *c-fos* as a marker for cellular activity [12], we find that in the absences of any noxious stimulation, FOS expression is significantly higher throughout the dorsal horn of mice with EAE compared to CFA controls (mean EAE FOS+ cells:  $112 \pm 9$  vs. CFA FOS+ cells:  $20 \pm 6$ , P < 0.001, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 4A, B and E).

To establish if a loss of glutamate uptake capacity might account for this increase in cellular activation in the dorsal horn of EAE mice we assessed FOS expression after treating mice with MS-153, a compound that promotes glutamate transporter activity [20,31]. In EAE mice, MS-153 treatment leads to a significant reduction in FOS positive cells in the dorsal horn compared to the untreated EAE spinal cord (EAE FOS+ cells:  $112 \pm 9$  vs. EAE/MS-153 FOS+ cells:  $77 \pm 8$ , P = 0.04, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 4C–E). FOS expression does however, remain significantly higher in these mice compared to CFA controls (EAE + MS-153 vs. CFA, P = 0.003; EAE + MS-153 vs. CFA + MS-153, P = 0.01, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 4E) sug-

gesting that additional factors also contribute to the enhanced basal activation of cells in the dorsal horn of EAE mice.

#### 3.5. Cellular activation in response to formalin stimulation

We next assessed how cells in the dorsal horn of EAE mice respond to intense noxious stimulation with formalin. As expected, CFA control mice show a dramatic (approximately fourfold) increase in the number FOS positive cells in the superficial dorsal horn ipsilateral to formalin stimulation (Fig. 5A, compare to Fig. 4A). In contrast, formalin stimulation triggers little change in the activation of cells in the dorsal horn of EAE mice. There is virtually no change in FOS expression compared to baseline levels (Fig. 5B, compare to Fig. 4B). Thus, in agreement with their behavioural phenotypes, CFA control mice are significantly more responsive at the cellular level after formalin stimulation than mice with EAE (P = 0.001, t-test) (Fig. 5C).

### 3.6. Decreased phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits in the spinal cord of EAE mice in response to formalin stimulation

In the absence of stimulation, EAE mice display enhanced cellular activation and phosphorylation of NR1 subunits. Following formalin stimulation they become hypo-responsive behaviourally and have little change in their patterns of cellular activation. Therefore, we next assessed how phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits is affected by formalin stimulation in EAE mice. Following formalin injection there is a significant decrease in the phosphorylation at the serine 896 site of the NR1 subunit in the spinal cords of EAE mice compared to CFA controls (P = 0.035, t-test) (Fig. 6A and C). Phosphorylation at the serine 897 site of the NR1 subunit remains elevated in the EAE spinal cord after formalin stimulation but is no longer significantly different from the levels seen in CFA control mice (P = 0.607, t-test) (Fig. 6B and D). Taken together, these results



**Fig. 3.** Phosphorylation of NR1 subunits in the spinal cord of MOG<sub>35–55</sub> EAE mice. (A) There is a significant increase in the phosphorylation of NR1 at Ser896 in EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA controls. (B) Phosphorylation of NR1 at Ser897 is significantly increased in EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA controls. (C) Total NR1 expression is relatively unaffected in EAE spinal cords compared CFA controls. (D) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1<sup>Ser896</sup> phosphorylation (\**P* < 0.001, *t*-test). (F) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1. There is no significant different between the groups (*P* > 0.05, *t*-test).



**Fig. 4.** FOS expression in the spinal dorsal horn of  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice. (A and B) Representative images of FOS expression in the superficial dorsal horn from CFA (A) and EAE (B) mice in the absence of stimulation. (C and D) Representative images of FOS expression in the superficial dorsal horn from CFA (C) and EAE (D) mice after treatment with MS-153 treatment in the absence of stimulation. (E) Quantification of FOS positive cells in the superficial dorsal horn. There is a significant increase in FOS expression in the dorsal horn of EAE mice compared to CFA controls. FOS expression is significantly decreased in EAE mice treated with MS-153 when compared to EAE mice without MS-153 mice compared to EAE mice without MS-153 mice compared to EAE mice without MS-153 mice compared CFA controls. FOS expression is still significantly higher in EAE + MS-153 mice compared CFA controls (\**P* = 0.01, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test). Scale bar in *D* = 200 µm and applies throughout.



**Fig. 5.** FOS expression in dorsal horn of  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE mice after formalin. (A and B) Representative images of FOS expression in the ipsilateral superficial dorsal horn from CFA (A) and EAE (B) mice after formalin injection. (C) Relative to the un-stimulated condition there is a fourfold increase in FOS expression in CFA mice after formalin injection. Relative to the un-stimulated condition there is a fourfold increase in FOS expression in CFA mice after formalin injection. Relative to the un-stimulated condition there is a fourfold increase in FOS expression in CFA mice after formalin injection. Relative to the un-stimulated condition there is a fourfold increase in FOS expression in CFA mice after formalin injection.

suggest that in response to intense noxious stimulation, inhibitory signaling pathways may be engaged more readily in EAE mice.

#### 3.7. Normalization of formalin responses in EAE mice

Decreased glutamate transporter expression can be associated with significant increases in ambient glutamate levels in the spinal cord [14,33]. Given the reduced levels of glutamate transporters in EAE mice, we hypothesized that following formalin stimulation, levels of extracellular glutamate might be elevated sufficiently so that pre-synaptic inhibitory mGluRs become activated more read-ily [13,42]. Increased activation of these inhibitory pathways in EAE mice could then account for the lack of responsiveness to formalin stimulation. To investigate this, we treated mice with an mGluR2/3 antagonist, LY-341495 prior to formalin injection. The nociceptive responses to formalin injection in EAE mice receiving LY-341495 were indistinguishable from CFA-treated controls. Nociceptive behaviours were normalized in EAE mice compared to CFA controls in both phases of the formalin response (Phase 1: P = 0.183, *t*-test) (Phase 2: P = 0.387, *t*-test) (Fig. 7A and B).

To verify that these effects are mediated by a dysregulation of glutamate transporters in EAE, we assessed formalin responses after treatment with the drug MS-153. Like LY-341495, treatment with MS-153 was found to normalize the behavioural response to formalin to that of CFA controls (Phase 1: P = 0.156, *t*-test) (Phase 2: P = 0.668, *t*-test) (Fig. 7C and D). These results demonstrate that the diminished responsiveness to formalin stimulation in EAE can be accounted for by a disturbance in the glutamate uptake system.

#### 4. Discussion

Previously, we have shown that mice with EAE exhibit a robust allodynia in response to acute application of innocuous cold and mechanical stimuli [24]. We have now examined how these mice respond to a more persistent and intense noxious stimulus using the formalin model of injury-induced sensitization [4]. Unexpectedly, mice with EAE were hypo-responsive in this model, exhibiting significantly less nociceptive behaviours during both phases of the response. We show that the lack of behavioural response to formalin stimulation in these mice can be accounted for by a de-



**Fig. 6.** NR1 subunit phosphorylation after formalin injection. (A) There is a significant decrease in NR1<sup>Ser896</sup> phosphorylation after formalin injection in EAE mice when compared to spinal cords from CFA controls. (B) Phosphorylation of NR1<sup>Ser897</sup> is not significantly different between CFA and EAE spinal cords after formalin injection. (C) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1<sup>Ser896</sup> phosphorylation (\**P* = 0.035, *t*-test). (D) Quantification of the Western blots for NR1<sup>Ser897</sup> phosphorylation (*P* = 0.607). NS = not significant.

creased expression of the glutamate transporters, EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 in the spinal cord. Deficits in glutamate uptake arising from the downregulation of EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 in EAE mice was predicted to allow excessive amounts of extracellular glutamate to accumulate and engage pre-synaptic inhibitory mGluRs more readily after formalin stimulation. By treating EAE mice with LY-341495, an antagonist for inhibitory group II mGluRs, or by promoting glutamate transporter activity with the drug MS-153, we were able to normalize the formalin response in EAE mice. Importantly, we also show that in the absence of noxious stimulation, the spinal cords of EAE mice display signs of ongoing cellular activation and hyperexcitability that is mediated in part by the decreased levels of EAAT-1 and EAAT-2. These findings have direct implications for the underlying causes of neuropathic pain in MS.

The glutamate transporters are important for regulating the levels of extracellular glutamate at the synapse. Decreased expression of the glutamate transporters has been observed in post mortem samples from patients with MS and rats with EAE [22,25,39]. Glutamate transporters have also been found to be decreased in other pathologies that are associated with neuropathic pain such as after spinal cord and peripheral nerve injury [36]. Spinal cord injury, MS and peripheral nerve injury are all pathologies associated with an increased inflammatory response in the CNS. Inflammation and reactive gliosis are recognized as integral processes in triggering central sensitization and neuropathic pain [18,30,40]. Inflammatory cytokines are also known to influence glutamate transporter expression in vitro [37]. Previously, we have demonstrated that mice with EAE show significant increases in the reactivity of microglia/macrophages along with high numbers of T-cells in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord even at the earliest stages of disease [24]. Given that these cell types are a major source for many of the cytokines known to influence transporter expression and trafficking, it is also likely that this early inflammatory response in the dorsal horn can account for the downregulation of EAAT-1 and EAAT-2 observed here.

A physiological consequence of decreased glutamate transporter expression in EAE mice would be an elevation in ambient



**Fig. 7.** Responses to formalin injection in EAE mice after treatment with LY-341495 or MS-153. (A) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 1 of the formalin test after LY-341495 treatment. There is no significant difference in displayed pain behaviours between the CFA control and EAE mice (P = 0.183). (B) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 2 of the formalin test after LY-341495 treatment. There is no significant difference in displayed pain behaviours between the CFA control and EAE mice (P = 0.183). (B) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 2 of the formalin test after LY-341495 treatment. There is no significant difference in nociceptive responses between CFA and EAE mice (P = 0.156). (D) Duration of nociceptive responses in Phase 2 of the formalin test with MS-153 treatment. There is no significant difference in nociceptive responses in Phase 2 of the formalin test with MS-153 treatment. There is no significant difference in nociceptive responses between CFA and EAE mice (P = 0.156). (D) Duration of nociceptive responses between CFA and EAE mice (P = 0.668). NS = not significant.

extracellular glutamate levels at the synapse. Loss of these transporters could also lead to "spillover" of glutamate into nearby or adjacent synapses and the activation of distant cells. Using FOS as a marker of cellular activation, we find that, even in the absence of noxious stimulation, mice with EAE have a high level of ongoing cellular activity that is distributed throughout the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. This pattern of activity could be significantly reduced following treatment with MS-153, a compound that promotes glutamate uptake activity [20,31]. While MS-153 could reduce the levels of FOS expression compared to untreated EAE mice, FOS expression was still significantly elevated in EAE mice treated with MS-153 compared to CFA controls. This suggests that additional factors also contribute to the ongoing cellular activation in the dorsal horn of EAE mice. The most likely source for these signals is the high level of reactive gliosis and inflammation found in the superficial dorsal horn of EAE mice. Reactive glia and inflammatory cells can release a number of mediators, including glutamate, which could increase the excitability and activation of neurons in the spinal cord [37,40]. The high degree of basal activity might also account for the enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunits seen in these mice prior to noxious stimulation. This high degree of excitability and activation suggests a likely mechanism for the hypersensitivity/allodynia observed in these animals in response to acutely delivered innocuous stimuli [24].

While changes in the sensitivity of peripheral nociceptors can not be excluded as a potential mechanism mediating these effects, we have previously shown that at this early stage of the disease there are no significant changes in the levels of afferent derived CGRP or galanin in the dorsal horn [24]. It is therefore unlikely that alterations in the content of peripherally derived neuromodulators are mediating these effects.

In contrast, mice with EAE are hypo-responsive following persistent, intense noxious stimulation with formalin. Interestingly, this behavioural profile might also be accounted for by the loss of glutamate transporter expression in these mice. Studies using naïve, adult rats have shown that formalin responses can be significantly attenuated following antisense knockdown of EAAT-2 [21]. It has been postulated that under conditions associated with a rapid increase in glutamate release from primary afferents (such as after formalin stimulation), that blockade or loss of transporter expression may result in an elevation in the levels of extracellular glutamate sufficiently so that it begins to act upon inhibitory presynaptic mGluRs [16,21]. It is well established that agonists for pre-synaptic, inhibitory mGluR2/3 receptors can suppress formalin responses and these effects can be reversed by the antagonist LY-341495 [13,32]. In EAE mice, the loss of glutamate transporter expression coupled with the surge of afferent derived glutamate following formalin might lead to elevations in the levels of extracellular glutamate such that these inhibitory receptors are engaged more readily. These processes would suppress glutamate release, decrease spinal activation and inhibit pain processing.

The idea that there is greater engagement of pre-synaptic inhibitory pathways in EAE mice after intense noxious stimulation is supported by our observations that the cellular activation of dorsal horn neurons in response to formalin is unaffected in mice with EAE compared to CFA controls. Additionally, formalin stimulation leads to a significant decrease in the phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit on EAE mice, particularly at the serine 896 site, suggesting that inhibitory mechanisms are being engaged under these conditions. By treating EAE mice with the selective group II mGluR antagonist, LY-341495 prior to formalin stimulation, we were able to restore formalin responses back to control levels. Furthermore, by promoting glutamate transporter activity in EAE mice with MS-153 we find a similar normalization of behaviours. This restoration of pain behaviours suggests that the initial lack of responsiveness to formalin in EAE mice does not arise due to a specific deficit in peripheral afferent input but instead highlights the role of central inhibitory mechanisms in these processes.

Alternatively, the diminished pain behaviours in EAE mice after formalin stimulation may be accounted for by a process of "reverse transport" by the glutamate transporters themselves [26,28]. The proper functioning of the glutamate transporters is dependent on membrane potential and specific transmembrane ion gradients [8,29]. Under pathological conditions, metabolic insults can disrupt intracellular energy stores and perturb ionic gradients such that the transporters begin to "reverse transport" glutamate out into the extracellular space [28]. Instead of absorbing excess extracellular glutamate, the transporters can become a primary source for elevating ambient glutamate levels. This phenomenon has been documented in cases of brain ischemia and in the acute phase after spinal cord injury [17,28]. Interestingly, it has been observed that the inflammatory insults that are the hallmarks of MS and EAE are also associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, energy failure and altered ion exchange mechanisms [9]. These metabolic insults may therefore trigger a similar inverse operation of the transporters in MS and EAE. If ambient glutamate levels were elevated through these processes this could account for the allodynia and ongoing cellular activity observed in EAE mice in the absence of intense noxious stimulation. On the other hand, formalin injection itself may also be capable of triggering "reverse transport" of glutamate [36]. In EAE mice, this could have an additive effect and elevate glutamate levels beyond a threshold that results in the recruitment of pre-synaptic inhibitory mGluRs and thus an attenuation of pain behaviours.

#### 5. Conclusions

In summary, we now provide evidence that decreased expression of spinal glutamate transporters is an important mechanism contributing to the altered pain sensitivity of mice with EAE. Dysregulated glutamate transporter function in these mice can account for the impaired behavioural responses to formalin stimulation and also sheds light on a potential mechanism mediating the allodynia observed in this model. Given the importance of glutamate in pain processing, the glutamate transporters may represent a novel pathway in which to manipulate activity at glutamate receptor complexes, control spinal excitability and manage neuropathic pain.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a Research Grant from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada. B.J.K. is supported by a Donald Paty Career Development Award from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada. The authors have no competing financial interests to declare.

#### References

- [1] Aicher SA, Silverman MB, Winkler CW, Bebo Jr BF. Hyperalgesia in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 2004;110:560–70.
- [2] Archibald CJ, McGrath PJ, Ritvo PG, Fisk JD, Bhan V, Maxner CE, Murray TJ. Pain prevalence, severity and impact in a clinic sample of multiple sclerosis patients. Pain 1994;58:89–93.
- [3] Clifford DB, Trotter JL. Pain in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 1984;41:1270-2.
- [4] Coderre TJ, Fundytus ME, McKenna JE, Dalal S, Melzack R. The formalin test: a validation of the weighted-scores method of behavioural pain rating. Pain 1993;54:43–50.
- [5] Coderre TJ, Melzack R. The contribution of excitatory amino acids to central sensitization and persistent nociception after formalin-induced tissue injury. J Neurosci 1992;12:3665–70.
- [6] Coderre TJ, Vaccarino AL, Melzack R. Central nervous system plasticity in the tonic pain response to subcutaneous formalin injection. Brain Res 1990;535:155–8.
- [7] Danbolt NC. Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 2001;65:1-105.
- [8] Erecinska M. Stimulation of the Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> pump activity during electrogenic uptake of acidic amino acid transmitters by rat brain synaptosomes. J Neurochem 1989;52:135–9.
- [9] Friese MA, Craner MJ, Etzensperger R, Vergo S, Wemmie JA, Welsh MJ, Vincent A, Fugger L. Acid-sensing ion channel-1 contributes to axonal degeneration in autoimmune inflammation of the central nervous system. Nat Med 2007;13:1483–9.
- [10] Gadea A, Lopez-Colome AM. Glial transporters for glutamate, glycine and GABA I. Glutamate transporters. J Neurosci Res 2001;63:453–60.
- [11] Huang YH, Bergles DE. Glutamate transporters bring competition to the synapse. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2004;14:346–52.
- [12] Hunt SP, Pini A, Evan G. Induction of c-fos-like protein in spinal cord neurons following sensory stimulation. Nature 1987;328:632–4.
- [13] Jones CK, Eberle EL, Peters SC, Monn JA, Shannon HE. Analgesic effects of the selective group II (mGlu2/3) metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists LY379268 and LY389795 in persistent and inflammatory pain models after acute and repeated dosing. Neuropharmacology 2005;49:206–18.
- [14] Liaw WJ, Stephens Jr RL, Binns BC, Chu Y, Sepkuty JP, Johns RA, Rothstein JD, Tao YX. Spinal glutamate uptake is critical for maintaining normal sensory transmission in rat spinal cord. Pain 2005;115:60–70.
- [15] Lynch JL, Gallus NJ, Ericson ME, Beitz AJ. Analysis of nociception, sex and peripheral nerve innervation in the TMEV animal model of multiple sclerosis. Pain 2008;136:293–304.
- [16] Maki R, Robinson MB, Dichter MA. The glutamate uptake inhibitor L-transpyrrolidine-2,4-dicarboxylate depresses excitatory synaptic transmission via a presynaptic mechanism in cultured hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 1994;14:6754–62.
- [17] McAdoo DJ, Xu G, Robak G, Hughes MG, Price EM. Evidence that reversed glutamate uptake contributes significantly to glutamate release following experimental injury to the rat spinal cord. Brain Res 2000;865:283–5.
- [18] Moalem G, Tracey DJ. Immune and inflammatory mechanisms in neuropathic pain. Brain Res Rev 2006;51:240–64.

- [19] Moulin DE, Foley KM, Ebers GC. Pain syndromes in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 1988;38:1830–4.
- [20] Nakagawa T, Ozawa T, Shige K, Yamamoto R, Minami M, Satoh M. Inhibition of morphine tolerance and dependence by MS-153, a glutamate transporter activator. Eur J Pharmacol 2001;419:39–45.
- [21] Niederberger E, Schmidtko A, Rothstein JD, Geisslinger G, Tegeder I. Modulation of spinal nociceptive processing through the glutamate transporter GLT-1. Neuroscience 2003;116:81–7.
- [22] Ohgoh M, Hanada T, Smith T, Hashimoto T, Ueno M, Yamanishi Y, Watanabe M, Nishizawa Y. Altered expression of glutamate transporters in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 2002;125:170–8.
- [23] Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ. Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 2008.
- [24] Olechowski CJ, Truong JJ, Kerr BJ. Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 2009;141:156–64.
- [25] Pampliega O, Domercq M, Villoslada P, Sepulcre J, Rodriguez-Antiguedad A, Matute C. Association of an EAAT2 polymorphism with higher glutamate concentration in relapsing multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 2008;195: 194–8.
- [26] Phillis JW, Ren J, O'Regan MH. Transporter reversal as a mechanism of glutamate release from the ischemic rat cerebral cortex: studies with DL-threobeta-benzyloxyaspartate. Brain Res 2000;868:105–12.
- [27] Price DD, Hayes RL, Ruda M, Dubner R. Spatial and temporal transformations of input to spinothalamic tract neurons and their relation to somatic sensations. J Neurophysiol 1978;41:933–47.
- [28] Rossi DJ, Oshima T, Attwell D. Glutamate release in severe brain ischaemia is mainly by reversed uptake. Nature 2000;403:316–21.
- [29] Sarantis M, Attwell D. Glutamate uptake in mammalian retinal glia is voltageand potassium-dependent. Brain Res 1990;516:322–5.
- [30] Scholz J, Woolf CJ. The neuropathic pain triad: neurons, immune cells and glia. Nat Neurosci 2007;10:1361–8.
- [31] Shimada F, Shiga Y, Morikawa M, Kawazura H, Morikawa O, Matsuoka T, Nishizaki T, Saito N. The neuroprotective agent MS-153 stimulates glutamate uptake. Eur J Pharmacol 1999;386:263–70.
- [32] Simmons RM, Webster AA, Kalra AB, Iyengar S. Group II mGluR receptor agonists are effective in persistent and neuropathic pain models in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2002;73:419–27.

- [33] Sung B, Lim G, Mao J. Altered expression and uptake activity of spinal glutamate transporters after nerve injury contribute to the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain in rats. J Neurosci 2003;23:2899–910.
- [34] Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Hansen HJ, Bach FW. Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 2005;114: 473–81.
- [35] Svendsen KB, Jensen TS, Overvad K, Hansen HJ, Koch-Henriksen N, Bach FW. Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch Neurol 2003;60:1089–94.
- [36] Tao YX, Gu J, Stephens Jr RL. Role of spinal cord glutamate transporter during normal sensory transmission and pathological pain states. Mol Pain 2005;1:30.
- [37] Tilleux S, Hermans E. Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 2007;85:2059–70.
- [38] Tran K, Leighton JL. A simple, efficient, and highly enantioselective synthesis of MS-153 employing a chiral silane lewis acid-promoted acylhydrazone-enol ether [3 + 2] cycloaddition. Adv Synth Catal 2006;348:2431–6.
- [39] Vercellino M, Merola A, Piacentino C, Votta B, Capello E, Mancardi GL, Mutani R, Giordana MT, Cavalla P. Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2007;66:732–9.
- [40] Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF. Glial activation: a driving force for pathological pain. Trends Neurosci 2001;24:450-5.
- [41] Woolf CJ. Evidence for a central component of post-injury pain hypersensitivity. Nature 1983;306:686–8.
- [42] Yamamoto T, Hirasawa S, Wroblewska B, Grajkowska E, Zhou J, Kozikowski A, Wroblewski J, Neale JH. Antinociceptive effects of *N*-acetylaspartylglutamate (NAAG) peptidase inhibitors ZJ-11, ZJ-17 and ZJ-43 in the rat formalin test and in the rat neuropathic pain model. Eur J Neurosci 2004;20:483–94.
- [43] Yashpal K, Fisher K, Chabot JG, Coderre TJ. Differential effects of NMDA and group I mGluR antagonists on both nociception and spinal cord protein kinase C translocation in the formalin test and a model of neuropathic pain in rats. Pain 2001;94:17–29.
- [44] Zou X, Lin Q, Willis WD. Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor 1 subunits in spinal cord dorsal horn and spinothalamic tract neurons after intradermal injection of capsaicin in rats. J Neurosci 2000;20:6989–97.

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yexnr

## Changes in nociceptive sensitivity and object recognition in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Camille J. Olechowski <sup>b</sup>, Gustavo Tenorio <sup>a</sup>, Yves Sauve <sup>c</sup>, Bradley J. Kerr <sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Dept. of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>b</sup> Centre for Neuroscience, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>c</sup> Department of Physiology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 October 2012 Revised 28 November 2012 Accepted 18 December 2012 Available online 2 January 2013

Keywords: Pain EAE Glutamate transporter Novel object recognition

#### ABSTRACT

Multiple sclerosis is associated with a high incidence of depression, cognitive impairments and neuropathic pain. Previously, we demonstrated that tactile allodynia is present at disease onset in an animal model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). We have now monitored changes in object recognition in mice with EAE to determine if altered nociceptive sensitivity is also associated with behavioral signs indicative of cognitive impairment in this model. At the onset of clinical signs, mice with EAE showed impairments in the novel object recognition (NOR) assay, indicative of deficits in cognitive functioning early in the disease course. At the spinal level, we found increased gene expression for the cytokines IL-1B, IL-6 and the glutamate transporter EAAT-2 that coincide with increased nociceptive sensitivity and deficits in object recognition. Increased levels of EAAT-2 mRNA appear to be a response to perturbed protein levels of the transporter as we found a loss of EAAT-2 protein levels in the spinal cord of EAE mice. To determine if changes in the levels of EAAT-2 were responsible for the observed changes in nociceptive sensitivity and cognitive deficits, we treated EAE mice with the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone, an agent known to increase glutamate transporter levels in vivo. Ceftriaxone prevented tactile hypersensitivity and normalized performance in the NOR assay in EAE mice. These findings highlight the important interrelationship between pain and cognitive function in the disease and suggest that targeting spinally mediated pain hypersensitivity is a novel therapeutic avenue to treat impairments in other higher order cortical processes.

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) that leads to severe neurological disabilities. MS is also associated with a high incidence of cognitive impairments and neuropathic pain (He et al., 2011; Osterberg et al., 2005). Central neuropathic pain (CNP), which is thought to arise from lesions or a dysfunction in the CNS, affects an estimated one third of MS patients who report pain as a major symptom of the disease(Svendsen et al., 2003, 2005). An estimated 40% to 60% of MS patients also have cognitive deficits, the most frequent being disorders of memory (He et al., 2000; Jongen et al., 2012). Disturbed memory processing can be detected in the early stages of MS and has been found to progress over time in all disease subtypes (He et al., 2011; Mandolesi et al., 2010). Although both CNP and cognitive impairments are identified in the literature as prominent symptoms reported by MS patients, little is understood about their underlying

E-mail address: bradley.kerr@ualberta.ca (B.J. Kerr).

cellular mechanisms. Currently, effective treatment options are not readily available for these aspects of the disease.

The animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is a well-established model that has been used to study the pathophysiology of MS for over fifty years (Owens and Sriram, 1995). Despite this, it has only been recently that the model has been used to characterize changes in pain sensitivity in the disease (Musgrave et al., 2011a, 2011b; Olechowski et al., 2009). Previously, we have demonstrated that neuropathic pain behaviors are present before and at disease onset in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> mouse model of EAE (Olechowski et al., 2009). We have also reported that changes in pain sensitivity to a persistent noxious stimulus are a result of decreased expression of the EAAT-2 glutamate transporter (Olechowski et al., 2010). Changes in acute pain behaviors in an EAE rat model have also been shown to be associated with decreased glutamate transporter expression (Ramos et al., 2010). Dysregulation of glutamate transporter activity is associated with a persistent elevation in ambient glutamate and has been implicated as a potential mechanism for central sensitization and neuropathic pain following peripheral nerve injury (Sung et al., 2003).

In clinical populations, there is a strong association between chronic pain and cognitive dysfunction. However, studies using the EAE model to examine changes in cognitive function are lacking. To address this,

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Dept. of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, Clinical Sciences Building, 8-120, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, T6G–2G3. Fax: +1 780 407 3200.

<sup>0014-4886/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.12.012

we have carried out a series of experiments to further explore the relationship between changes in nociceptive sensitivity and cognitive function in mice with EAE. We have monitored changes in cognitive ability using a standard behavioral assay for object recognition to determine if altered pain sensitivity is also associated with behavioral signs indicative of cognitive impairment in EAE. In addition, we sought to determine whether a common underlying mechanism could mediate these changes in behavior in mice with EAE. We show here that dysregulated expression at the spinal level of the glutamate transporter subtype EAAT-2 is a key mechanism mediating these changes and that promoting EAAT-2 expression using the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone (Rothstein et al., 2005) can normalize nociceptive sensitivity and object recognition in EAE.

#### Methods

All animal studies were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and Policies with the approval from the Animal Care and Use Committee: Health Sciences for the University of Alberta.

#### Induction of EAE

A total of 50, 10-12 week old female C57BL/6 mice were used.

Mice were purchased from Charles River Canada (Saint-Constant, Quebec), housed in standard laboratory cages and had free access to food and water throughout the study period. We induced EAE in mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein 35-55. (MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK; MOG35-55) obtained from the Peptide Synthesis Facility, University of Calgary (Calgary, AB). EAE was induced by subcutaneous immunization with 50  $\mu g$  of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). CFA was supplemented with an additional 5-mg/ml heat killed Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Ra (Difco Laboratories, BD Biosciences) to a final concentration of 6 mg/ml. The final concentration of CFA in the emulsion was 1.5 mg/ml. An intraperitoneal (I.P.) injection of 300 ng Pertussis toxin (Bordatella pertussis) (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) was administered at the time of induction and again 48 h later (n = 30). Control mice were treated with CFA as above and Pertussis toxin alone (n=20).

#### EAE assessment

All behavioral assessment was conducted by an experimenter who was blind to the experimental grouping. As reported previously (Olechowski et al., 2009, 2010) mice were monitored daily and the clinical signs of EAE were graded on the following scale: Grade 0, normal mouse; Grade 1 (disease onset), flaccid tail; Grade 2, mild hindlimb weakness with quick righting reflex; Grade 3, severe hindlimb weakness with slow righting reflex; and Grade 4, hindlimb paralysis in one hindlimb or both.

#### Behavioral testing

#### Mechanical allodynia

A set of calibrated von Frey hair monofilaments were used to assess the sensitivity to punctate mechanical stimuli. Mice were placed in clear plexiglass chambers on an elevated wire mesh screen. Calibrated von Frey hair filaments were applied to the plantar surface of each hindpaw in the ascending order of bending force (range: 0.04–2.0 g). Each hair was applied 5 times per paw, and the number of nociceptive responses (vigorous shaking, prolonged lifting, licking or biting of the stimulated paw) was recorded. The monofilament which produced nociceptive responses greater than 60% of the time was taken as the "threshold".

#### Novel object recognition (NOR) test

Mice are first presented with two identical objects (test 1) in an open field (width: 29 cm; length: 44 cm; height: 17 cm); time spent exploring each object was monitored over 5 min using a standard stopwatch. A second test (test 2) was conducted 4 h later where one object was replaced with a novel object. The time spent exploring each object was observed and recorded for 5 min. The difference in time between the two objects was calculated and then averaged for test (i.e. test 1: A–A; test 2 B–A). As a measure of total exploratory activity, the percent of time the mice spent interacting with the objects was calculated. The total amount of time spent with either of the objects over the course of the observation period in each test was divided by the total time of the observation period.

#### General activity/attention score

Mice were observed in the open field (width: 29 cm; length: 44 cm; height: 17 cm) for a period of 4 min. The activity/attention score is a categorical score given each minute to a mouse based on the duration it spends in a specific sedentary posture. This posture is defined as having both forepaws on the ground and with the head being relatively still with a steady gaze directed below the horizontal (i.e., a head position with the nose pointing towards the floor of the observation box). As previously reported, this score was developed because, while all mice spend considerable amounts of time in one quadrant of the open field, EAE mice were often observed to adopt this posture (Musgrave et al., 2011a, 2011b). These postures are never observed in naive animals and only rarely in control mice immunized with CFA alone. The total duration spent in this posture was measured using a standard stopwatch and scores were given each minute according to the following criteria: 0, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 45 or more seconds in 1 min; 1, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 30-45 s in 1 min; 2, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 15-30 s in 1 min; 3, mouse is still and with a floor-directed gaze for 0-15 s in 1 min. These scores were totaled for each mouse at the end of the 4-min open field trial. Timing was stopped if the mouse interrupted this posture for any reason, including extensions of the head/neck forward or upward (usually to sniff at the air); large, lateral investigatory head movements, or initiation of grooming. A score of 12 is representative of maximal activity/attention during the test period.

#### Rotarod assay

As a test of gross locomotor ability and coordination, mice were placed on a rotarod at a fixed rotational speed of 16 rpm. Mice were placed on the rotarod and the latency to fall off was determined. The maximum time for a trial was set at 180 s. Mice were trained on the rotarod for two consecutive days prior to disease induction to become familiar with the task. After disease induction, mice were tested on alternate days. Each mouse had three trials and the mean latency to fall per trial was calculated.

#### Ceftriaxone treatment

Cohorts of mice were treated with the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON), a compound known to be capable of upregulating glutamate transporter expression in the CNS (Rothstein et al., 2005). Mice were treated with 200 mg/kg I.P. daily starting 7 days after EAE induction (CFA + ceftriaxone n = 5, EAE + ceftriaxone n = 10). Vehicle controls received daily injections of saline starting at 7 days after EAE induction (CFA + vehicle n = 5, EAE + vehicle n = 10).

#### Real-time RT-PCR

RNA was isolated from spinal cords using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) after lysis with TRIzol (Invitrogen) using the manufacturer's guidelines. RNA dissolved in deionized, diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water was used for cDNA synthesis. The primers used in real-time PCR were: EAAT-2 fwd 5'-TGA ACG AGG CCC CTG AAG AAA CTA-3' rev 5'-ATG CCC CCG TGA ATG ATG AGG-3', IL-6 fwd 5'-ATG GAT GCT ACC AAA CTG GAT-3' rev 5'-TGA AGG ACT CTG GCT TTG TCT-3', IL-1 $\beta$  fwd 5'-ACA GAT GAA GTG CTC CTT CCA-3' rev 5'-GTC GGA GAT TCG TAG CTG GAT-3', and GAPDH fwd 5'-AGC CTT CTC CAT GGT GGT GAA GAC-3' rev 5'-CGG AGT CAA CGG ATT TGG TCG-3'. Semiquantitative analyses were performed by monitoring the increase in the fluorescence of the SYBR-green dye (Invitrogen) in real time on a Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA) i-Cycler. Real-time fluorescence measurements were performed, and at threshold cycle value for each gene of interest. All data were normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels for mice.

#### Western blots

Mice were anesthetized and euthanized by transcardiac perfusion with 0.9% saline. The brain and lumbar enlargement of the spinal cord were removed and frozen on liquid nitrogen. The brain was further subdivided into a section for the brain that contained the hippocampus with some overlying cortex.

#### Spinal cord samples

Protein samples (20  $\mu$ l) were separated on a 10% SDS gel. The samples were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). The membranes were blocked in 5% milk in PBS-Tween 20 (PBS-T)

(0.05%), and then incubated overnight at 4 °C in primary antibodies EAAT-2 (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), pNR1Ser896 (1:1000, Cedarlane Laboratories) diluted in PBS-T. The membranes were then washed in PBS-T and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit; Jackson ImmunoResearch) diluted at 1:50,000. The membranes were washed and binding of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies detected using chemiluminescence (Western Lightning Chemiluminescence Reagent Plus, Perkin-Elmer). Membranes were re-probed with monoclonal mouse anti- $\beta$ -actin (1:2000, Sigma) to ensure equal loading of samples. The films were scanned and the changes in protein expression levels between CFA and EAE mice as a ratio were quantified using ImageJ software.

#### Brain samples

Protein samples (37  $\mu$ l) were separated on a 10% SDS gel. The samples were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad) overnight at 4 °C. The membranes were blocked in 10% milk in TTBS and incubated overnight at 4 °C in primary antibody EAAT-2 (1:1000, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) in diluted TTBS. The membranes were then washed in TTBS and incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit: Jackson ImmunoResearch) diluted at 1:2000. The membranes, similar to spinal cord samples, were washed and binding of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies detected using chemiluminescence (Amersham ECL Western Blotting Analysis System, GE Heathcare). Membranes were re-probed with monoclonal mouse



**Fig. 1.** *The changes in nociceptive sensitivity and impairment in the novel object recognition test in EAE mice at disease onset.* (A) EAE mice exhibit a significant increase in the sensitivity to mechanical force (tactile allodynia) at disease onset (clinical grade 1) when compared to baseline threshold responses (\*P<0.01, *t*-test. n = 10). (B) All mice at baseline (prior to disease induction) spend a greater amount of time with the novel object in test 2. (C) CFA control mice matched for day of disease onset with EAE spend a greater amount of time with the novel object in test 2. (C) CFA control mice matched for day of disease onset with EAE spend a greater amount of time with the novel object in test 2. (C) CFA control mice matched for day of disease onset with EAE spend a greater amount of time with the novel object in test 2. (C) CFA control mice matched for day of disease onset with EAE spend a greater amount of time with the novel object turing test 2 (n = 10). Inset graphs in B–D represent the percentage of total time spent with either object during each test. This is a measure of exploratory behavior. Mice with EAE mice have a slight reduction in their exploratory behavior. (E) The activity/attention score (left panel), which measures how mice attend and interact with their surroundings is significantly reduced in EAE mice compared to baseline values (\*P<0.001, Mann–Whitney Rank Sum Test, n = 10). Line crossing in the open field (right hand panel) is also significantly reduced in EAE mice compared to baseline values (\*P<0.001, t-test, n = 10). (F) Gross locomotor ability in the rotarod assay at disease onset (clinical grade 1) is not impaired in any cohort of EAE mice compared to CFA control mice (P>0.05, t-test).



**Fig. 2.** *IL*-1 $\beta$ , *IL*-6 and *EAAT-2 gene expression is increased in EAE mice at disease onset.* (A) IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA levels are upregulated in the spinal cords of EAE mice compared to controls treated with CFA alone (\*P=0.03, *t*-test). (B) IL-6 mRNA levels are upregulated in the spinal cord of EAE mice when compared to control levels from CFA treated mice (P<0.001, *t*-test). (C) EAAT-2 mRNA levels are significantly increased in all EAE cohorts when compared to CFA controls (\*P=0.01, *t*-test). (CFA n=6, EAE n=5).

anti- $\beta$ -actin (1:2000, Sigma) to ensure equal loading of samples. The films were scanned and the changes in protein expression levels between CFA and EAE mice as a ratio were quantified using ImageJ software.

#### Results

Changes in nociceptive sensitivity are associated with impaired object recognition in EAE mice

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using the Student's *t*-test and one-way ANOVA with Tukey and Dunnett's post hoc tests. Mann–Whitney rank Sum test and Kruskall–Wallis ANOVA on ranks were used for nonparametric data sets. Significance was set at P<0.05.

We have previously reported that mice with EAE develop a robust mechanical allodynia prior to and at the onset of neurological deficits (Olechowski et al., 2009). We replicated this finding by assessing mechanical sensitivity in mice with EAE at disease onset (clinical grade 1). EAE mice exhibit a significant decrease in withdrawal thresholds to punctate mechanical stimulation when compared to baseline measures (Fig. 1A) (P<0.01, *t*-test).



**Fig. 3.** *Decreased expression of the glutamate transporter EAAT-2 in spinal cords of EAE mice.* (A) There is a significant decrease in the levels of spinal EAAT-2 mice with EAE when compared to CFA. All samples are taken at disease onset (clinical grade 1). (B) There is no difference in EAAT-2 levels (multimer or monomer) in the brains of EAE mice when compared to CFA controls. (C) Quantification of Western blots from the spinal cord for EAAT-2 normalized to beta actin and expressed as a percentage of CFA control levels (\*P=0.01, *t*-test). (D and E) Quantification of the brain EAAT-2 multimer and monomer expression in Western blots normalized to beta actin and expressed as a percent of CFA control levels (P>0.05, *t*-test) (CFA n=3; EAE n=3) (NS=non-significant).

In addition to the changes in pain sensitivity, deficits in cognitive function, particularly memory, are common in patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) (He et al., 2011). Using the novel object recognition (NOR) assay as a test of cognitive ability, we next determined if similar symptoms could be detected in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE. Prior to disease induction, all mice could discriminate a novel object presented to them in the open field. In 'test 1', the mice are presented with two identical objects and the difference in time spent with each object is around zero seconds. In 'test 2', one of the objects is replaced by a novel object of distinct shape and size and the mice spend greater time exploring and interacting with the novel object (Fig. 1B). Mice immunized with the CFA adjuvant alone show no impairments in the assay (Fig. 1C). For CFA treated mice, the difference in time spent with the novel object compared to the familiar object in test 2 is similar to the baseline condition. In contrast, novel object recognition was significantly impaired in mice with EAE at the onset of disease (clinical grade 1). EAE mice did not show signs of discrimination between the novel and familiar object in test 2 (test 2 mean difference scores: baseline:  $5.1 \pm 0.84$  s; CFA:  $7.1 \pm 2.4$  s; EAE:  $-0.2 \pm 0.32$  s) (Figs. 1B, C and D).

To determine if the observed deficits in the NOR assay are due to motivational factors such as reduced overall exploratory behaviors, we calculated the percentage of time the mice spent interacting with the objects during each test. In general, mice with EAE spend slightly less overall time interacting and exploring the objects in test 1 and test 2 compared to baseline levels and CFA treated mice (Fig. 1, inset graphs B–D). Given this decrease in exploratory behavior in the NOR assay, we also assessed signs of sickness behavior in EAE mice at disease onset using a general activity/attention score (Musgrave et al., 2011a, 2011b). Measuring discrete postural changes can serve as adjunct measures for how the mice attend to and interact with their environment. Decreased interaction and/or attention to the surrounding environment is a characteristic feature of sickness behavior. As previously reported, prior to disease induction, healthy mice rarely score below 10-11 using this rating system, meaning that they are consistently paying attention to their surrounding environment (Musgrave et al., 2011a, 2011b). At disease onset (clinical grade 1), EAE mice had significantly lower activity/attention scores compared to baseline measures (baseline median activity/attention score: 12; EAE 'onset': 8) (P<0.001, Mann-Whitney Rank Sum Test) (Fig. 1E, left panel). We also monitored exploratory behavior by monitoring the number of line crosses the mice made during the open field observation period. EAE mice at the onset of the disease (clinical grade 1) made significantly fewer line crosses compared to their baseline values prior to disease induction (baseline line crosses:  $47 \pm 3.3$ ; EAE 'onset':  $18 \pm 4.9$ ) (P<0.001, *t*-test) (Fig. 1E, right panel).

To determine if the reductions in the general activity/attention score and the lack of exploratory behavior was due to impairments in locomotor function in mice with EAE at the onset of the disease (clinical grade 1), gross locomotor ability was assessed using a fixed-speed rotarod assay. At disease onset, when the NOR assay and open field behaviors were assessed, rotarod ability was not significantly affected in EAE mice at clinical grade 1 compared to CFA treated controls (CFA:  $174 \pm 3s$ ; EAE onset:  $163 \pm 17s$ ) (P>0.05 *t*-test) (Fig. 1F).

### IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and EAAT-2 mRNA are upregulated in the spinal cord during EAE

To determine the molecular mechanisms that mediate these changes in behavior in EAE mice, we began by looking at mRNA levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and the glutamate transporter EAAT-2. We have previously shown that altered levels of EAAT-2 protein in the spinal cord of mice with EAE can affect pain behaviors (Olechowski et al., 2010) and other groups have implicated the involvement of glutamate transporter dysfunction in the generation of pain hypersensitivity in rat models of EAE (Ramos et al., 2010). Both IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 can regulate EAAT-2 levels (Okada et al., 2005; Sulkowski et al., 2009) and increased levels of IL-6 and EAAT-2 mRNA have been reported in other EAE models (Mitosek-Szewczyk et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2000). We found that the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA were elevated in EAE mice at disease onset (Fig. 2A) (P=0.03, *t*-test). In addition, both IL-6 and EAAT-2 also showed an increase in mRNA levels in EAE mice at disease onset when compared to CFA control spinal cord samples (Figs. 2B and C) (P<0.001; P=0.01, *t*-tests).

### Diminished glutamate transporter expression in the spinal cord of EAE mice at disease onset

Given the importance of the glutamate transporters (especially EAAT-2) in regulating excitatory signaling in the CNS (Danbolt, 2001), we next assessed the levels of the EAAT-2 protein in the spinal cord from EAE mice using Western blots. As we have demonstrated previously (Olechowski et al., 2010), compared to CFA controls, mice with EAE mice have reduced levels of the major glutamate transporter EAAT-2 at disease onset (P=0.01, *t*-test) (Figs. 3A and C). However, given the deficits in the ability of EAE mice to identify a novel object in the NOR assay, we also assessed the levels of EAAT-2 in the hippocampus/forebrain as a potential mechanism contributing to this decrease in cognitive ability. At this early stage of the disease however, we could not detect significant changes in the levels of EAAT-2 in the brains of mice with EAE when compared to controls treated with CFA alone (P>0.05, *t*-test) (Figs. 3B, D and E).



**Fig. 4.** *Ceftriaxone prevents tactile allodynia in EAE mice.* (A) Daily treatment with ceftriaxone (200 mg/kg) starting at day 7 after EAE induction does not change the disease course of EAE when compared to vehicle treated controls. (B) Ceftriaxone treatment prevents tactile allodynia at disease onset (clinical grade 1) in EAE mice when compared to vehicle treated EAE mice, von Frey thresholds in EAE-vehicle mice are significantly reduced compared to baseline (\*P<0.05 one-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's post hoc test) (EAE + vehicle n=10; EAE + ceftriaxone n=10).

Ceftriaxone attenuates tactile hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits in EAE

To determine whether decreased levels of spinal EAAT-2 are involved in generating nociceptive hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits in the  $MOG_{35-55}$  EAE model, we treated EAE mice with ceftriaxone, a  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic that has the ability to upregulate EAAT-2 in the CNS (Ramos et al., 2010; Rothstein et al., 2005). We first assessed how ceftriaxone treatment affected the clinical signs of the disease. Daily treatment with ceftriaxone (200 mg/kg) (Melzer et al., 2008) beginning seven days after disease induction had no effect on the disease course compared to vehicle treated EAE mice (Fig. 4A). However, daily treatment with ceftriaxone attenuated the tactile hypersensitivity that is present at disease onset (P<0.05 one-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's post hoc test) (Fig. 4B).

Daily ceftriaxone treatment also improved performance in the NOR assay. Prior to the start of treatment with either ceftriaxone or vehicle, all mice induced with EAE had impaired novel object recognition in test 2 compared to controls treated with CFA alone (test 2 mean difference scores: baseline:  $9.1 \pm 0.32$  s; CFA day 7:  $13.2 \pm 4.1$  s; EAE day 7:  $2.5 \pm 0.9$  s) (Fig. 5A, i, ii and iii). EAE mice then began daily treatment with either ceftriaxone or vehicle and were re-assessed in the NOR assay when the first clinical signs of the disease appeared ('onset', clinical grade 1). Object recognition remained impaired in vehicle treated EAE mice compared to CFA treated mice tested on the same day (test 2 mean difference scores: CFA matched for 'onset':  $17.5 \pm 2.8$  s; EAE + vehicle at 'onset':  $1.2 \pm 0.7$  s) (Fig. 5B, i and ii). In contrast, EAE mice treated with daily ceftriaxone had

improved discrimination of the novel object in test 2 with performance approaching pre-disease levels (test 2 mean difference score: EAE + ceftriaxone at 'onset':  $9.4 \pm 3.7$ ) (Fig. 5B iii). Interestingly, exploratory behavior remained significantly lower in both groups of EAE mice compared to CFA controls (inset graphs Fig. 5B). In addition, we found that the activity/attention scores of EAE mice treated with daily ceftriaxone were not significantly different from vehicle treated controls. Compared to baseline values, both groups of EAE mice had significantly reduced activity/attention scores at disease onset (baseline median activity/attention score: 12; EAE + vehicle 'onset': 5; EAE + ceftriaxone 'onset': 5) (P=0.001, Kruskal–Wallis One Way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's method) (Fig. 6A). However, gross locomotor ability was not affected at this stage of the disease. As shown previously, rotarod performance is not significantly affected in either group of EAE mice at the onset of disease (clinical grade 1) when testing takes place (Fig. 6B).

### *Ceftriaxone treatment increases EAAT-2 expression and reduces NMDA receptor phosphorylation in the spinal cord of mice EAE*

To determine if ceftriaxone was increasing the levels of spinal EAAT-2 in mice with EAE, EAAT-2 levels were assessed using Western blots at disease onset. The significant reduction in spinal EAAT-2 levels in vehicle treated EAE mice was prevented in mice treated with daily ceftriaxone (Figs. 7A and C). A consequence of dysregulated EAAT-2 expression is an increased activation of excitatory glutamate receptors. We have previously shown that EAE mice have an increase in the levels of phosphorylated NR1 NMDA receptor subunits at the spinal level (Olechowski et al., 2010). Increased phosphorylation of NR1 (pNR1)



**Fig. 5.** *Ceftriaxone treatment restores novel object recognition in EAE mice.* (A) (i) At baseline prior to disease induction, all mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2. (ii) At day 7 after disease induction, CFA control mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2. (iii) At day 7 after disease induction and prior to starting treatment, all EAE mice fail to show a preference for the novel object during test 2. (B) (i) CFA control mice spend a greater amount of time with the novel object during test 2 when tested at matched timepoints with EAE mice that reach the onset of disease (clinical grade 1). (ii) At disease onset (clinical grade 1), vehicle treated EAE mice continue to show impairments in their ability to distinguish the novel object during test 2. (iii) At disease onset (clinical grade 1), ceftriaxone treated EAE mice spend a greater amount of time with the object during test 2. (iii) At disease onset (clinical grade 1), vehicle treated EAE mice continue to show impairments in their ability to distinguish the novel object during test 2. (iii) At disease onset (clinical grade 1), ceftriaxone treated EAE mice spend a greater amount of time with the objects in each test as a measure of exploratory behavior. Exploratory behavior remains decreased in EAE mice relative to CFA control mice regardless of treatment (CFA n = 10; EAE + vehicle n = 10; EAE + ceftriaxone n = 10).



**Fig. 6.** Ceftriaxone treatment does not affect activity/attention scores or gross locomotor ability at disease onset. (A) The activity/attention score is significantly decreased in both the ceftriaxone and vehicle treated EAE mice at disease onset when compared to baseline (\*P=0.001, Kruskal–Wallis One Way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's method). (B) Locomotor ability as measured with the rotarod test at disease onset (clinical grade 1) is not different from baseline in both EAE groups (P>0.05, One Way ANOVA).

has been implicated in the generation of nociceptive hypersensitivity (Olechowski et al., 2010). We therefore examined the levels of pNR1 at serine 896 (pNR1<sup>896</sup>) at disease onset (clinical grade 1) in EAE mice treated with the vehicle or ceftriaxone. Increased levels of spinal pNR1<sup>896</sup> were seen in both groups of EAE mice compared to controls treated with CFA alone (Fig. 7B). However, pNR1<sup>896</sup> levels were significantly higher in EAE mice treated with vehicle compared to ceftriaxone treated EAE mice (P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc test) (Fig. 7D).

#### Discussion

Chronic pain and cognitive deficits are now recognized as major symptoms associated with MS (Jongen et al., 2012; Svendsen et al., 2003, 2005). To date however, few studies have examined the underlying causes of these features of the disease, or the relationship between the two using the widely accepted animal model EAE. We have previously reported that nociceptive hypersensitivity develops in the MOG<sub>35–55</sub> EAE mouse model prior to and at disease onset (Olechowski et al., 2009). We have now characterized nociceptive hypersensitivity in mice with MOG<sub>35–55</sub> EAE and also examined cognitive function in this model using the novel object recognition assay. Our findings demonstrate that nociceptive hypersensitivity to tactile stimuli and deficits in object recognition occur in tandem and can be observed very early in the disease course. Interestingly, normalizing nociceptive sensitivity in mice with EAE leads to improved performance in the NOR assay, illustrating the important interrelationship between these two variables.

A common feature of both MS and the EAE models is the decrease in the protein levels of the dominant glutamate transporter EAAT-2 (Olechowski et al., 2010; Pampliega et al., 2008; Vercellino et al., 2007). Decreased levels of spinal glutamate transporters are associated with changes in nociceptive thresholds in a variety of peripheral nerve and spinal cord injury models (Tao et al., 2005). This appears to be a common feature of the MOG<sub>34-55</sub> EAE model as well. Using quantitative RT-PCR, we find that gene expression of the cytokines II-1B and IL-6 are upregulated in the spinal cord of EAE mice. An 'IL-6 amplifier mechanism' in the lumbar spinal cord has been characterized as a major mediator of EAE disease progression (Arima et al., 2012). Interestingly, IL-6 is also known to be a major factor triggering the downregulation of EAAT-2 (Sulkowski et al., 2009). The observed changes in tactile sensitivity in EAE mice may therefore be accounted for by lumbar IL-6 upregulation and subsequent decreases in the levels EAAT-2 protein in the spinal cord.

In a rat model of EAE, upregulating the levels of EAAT-2 using the β-lactam antibiotic ceftriaxone, reduces the nociceptive hypersensitivity associated with EAE (Ramos et al., 2010). We found that in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> mouse EAE model, ceftriaxone is equally effective at normalizing tactile withdrawal thresholds. Ceftriaxone's effects appear to be mediated primarily by changes in EAAT-2 levels in the spinal cord as we found no significant changes in EAAT-2 levels in the brains of EAE mice at the early stages of disease progression when tactile hypersensitivity was most pronounced. By stabilizing EAAT-2 levels in the spinal cord, ceftriaxone treatment is also able to reduce the levels of phosphorylation at the NR1 NMDA receptor subunit, a well established pathway leading to pain hypersensitivity in a number of animal models including EAE (Olechowski et al., 2010; Zou et al., 2000). These results confirm ceftriaxone's ability to upregulate or stabilize the levels of EAAT-2 in the spinal cord of the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model and suggest that the decreased pain hypersensitivity and concomitant improvement in the NOR assay in ceftriaxone treated mice may arise as a result of reduced excitatory drive to spinal glutamate receptors.

Interestingly, we find that deficits in object recognition are also present in mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> induced EAE. One of the most common cognitive deficits assessed in the MS patient population are problems with memory retention (He et al., 2011). Previous studies in both rat and mouse models of EAE reported deficits in spatial recognition using the Morris water maze (D'Intino et al., 2005; Ziehn et al., 2010). In addition, there is evidence that long-term potentiation, a cellular substrate for learning and memory, is impaired in EAE models (Mandolesi et al., 2010). Importantly, the observed deficits of mice with MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE in the NOR assay cannot be accounted for by any significant impairment of gross locomotor ability. At this stage of the disease, performance in the fixed speed rotarod assay is unchanged in EAE mice when NOR testing occurs (disease onset, clinical grade 1). Although deficits in gross locomotor ability do not appear to be a factor for the impaired performance of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice in the NOR assay, a recent study has shown anatomical evidence of neurodegeneration in the visual system of a rat model of EAE prior to the onset of optic neuritis (Fairless et al., 2012). It is unlikely however that the deficits in object recognition behavior in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice can be accounted for by these potential early impairments of visual function as could be inferred from the latter anatomical observations of early onset retinal ganglion cell loss and microglial cell activation in this latter EAE rat model (Fairless et al., 2012). Although the timing of these neurodegenerative events in the retina coincides with the onset of the behavioral deficits reported in MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE mice (Fairless et al., 2012) there are two critical elements that rebut this possibility: 1) we show here that treating mice with ceftriaxone can reverse the changes in NOR performance in EAE mice; and 2) retinal ganglion cell death is irreversible, and this applies to any other



**Fig. 7.** *Ceftriaxone increases the levels of EAAT-2 and reduces phosphorylation of NR1 serine 896 in EAE mice spinal cords.* (A) EAAT-2 levels are significantly decreased in the spinal cord of vehicle treated EAE mice at disease onset but are normalized in EAE mice treated with ceftriaxone. (B) The levels of pNR1 serine 896 are significantly higher in both groups of EAE mice compared to the levels in CFA controls. However, the levels of pNR1<sup>896</sup> are significantly lower in the ceftriaxone treated EAE mice when compared to the vehicle treated EAE mice. (C–D) Quantification of the spinal cord Western blots for EAAT-2 (C) and pNR1 serine 896 (D) normalized to beta actin and expressed as a percent of CFA control levels (\*P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post hoc test, C) (\*\*\*P<0.05, one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post hoc test, \*P<0.05, t-test, EAE vehicle vs. EAE ceftriaxone, D) (CFA n=3; EAE+vehicle n=4; EAE+vehicle n=4).

neurodegenerative events in the retina and optic nerve of adult mammals (Sauve and Gaillard, 1995). Furthermore, we have recently begun studies using electrophysiological parameters to assess visually-evoked retinal and cortical responses in mice with MOG<sub>35–55</sub> EAE two weeks after the onset of clinical signs in the disease (a time point that is much later in the disease progression than we have tested in the current studies). Preliminary results from these studies of visually-evoked retinal and cortical responses indicate that there are no functional visual deficits in EAE mice at all clinical grades (from 1 to 4) compared to CFA treated control mice (Supplemental Fig. 1). This is not surprising given that C57BL/6 mice induced with MOG<sub>35–55</sub> EAE only begin to show signs of retinal ganglion cell (RGC) death much later in the disease course (Quinn et al., 2011). Therefore, it is implausible that the therapeutic effects of ceftriaxone treatment are the result of neuroprotective or regenerative responses in the retina.

We did however, observe significant reductions in the total exploratory behavior of EAE mice during the NOR testing sessions. The absence of gross locomotor deficits in EAE mice at this early stage of the disease suggests that the decrease in general activity/attention scores and reduced exploratory behavior in the NOR assay are not a consequence of impaired locomotor ability. Instead, these reductions in exploration are likely related to the sickness-like behavior that are well documented in EAE mice (Musgrave et al., 2011a, 2011b; Pollak et al., 2002, 2003). Decreased motivation to explore and interact with the objects due to sickness or pain is therefore more likely the cause for the poor performance in this assay. Indeed, the importance of nociceptive hypersensitivity as a mediator of the deficits in object recognition EAE mice is highlighted by our observations that normalizing tactile withdrawal thresholds in the disease can restore object recognition without any significant change in total exploratory behavior in the test. Taken together, these findings suggest that the beneficial effects of ceftriaxone in the NOR assay are not due to a generalized anti-depressant effect or through improvements in locomotor ability but are likely due to a generalized reduction in nociceptive hypersensitivity.

#### Conclusions

Taken together our results demonstrate that the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model can be a useful tool for studying the mechanisms leading to pain hypersensitivity and cognitive deficits seen in the early stages of MS. We show here that changes in nociceptive sensitivity and deficits in object recognition in the MOG<sub>35-55</sub> EAE model develop very early in the disease course, even before the emergence of clinical signs. Changes in pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and the concomitant decrease in spinal EAAT-2 expression is a key underlying mechanism mediating these changes in behavior. Our data suggest that effective control of nociceptive sensitivity can have a broad impact on other higher order behaviors such as object recognition. Targeting the glutamate transporter system may represent an important avenue as a potential treatment option for not only abnormal pain sensitivity but also the cognitive deficits associated with the disease.

#### **Conflict of interest statement**

The authors have no competing financial interests to declare.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.12.012.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a research grant from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada. CO is supported by graduate studentships from the MS Society of Canada and Alberta Innovates Health Solutions (AIHS). BJK is supported by a Donald Paty Career Development Award from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada.

#### References

- Alvarez, B.V., Gilmour, G.S., Mema, S.C., Martin, B.T., Shull, G.E., Casey, J.R., Sauvé, Y., 2007. Blindness caused by deficiency in AE3 chloride/bicarbonate exchanger. PLoS One 2 (9), e839 (Sep 5).
- Arima, Y., Harada, M., Kamimura, D., Park, J.H., Kawano, F., Yull, F.E., Kawamoto, T., Iwakura, Y., Betz, U.A., Marquez, G., Blackwell, T.S., Ohira, Y., Hirano, T., Murakami, M., 2012. Regional neural activation defines a gateway for autoreactive T cells to cross the blood–brain barrier. Cell 148, 447–457.

Danbolt, N.C., 2001. Glutamate uptake. Prog. Neurobiol. 65, 1-105.

- D'Intino, G., Paradisi, M., Fernandez, M., Giuliani, A., Aloe, L., Giardino, L., Calza, L., 2005. Cognitive deficit associated with cholinergic and nerve growth factor down-regulation in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in rats. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 3070–3075.
- Fairless, R., Williams, S.K., Hoffmann, D.B., Stojic, A., Hochmeister, S., Schmitz, F., Storch, M.K., Diem, R., 2012. Preclinical retinal neurodegeneration in a model of multiple sclerosis. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32, 5585–5597.
- He, Y., Janssen, W.G., Rothstein, J.D., Morrison, J.H., 2000. Differential synaptic localization of the glutamate transporter EAAC1 and glutamate receptor subunit GluR2 in the rat hippocampus. J. Comp. Neurol. 418, 255–269.
- He, D., Zhou, H., Guo, D., Hao, Z., Wu, B., 2011. Pharmacologic treatment for memory disorder in multiple sclerosis. Cochrane database of systematic reviews, p. CD008876.
- Jongen, P.J., Ter Horst, A.T., Brands, A.M., 2012. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. Minerva Med. 103, 73–96.
- Mandolesi, G., Grasselli, G., Musumeci, G., Centonze, D., 2010. Cognitive deficits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: neuroinflammation and synaptic degeneration. Neurol. Sci. 31, S255–S259.
- Melzer, N., Meuth, S.G., Torres-Salazar, D., Bittner, S., Zozulya, A.L., Weidenfeller, C., Kotsiari, A., Stangel, M., Fahlke, C., Wiendl, H., 2008. A beta-lactam antibiotic dampens excitotoxic inflammatory CNS damage in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 3, e3149.
- Meyer, R., Weissert, R., Diem, R., Storch, M.K., de Graaf, K.L., Kramer, B., Bähr, M., 2001. Acute neuronal apoptosis in a rat model of multiple sclerosis. J. Neurosci. 21, 6214–6220.
- Mitosek-Szewczyk, K., Sułkowski, G., Stelmasiak, Z., Struzynska, L., 2008. Expression of glutamate transporters GLT-1 and GLAST in different regions of rat brain during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Neuroscience 155, 45–52.
- Musgrave, T., Benson, C., Wong, G., Browne, I., Tenorio, G., Rauw, G., Baker, G.B., Kerr, B.J., 2011a. The MAO inhibitor phenelzine improves functional outcomes in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Brain Behav. Immun. 25, 1677–1688.
- Musgrave, T., Olechowski, C.J., Kerr, B.J., 2011b. Learning new tricks from an old dog: using experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis to study comorbid symptoms in multiple sclerosis. Pain Manag. 1, 571–576.
- Okada, K., Yamashita, U., Tsuji, S., 2005. Modulation of Na(+)-dependent glutamate transporter of murine astrocytes by inflammatory mediators. J. UOEH 27, 161–170.

- Olechowski, C.J., Truong, J.J., Kerr, B.J., 2009. Neuropathic pain behaviours in a chronicrelapsing model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 141, 156–164.
- Olechowski, C.J., Parmar, A., Miller, B., Stephan, J., Tenorio, G., Tran, K., Leighton, J., Kerr, B.J., 2010. A diminished response to formalin stimulation reveals a role for the glutamate transporters in the altered pain sensitivity of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Pain 149, 565–572.
  Osterberg, A., Boivie, J., Thuomas, K.A., 2005. Central pain in multiple sclerosis—
- Osterberg, A., Boivie, J., Thuomas, K.A., 2005. Central pain in multiple sclerosisprevalence and clinical characteristics. Eur. J. Pain 9, 531–542.
- Owens, T., Sriram, S., 1995. The immunology of multiple sclerosis and its animal model, experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Neurol. Clin. 13, 51–73.
- Pampliega, O., Domercq, M., Villoslada, P., Sepulcre, J., Rodriguez-Antiguedad, A., Matute, C., 2008. Association of an EAAT2 polymorphism with higher glutamate concentration in relapsing multiple sclerosis. J. Neuroimmunol. 195, 194–198.
- Pollak, Y., Orion, E., Goshen, I., Ovadia, H., Yirmiya, R., 2002. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis-associated behavioral syndrome as a model of 'depression due to multiple sclerosis'. Brain Behav. Immun. 16, 533–543.
- Pollak, Y., Ovadia, H., Orion, E., Weidenfeld, J., Yirmiya, R., 2003. The EAE-associated behavioral syndrome: I. Temporal correlation with inflammatory mediators. J. Neuroimmunol. 137, 94–99.
- Quinn, T.A., Dutt, M., Shindler, K.S., 2011. Optic neuritis and retinal ganglion cell loss in a chronic murine model of multiple sclerosis. Front. Neurol. 2, 50.
- Ramos, K.M., Lewis, M.T., Morgan, K.N., Crysdale, N.Y., Kroll, J.L., Taylor, F.R., Harrison, J.A., Sloane, E.M., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., 2010. Spinal upregulation of glutamate transporter GLT-1 by ceftriaxone: therapeutic efficacy in a range of experimental nervous system disorders. Neuroscience 169, 1888–1900.
- Rothstein, J.D., Patel, S., Regan, M.R., Haenggeli, C., Huang, Y.H., Bergles, D.E., Jin, L., Dykes Hoberg, M., Vidensky, S., Chung, D.S., Toan, S.V., Bruijn, L.I., Su, Z.Z., Gupta, P., Fisher, P.B., 2005. Beta-lactam antibiotics offer neuroprotection by increasing glutamate transporter expression. Nature 433, 73–77.
- Sauve, Y., Gaillard, F., 1995. Regeneration in the visual system of adult mammals. In: Kolb, H., Fernandez, E., Nelson, R. (Eds.), Webvision: The Organization of the Retina and Visual System, Salt Lake City (UT).
- Sulkowski, G., Dabrowska-Bouta, B., Kwiatkowska-Patzer, B., Struzynska, L., 2009. Alterations in glutamate transport and group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in the rat brain during acute phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Folia Neuropathol. 47, 329–337.
- Sung, B., Lim, G., Mao, J., 2003. Altered expression and uptake activity of spinal glutamate transporters after nerve injury contribute to the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain in rats. J. Neurosci. 23, 2899–2910.
- Svendsen, K.B., Jensen, T.S., Overvad, K., Hansen, H.J., Koch-Henriksen, N., Bach, F.W., 2003. Pain in patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. Arch. Neurol. 60, 1089–1094.
- Svendsen, K.B., Jensen, T.S., Hansen, H.J., Bach, F.W., 2005. Sensory function and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis and pain. Pain 114, 473–481.
- Tao, Y.X., Gu, J., Stephens Jr., R.L., 2005. Role of spinal cord glutamate transporter during normal sensory transmission and pathological pain states. Mol. Pain 1, 30.
- Vercellino, M., Merola, A., Piacentino, C., Votta, B., Capello, E., Mancardi, G.L., Mutani, R., Giordana, M.T., Cavalla, P., 2007. Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 66, 732–739.
- Wang, T., Nagai, H., Bouda, K., Matsuura, S., Takaoka, Y., Niwa, S., Homma, T., Tanaka, H., Shudo, K., 2000. Effect of selective IL-6 inhibitor Am-80 on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in DA rats. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 21, 967–976.
- Ziehn, M.O., Avedisian, A.A., Tiwari-Woodruff, S., Voskuhl, R.R., 2010. Hippocampal CA1 atrophy and synaptic loss during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EAE. Lab. Invest. 90, 774–786.
- Zou, X., Lin, Q., Willis, W.D., 2000. Enhanced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor 1 subunits in spinal cord dorsal horn and spinothalamic tract neurons after intradermal injection of capsaicin in rats. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 20, 6989–6997.